
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD ONLINE VIA ZOOM 

 
ON WEDNESDAY 18 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 2.30 PM 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

WEDNESDAY 18 NOVEMBER 2020
  PAGE 
 
1   To it, Not Through It:  An Inchicore Mobility Plan Presentation by Lauren 

Tuite   
 

 

2   Minutes of Meeting held on 21st October 2020   
 

5 - 46 

3   Questions to the Director of Services South City   
 

47 - 52 

4   Environment and Transportation Matters 
1. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group held on the 30/10/2020 in 

relation to Traffic Matters in the South Central Area. 
2. Traffic Service Requests Status Reports at 15/10/20 and 28/10/20. 

 

53 - 68 

5   South Central Area Matters 
1. Presentation on Regeneration of Oliver Bond House. 
2. Halloween 2020 Report South Central Area 
3. Naming & Numbering Proposal for a new development at 110 – 111 

Cork Street. 
4. Director of Services Report. 

 

69 - 72 

6   Culture, Recreation & Economic Matters 
1.  Sports and Recreation Report for November 2020 – South Central 

Area. 

73 - 80 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

 
7   Planning & Property Development Matters 

1.    Initiation of the Statutory Process for the Proposed Addition of No. 31 
Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8, in accordance with Section 54 and 55 of 
the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as amended), to Dublin 
City Council’s Record of Protected Structures.  

 

81 - 94 

8   Emergency Motions   
 

 

9   November 2020 Motions 
 

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

18th November 2020 
 
M.66 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

This Area Committee agrees that the Iveagh Markets will not be used as a hotel, 
student accommodation or a co-living accommodation scheme and calls on the 
Council to do everything in its power to prevent this happening. This iconic 
building was once a hub of community activity and commerce. Its history is 
dynamic and rich as is being evidenced through the oral history project with the 
Folklore society in UCD. We are witnessing the destruction of the Liberties 
through the wrecking ball of transient and gated accommodation that is springing 
up everywhere. The fabric of the inner city neighbourhood is being rapidly eroded. 
Preserving a building like the Iveagh markets for civic and community use must be 
a priority for us. 
 

M.67 Councillor Maire Devine 
That this Area Committee agree to establish a “conservation plan“ for the 3 
adjoining sites that are Brú Chaoimhín, Quakers Cemetery and The James Weir 
Home For Nurses. 

 
M.68  Councillor Daithí Doolan 

This Area Committee would like to express deepest thanks to all the services 
including Dublin City Council, Gardaí, Dublin Fire Brigade, ambulance service and 
youth services for their hard work over the Halloween season. They ensured 
communities had a happy and safe weekend. 
 

M.69 Councillor Hazel de Nortúin 

This Area Committee supports those who suffered unnecessarily at the 
hands of the Mother and Baby Homes. We support their call for 
transparency when seeking information on their time spent in these 
institutions. 

 
M.70 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

This Area Committee sends a message of solidarity and support to Polish 
women living in our community and to their friends and family back home 
involved in the struggle for women's reproductive rights. 
 

M.71 Councillor Maire Devine 
Under Section 205 of the Planning and Development Act 2000, that this Area 
Committee agrees, forthwith, to seek a Tree Preservation Order for the trees at 
the Brú Chaoimhín Campus in Cork Street, Dublin 8. 

 
M.72 Councillor Maire Devine 

This Area Committee supports residents whose streets, homes and wellbeing 
have been significantly discommoded by the construction of National Children’s 
Hospital- A National Infrastructure Project. Furthermore, we call on BAM to 
manage the traffic in the areas surrounding the site and urgently provide 
alternative arrangements for the worker’s car parking. We request that DCC grant 
“derogation” from the parking bye-laws that prioritises residents parking to allow 

 



 

safe access and egress for the time of the construction. 

 
 
Mary Taylor 
Director of Services South City 
 
11th November 2020 
 





To It, Not Through It: 
A Covid Mobility Plan 
for Inchicore
SCAC Presentation 18/11/2020
Lauren Tuite
Inchicore Resident : Woodfield Residents Group
D8 Development
Irish Pedestrian Network
Lauren@Tuite.Family

P
age 5



Three Ideas

● Move People Not 
Cars 

● Child Friendly Cities 
are Liveable Cities

● Make it Beautiful

P
age 6



Mobility Plan Inspiration

● Three months into Lockdown
● No childcare, left workforce
● Partner WFH
● Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 

County Council starts to 
implement the Design Manual 
for Urban Road and Streets 
(mandatory since 2013)

P
age 7



P
age 8



P
age 9



P
age 10



Covid Mobility Plan: The Pitch July 2020

P
age 11

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W1mPCMsjZ0o&t=42


Community Response

On behalf of the Inchicore Environmental group we would welcome this ambitious imaginative plan for Inchicore. 
Put simply, Inchicore village needs a complete change in mindset about what a village should be. It doesn't 
have a square inch of public space, it is littered with shuttered businesses and it is noisy.  Yet it is closer to the city 
centre than Glasnevin, Dartry. It has a young, diverse, energetic population who are just itching to support local. It 
is near parks, a library, GAA clubs, soccer clubs, museums. So what's wrong? It's the traffic. A regular snarl of 
everything up to HGV. All crammed into 100 year old routes with barely a wheelchair width of pavement in 
some places. This proposal is part of the solution. We don't expect that all people will agree with all points but 
we have to start thinking outside of tweaks and adjustments. A re-imagining is required. This plan is part of that. 
We urge that you please give it serious consideration if you think the goal of a local authority is to provide 
a liveable city for its citizens and not just a route from one motorway to another.”

— Inchicore Environmental Group

P
age 12



Community Response

 “I support this initiative completely.  We encourage the children to cycle, scoot and walk to school 
here in SMGS and will continue to do so.  This plan will make it much safer for everybody. “

— Principal Mary O’Mahony, Scoil Mhuire Gan Smal

“The proposal is going to transform village life in Inchicore. It will help businesses to survive and thrive 
with outdoor seating and families feeling safe as road users. I have two babies and welcome this proposal 
wholeheartedly, our village is currently too car-centric for its size—a focus shifting to our activities within 

the village is a must. I believe that having residents and families feel at ease in the village will 
increase their time and visibility in it and this will in turn result in a reduction of anti-social 

behaviour that is rife in the area. There are other route options for cars like has been achieved in Dun 
Laoghaire and many other urban areas during the Covid crisis.”

— Resident, Liffey Street South

For more visit d8development.org/covid

P
age 13

https://d8development.org/covid


Dublin City Council 

P
age 14



P
age 15



P
age 16



P
age 17



What have DCC done in Inchicore?

To date...

P
age 18



DCC’s intervention to date:

P
age 19



BLACKROCK

P
age 20



BLACKROCK

P
age 21



P
age 22



What I’ve learned since July

● No measures were implemented until October
● Some businesses closed down permanently (T. Kinsella’s, The Pearl)
● Huge appetite for change demonstrated by residents, businesses, community 

organisations
● The significant developments planned for Inchicore (St Michael’s estate, Royal Liver 

Site, new developments in Bluebell) demand a complete overhaul of our roads and 
public space.

● The Covid Mobility Plan, designed to be implemented cheaply and quickly, does 
not go far enough to cater to the current or future population 

P
age 23



Revised Proposal

● Implement network of double wide cycle lanes connecting Black 
Horse area to South Circular Road

● Link into Cllr Michael Pidgeon’s proposal to connect Phoenix Park 
and Grand Canal

● Trial closure of through traffic alongside the Dublin Car Free Days 
proposed by the Lord Mayor

● Trial, Measure, Repeat! 

P
age 24

http://pidgeon.ie/idea-a-phoenix-park-to-grand-canal-cycle-path/


P
age 25



P
age 26



P
age 27



INCHICORE ROAD

● Repaved and bollards added in July 
Stimulus package

● Problems: disconnected from a 
network of cycle lanes and 
unsuitable for most cyclists due to 
crossover with general traffic

P
age 28



P
age 29



P
age 30



P
age 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



P
age 34



P
age 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



Keep in Touch!

● Twitter: @lauren_tuite

● Instagram: @loveInchicore

● Website: 
www.d8development.org

● Email: Lauren@Tuite.Family

● Medium

P
age 44

http://www.d8development.org/covid
https://medium.com/@d8community/why-liveable-cities-are-kid-friendly-cities-281c91f6a95e?source=social.tw


1 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 21 OCTOBER 2020 

 
ZOOM ONLINE MEETING 

 

 
 
1   Minutes of Meeting held on 16th September 2020  

Order: Agreed.   
 

 

2   Questions to the Director of Services South City 
Order: Replies to Questions circulated. 

 

 

3   Environment and Transportation Matters 
1. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group held on the 7/10/20 in relation to 

Traffic Matters in the South Central Area.  
2. Traffic Service Request Status Report at 15/9/20 and 5/10/20.  

Order:  1. Report noted.    
           2. Report noted. 

 

 

4   South Central Area Matters 
1. Part VIII Planning Application for retention of the existing use of the 

former Parish Centre, 12-14 Carman’s Hall, Dublin 8. 
2. Update report on St. James Linear Park. 
3. Report on Public Domain and Community Initiatives for the 

Halloween period in South Central Area. 
4. Nomination of one member to the South Inner City Drugs & Alcohol 

Task Force. 
5. Nomination of one member to St. Teresa’s Gardens Regeneration 

Board 
6. Nomination of one member to Dolphin House Regeneration Board 
7. Nomination of one member to the Inchicore Regeneration 

Consultative Forum 
8. Nomination of one member to The F2 Centre and Enterprise Board 
9. Nomination of one member to the New Children’s Hospital  

Residents Project Monitoring Committee. 
10. Nomination of one member to the Commemorations and Naming 

Committee 
11. Director of Service’s  Report. 

  Order:           1.  Deferred to November Meeting 

2.  Report noted.  
3.  Report noted 
4.  Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 
5.  Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 
6.  Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 
7.  Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 

 

Page 45



2 
 

8. Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 
9. Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 
10. Councillor Maire Devine was nominated 
11. Report noted (see attachment) 

 
5   Culture, Recreation & Economic Matters 

1. Sports and Recreation report for October 2020 
      Order:  1. Report noted.    
 

 

6   Planning & Property Development Matters 
1.  Proposed disposal of fee simple interest in a site at the former St. Michael’s 

Estate, Inchicore, Dublin 8. 
2.   Proposed disposal of a fee simple interest in a site at 51a Old Kilmainham, 

Dublin 8. 
Order:      1. Agreed. Recommend to Council 

     2.   Agreed. Recommend to Council 
 

 

7   Emergency Motions 
That this Area Committee agrees that the introduction of paid parking on the road 
outside Hybreasal on the South Circular Road be paused, to allow for consultation 
and compromise with affected residents. The Committee asks that parking 
permits be offered to Hybreasal Residents to resolve this legacy issue equitably. 
Cllrs Tina MacVeigh, Darragh Moriarty, Michael Pidgeon, Maire Devine, 
Michael Watters 
            Order:    Motion agreed 
 

 

8   October 2020 Motions 
 

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

21st October 2020 
 

M.58 Councillor Hazel de Nortúin 
Given that: 
- to date there is no progression on the development of the Grand Canal 
cycle path program between Portobello and Bluebell and; 
- due to the ongoing public health crisis people are being encouraged to 
walk and cycle to school/work rather than use public transport and; 
- there has been calls from residents and public representatives alike for 
the installation of safe pedestrian crossings at Herberton and Suir road 
bridges for the past six years at least 
 
The South West Inner City and South East Area Committees agree that, 
as a matter of urgency, pedestrian crossings will be installed at these 
locations by Dublin City Council as part of the Covid-19 roads and traffic 
works being carried out to facilitate social distancing and public health and 
safety during the pandemic. 
Order: Agreed. 
 

M.59  Councillor Maire Devine 

That this Area Committee acknowledges the 2020 Year of the Nurse and 
Midwife, as designated by WHO and erect a Míle Buíochas on billboards 
adjacent to the largest hospital, St James’s and other suitable healthcare 
sites in the South Central Area. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 

 
M.60 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

In order to deal with the perpetual problem of litter caused by illegal 

 

Page 46



3 
 

dumping and bin bags being left out too soon before collection, this Area 
Committee agrees to: 

 Initiate an initiative to crack down on illegal dumping and 
premature placing of bins in the area of the Liberties that use 
bagged waste collection service  

 Issue a communication to residents to inform them of same, the 
responsibilities of residents in regard to the timely placing of waste 
for collection, the responsibilities of waste management companies 
as to the collection of waste  

 Enforcement of penalties for bagged waste left out prematurely or 
waste not collected as scheduled by waste management 
companies. 

Order: Report to Councillor. 
 

M.61 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

That the Area Committee congratulates the Bluebell Environmental Group 
for the immense work they have done in collecting rubbish and removing 
weeds in Bluebell and that Dublin City Council will work with them to 
continue improving the quality fo life for Bluebell residents. 
Order: Agreed. 
 

M. 62   Councillor Hazel De Nortúin 

This Area Committee supports the recent established group Ballyfermot 
Anti-Racism Network. This group aims to make Ballyfermot an inclusive 
and diverse welcoming area to those living and moving into the area. 
Order: Agreed. 
 

M.63  Councillor Maire Devine 
That this Area Committee agree that the works due to take place at the 40 Steps 
would include the steps being used to highlight historical events/dates.  The steps 
link 2 areas of great historical significance and the steps would be an ideal way to 
highlight this. 

Order: Report to Councillor. 
 

M.64  Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
A group of residents who live in the environ of the Pimlico Green have, in 
response to escalating levels of noise, disturbance emanating from 
fireworks, bangers, fires lit and damage to the public domain, come 
together to develop a series of proposals to the local authority. In light of 
this, this Area Committee agrees to a special meeting to be held with said 
Pimlico Residents, public representatives and the Area Office so as to 
discuss their ideas, with a view to collaborative and community led 
solutions to this problem, which is seriously impinging on the right of 
residents to the enjoyment of their home and is causing 
colossal disturbance and damage in the community realm. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 

 
M.65 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

This Area Committee condemns in the strongest possible terms the recent 
outdoor party held in Oliver Bond House. It was wrong and should not 
have happened. Those involved in its organisation should face the full 
rigours of the law. 
We welcome the announcement by An Taoiseach that funding will be 
made available to fund a regeneration plan for Oliver Bond House. 
This regeneration must be focused on meeting the long term needs of 
residents with a programme of full consultation taking place with residents, 
youth services and community groups before any plan is agreed. 
Order: Report to Councillor.  Agreed to write to An Taoiseach. 

Page 47



4 
 

 
 

 
Councillor Vincent Jackson 
Chairperson 
Wednesday 21 October 2020 
 
 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 
Vincent Jackson (Chairperson)   
Darragh Moriarty Maire Devine Sophie Nicoullaud 
Michael Pidgeon (Vice Chair) Michael Watters Hazel de Nortúin 
Tina MacVeigh Daithi De Roiste Daithí Doolan 
 
Officers   
Mary Taylor, Director of Services South City; 
Bruce Phillips, Local Area Manager, South West Inner City; 
Kay Noonan Cork, Acting Local Area Manager, Ballyfermot / Drimnagh; 
Cora Roche, Staff Officer, South Central Area; 
Karen Clarke, Staff Officer, South Central Area; 
Neil O’Donoghue, Executive ITS Officer, Roads & Traffic 
Niall O’Neill, Area Engineer, Roads & Traffic 
 

  

 
   
 

Page 48



1 
 

 

Director of Services Report 

South Central Area Committee Meeting  

21st October 2020 

 
SOUTH WEST INNER CITY ELECTORAL AREA   
 
South West Inner City Area Report 
 
 
Francis Street Environmental Improvement Scheme  
Contractors for Dublin City Council, KN Networks, are currently mobilising to site for a 
planned 10-month programme of public realm works at Francis Street. The programme will 
take place in stages with traffic management in operation for the duration of the works. 
Ongoing communication with businesses and residents will be provided by KN Networks. 
 
Meath Street and Environs Public Realm Improvement Project  
A design team led by SCAO, Roads Design and Construction and lead design Haslem & Co 
Architects is currently undertaking preliminary design work on planned public realm 
improvements for Meath Street. The aim is to bring a proposal to the Council for 
consideration under Part 8 in Q1 of 2021.  
 
Bridgefoot Street Park   
Construction work continues until the end of 2020. A call for tenders to undertake 
landscaping work to the central median on Bridgefoot Street is currently underway. It is 
proposed to complete this work in early 2020. 
 
Oisin Kelly Park/ Basin Lane 
The Area Office is working with the local parks team to undertake tree maintenance, 
landscaping works and boundary improvements to this amenity area. Work will continue into 
2021. 
 
St James’s Walk Linear Park  
A first tranche of work to landscape the section of the linear park at MISA entrance/ Fatima 
Luas stop will begin shortly. The works are part of a longer term plan to develop the linear 
park from Basin Lane to Suir Road Bridge.  
 
School Zone  
Following on from John Dillon Street, a second school zone has been completed at Basin 
Lane in the vicinity of schools. The zone features markings and bollards that aim to deter 
vehicle parking and drop off congestion at the school entrance. 
 
Housing Updates SWIC. 
 
Bonham St .Dublin 8. Volumetric Build 

57 
26 x 1 bed 
26 x 2 bed 
5 x 3 bed 
 
 

On site Completion of scheme Q3 2021 

 
DCC have designated a community liaison (Mark McInerney) to engage with residents 
regarding their concerns. 
Mark can be contacted on 087-7371254 mark.mcinerney@dublincity.ie  
 
 

Page 5Page 49

mailto:mark.mcinerney@dublincity.ie


2 
 

Cork Street/ Weaver Street.  Volumetric Build 

55 
32 x 1 bed 
10 x 2 bed 
13 x 3 bed 

On site Completion of scheme Q1 2022 

 
DCC have designated a community liaison (Veronica Hand) to engage with residents 
regarding their concerns. Veronica can be contacted on 087-0997512 
veronica.hand@dublincity.ie  
 
Margaret Kennedy Square, Dublin 8. 

54 
8 x 1 bed 
18 x 2 bed 
28 x 3 bed 

On site Completion of scheme Q1 2021 

 
St Michael’s Estate Emmet Road Dublin 8 
Public consultations ongoing. 
 
Tyrone Place D8. Regeneration 
Study underway. Report due for completion. 
 
Liberties Cluster Dublin 8 
Study underway. 
 
Oliver Bond Regeneration 
Dublin City Council met with the Robert Emmet CDP on Friday 9th October 2020 to finalise 
the next round of consultations with the residents of Oliver Bond.  These consultations will 
include the short and long term proposals regarding the future regeneration of Oliver Bond. 
All tenants and key stakeholders will have an input into this plan. The Robert Emmet CDP in 
conjunction with the Oliver Bond residents group will facilitate this process starting on 
Monday 12th October 2020. This will take about two months to complete and once DCC have 
an agreement on the masterplan. DCC will present this to the Dept. to seek funding. 
 
Dolphin House Regeneration Masterplan Dublin 8 
One consultation meeting has taken place with DCC and Dolphin House Regeneration 
Board regarding agreement for a Dolphin House Masterplan.  
Status: Ongoing 
 
 
Kilmainham Mill 
A construction team to carry out the enabling works for the mill has been appointed. 
Following a “cooling off” period, a meeting will be held between DCC and the contractor to 
agree a start date. Some basic works have been completed in order to assist with the 
construction process. Thorntons have completed a series of structural surveys on 
neighbouring properties. MCD Landscaping have also commenced some basic site (scrub) 
clearance of the mill race to allow for ease of access for workers on health and safety 
grounds.  
 
Newcomen Bank Building 
Five tender submissions were received for the appointment of a Conservation Architect Led, 
Multi-Disciplinary Design team to commence work on the building. A team from DCC 
evaluated the submissions on the 15th October and a team will be appointed in due course 
following the completion of the relevant processes.  
 
 
 

Page 6Page 50

mailto:veronica.hand@dublincity.ie


3 
 

Community 
 
The theme of The Liberties Haunt 2020 Festival is STAY HOME, STAY SAFE, THIS 
HALLOWEEN  All are welcome to tune in to www.thelibertieshaunt.com  on Saturday 31st 
October from 5.30 – 8.30pm. 
  
Viewers will be treated to a variety of performances by local and professional dancers, 
singers, storytelling, comedy workshops and mask challenge the much acclaimed Theatre 
on Your Doorstep performers of My First Holy Covid to name but a few. Workshops, 
recording, and filming will be taking place in Smock Alley prior to the big event. 
 
Local communities will be invited to decorate their windows, balconies, front doors for a best 
dressed/decorated window. 
 
Activity packs containing quizzes, puzzles and colouring pages will be available online to 
download.  A limited number of hard copies will also be available to the local communities, 
through their community contact. 
  
A number of schools have been invited to participate in a mask challenge by accepting an 
activity pack with directions and materials to decorate each mask. 
 
All participants are invited to upload to the Liberties Haunt website. 
 
Follow the links below for regular updates  
  
THE LIBERTIES HAUNT Instagram trailer 
https://www.instagram.com/p/CGINjwjHZYt/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link   
          
THE LIBERTIES HAUNT Youtube trailer 
https://youtu.be/rTAIX9wXvmM 
           
THE LIBERTIES HAUNT website 
https://thelibertieshaunt.com/ 
        
THE LIBERTIES HAUNT Facebook event Page 
https://fb.me/e/70axerDz1 
 
This event is a collaborated project involving many community representatives from Michael 
Mallin House, Oliver Bond House, Robert Emmet Close/Walk, Basin Lane, Maryland, 
Pimlico, along with  local community Groups S.W.I.C.N, SICCDA, RECDP, Solas Project, 
Liberties Training Centre, Digital Hub, Joined Up, & Happenings Event Companies and 
Dublin City Council’s Community  & Social Development team. 
 
Environmental Enhancement Projects 
 
Rialto Cottages 
In recent weeks, the residents from Rialto Cottages and Dublin City Council have come 
together in an effort to enhance the appearance of their streetscape environmentally. 
Perimeter walls have been painted, fences have been stained and varnished, beautiful 
raised beds have been installed and planted  in line with Dublin City Council's urban 
biodiversity plan. In addition to beneficial pollinator loving plants, there has also been a 
concerted effort to include plants of a culinary nature including rosemary, sage, thyme and 
mint. Residents are so thrilled with the improvements, they have gone so far as to organise a 
collection to purchase street furniture including tables, benches and attractive plant 
containers. Local neighbours and friends have also donated various plants and shrubs.  
In the coming weeks, additional planters will be installed at the entrance to the street.  
This project was a joint collaboration between Rialto Street residents, led by Dublin City 
Council’s Community & Social Development Section, Housing Maintenance , Civic 

Page 7Page 51

https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=YiAhVI1mIs0dPjn5o-JEolGRRzO3hSiz-Ke-wqgdKjjxLy7rjG_YCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.thelibertieshaunt.com
https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=08p_HtMoANRXE9Ri2Mh2GgIrdHOQMwxkyBlgp70HIZbxLy7rjG_YCA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3djYKE36g_j8RQf99aDQ_caP7UEDWph3u4gbUY6n7Yog%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttps%253a%252f%252fwww%252einstagram%252ecom%252fp%252fCGINjwjHZYt%252f%253futm%255fsource%253dig%255fweb%255fcopy%255flink
https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=H7fdfBX2aMoJU5EF6_S419gVd_VFPZauZFuppUTI_2PxLy7rjG_YCA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3djYKE36g_j8RQf99aDQ_caP7UEDWph3u4geAbvCeI_Q%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttps%253a%252f%252fyoutu%252ebe%252frTAIX9wXvmM
https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=49C7IkHCgLDkBfafabswZTLiqhCMmXgO0M_BwhGTsKrxLy7rjG_YCA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3djYKE36g_j8RQf99aDQ_caP7UEDWph3u4geEeuXvbow%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttps%253a%252f%252fthelibertieshaunt%252ecom%252f
https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=ayA6R_ANSGYr0jMagsYOBWOGy89ctAhVBkH2uBRGc9TxLy7rjG_YCA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3djYKE36g_j8RQf99aDQ_caP7UEDWph3u4gbYauyyK_w%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttps%253a%252f%252ffb%252eme%252fe%252f70axerDz1


4 
 

Maintenance, local Parks & Landscapes depot and Public Domain. In the coming weeks 
additional planters will be installed at the entrance to the street. 
 
Autumn Bulbs SWIC 
Local communities who have been working to enhance their areas, particularly during the 
Covid-19 lockdown, will be preparing their respective areas for some autumnal planting.  
Deliveries will be taking place before Halloween.  All deliveries and planting will be in line 
with all Covid-19 safety protocol. 
 
St James’s CBS Parents, community and environment group 16 October 2020 
“Walk a mile to make you smile” 162 students took part in a Covid-19 compliant event aimed 
at physical and mental health wellbeing. This event also raised funds for the new community 
group we have set up and their first goal to create a serenity/outdoor garden community 
space. With the help of Public Domain, we have helped clear out the existing overgrown 
space and readied it for planting and painting. We will deliver bulbs, winter planting and 
perennials in the next week and begin the process. 
 
Clanbrassil Close Environment project and residents Group,  
Spring Bulb and Winter Planting 26 October 2020 
We will have series of planting days in the month of October for the residents to enhance the 
Close and provide colour in the spring. Socially distancing protocols will be adhered to at all 
times. 
 
South Inner City Drugs and Alcohol Task Force Community Dialogues   
The first of the SICDATF meetings via zoom, to address community engagement and 
collaboration around the issues with drugs and alcohol locally will take place on Monday 19th 
October.  A member of the Community Development team will be part of the process going 
forward representing Dublin City Council in the SWIC area. 
 
Robinsons Court Environment Renewal Project  
An environment project began in conjunction with the residents with the replacement of 
flower boxes and painting and refiling of older ones. When restrictions are lifted, it is hoped 
to begin a small gardening group with the residents to maintain them. 
 
Dolphin House 
Halloween Hampers 30th October 2020 
With funding from the Social Regeneration Fund, Dolphin House community development 
project will provide 95 Halloween Hampers to families in the complex filled with food and 
activities for the children.  
 
Dolphin Homework Club:  
A series of socially distanced and safe activities such as Arts and Crafts will be held in the 
marquee for children and young people to attend. Supported by the Social Regeneration 
Fund. 
 
 
Public Domain  
 
The Dog Warden Service was contracted to conduct patrols in the Pimlico Area, Oscar 
Square, Weaver Park, Marrowbone, Taylor’s lane and general environs on Saturday 16th, 
22nd and 30th of August.   
 
Environmental Initiatives with Community Development and Housing took place at Emmet 
Crescent, Rialto Cottages, Clanbrassil Close, Flanagan’s Fields and Gray Street Residents 
with Public Domain providing funding and assistance. 
 
The City Neighbourhood Awards Local area Competition had applications from 34 
groups/individuals/ social enterprises. The Winners will be circulated after the Area 

Page 8Page 52



5 
 

Committee meeting, see attached document. There were entries in 15 Categories, 19 entries 
from the SWIC and 13 from Ballyfermot/Drimnagh.  The Litter Management Office donated 
€12,000 for prizes and One 4 All Vouchers have been purchased for groups to use across a 
wide variety of retail sectors. Certificates and vouchers will be made available to all 
successful applicants. SWIC has 11 winners and all applicants will receive a voucher. 
 
The Weed Treatment Programme is progressing well and operatives are working in 
Inchicore currently.  
 
A Free Electrical Recycling Day is arranged for Marrowbone Lane on Monday 19th October.   
 
The Halloween campaign is well underway with citywide interdepartmental and local area 
meetings taking place regularly to ensure all supports are in place and communicated 
widely. Contact information and operational hours are broadly the same as 2019. City Wide 
contact information has been posted. The South Central and South East areas will be 
working together to ensure an environmentally safe Halloween. 
 
 
Kilmainham Inchicore Network 
 
Inchicore Food Bank were runners up for the Bank of Ireland Bring Together Awards 2020.  
This interagency initiative (Kilmainham Inchicore Network, Dublin South City Partnership, St 
Pat’s FC, Frontline MC) ran throughout the first 4 phases of Covid, distributing over 1000 
food parcels to vulnerable families in the Inchicore area. This initiative made it to the final 20 
entries from over 300 applicants nationwide; well done to our category winners in Tramore. 
 
Inchicore Regeneration Consultative Forum 
 
Public Consultation Process.  Phase 1 of the Public Consultation Process is ongoing.  IRCF 
administration are now in charge of the consultation process, liaising directly with Bucholz 
McEvoy Architects and Connect the dots (facilitators for events). 
 
Phase 1 Consultation Process has included: 
 
-Posters erected outside and flyers in local shops and businesses directing people to the 
various ways that they can contribute to the survey. 
-Leaflet drop to 8000 homes informing them of the proposed development and asking for 
their thoughts through completing the survey. 
-The online survey:  https://surveys.connectthedots.ie/emmet-road/ 
-Hard copies of the survey available for collection from Inchicore Library (moved to 
Richmond Barracks). 
-A phone line service open during business hours for people to do the survey over the 
phone. 
-Hard copies dropped to 4 local schools in the area for completion by pupils. 
 
The deadline for survey responses is extended until close of business on 6th November 
2020.   
Please can you share the survey https://surveys.connectthedots.ie/emmet-road/ 
 
Phase 1 continues: 
-Extended deadline of the current survey until 6th November 2020 
-Expanded reach of hard copies of survey to those in the community for whom online 
completion is not a preferred option.  This will include to the elderly - Bulfin Court, Bulfin 
Ladies Club, Alone etc.; Other pick up/drop off points in the community – hairdressers, 
butchers, shops etc...; Resident’s Associations – for distribution to their residents;  
-Further media push for online survey completion 
-Workshops:  BMCEA will host workshops with schools/youths in the area, following Covid-
19 restrictions to capture their ideas of about the future development. 

Page 9Page 53

https://surveys.connectthedots.ie/emmet-road/
https://surveys.connectthedots.ie/emmet-road/


6 
 

Exhibition 
Outdoor exhibition on the 10 acres site will commence on the weekend of 21st /22nd 
November.  This exhibition will visually explain the design thought process and key design 
themes. 
 
Overall timeline DCC Emmet Road Development 
The high level project milestones of the design process with estimated timing. 
Feasibility Stage (Investigating and evaluating the potential of the site - High-level 
information gathering and research. Review of policy and documentation and assessing 
overall site constraints and opportunities): 
● Phase 1 Consultation – as described above 
● Design Team Feasibility Report  

 Design Development Planning Application (Translating the design of the project from 
a realm of ideas into a physical form) 

 There will be at least 3 more Public Consultation Engagement opportunities (dates 
approximate):  

 Phase 2 Public Consultation: Initial design layouts - December 2020  

 Phase 3 Public Consultation: More detailed drawings  - late January 2021  

 Phase 4 Public Consultation: Graphic visualisations and in depth designs ready for 
An Bord Pleanala - late February 2021 

 Lodge Planning application to An Bord Pleanala - April 2021 
 
Report from: - 
 
Bruce Phillips,  
Senior Executive Officer 
South West Inner City Local Electoral Area.  
 
 
BALLYFERMOT/DRIMNAGH ELECTORAL AREA 
 
HOUSING PROJECTS 
 
Chapelizod/Springvale Site  
Work on the site is progressing well with roofing and windows being installed in some blocks 
by October.  Expected completion date is Q4 2021. 
 
3.8 Acre Site at Sarsfield Road 
Next meeting of the Sarsfield working group scheduled for Thursday 15th October. An update 
on Stage 1 application from DCC to Dept. Housing Local Government & Heritage will be given 
by City Architects, a review of community infrastructure in Ballyfermot and community services 
to take place at 3.8 acre site will be discussed along with consideration of a public art project 
(s) for 3.8 acre site.  
 
OLV site on Sarsfield Road  
Site investigations have commenced on site on 20th May 2020. The proposal is for six units to 
be provided by Approved Housing Body Respond with an approximate completion date of Q2 
2021. 
 
Cornamona Site  
Work continuing on site although at decreased capacity. The expected completion date is Q2 
2022. 
 
Crumlin Road/Rafters Lane Site  
The demolition and site clearance planning process is ongoing. Part 8 is to be advertised soon 
and will be available for inspection, by appointment, in Crumlin and Ballyfermot Area offices. 
 

Page 10Page 54



7 
 

 
 
Bluebell 
An on-site investigation of the Old Irish Water Site by the archaeology consultant was 
delayed by administrative issues, but is due to take place in the coming weeks. Funding for 
the restoration of the CCTV along the canal has been secured from the NTA and work has 
begun, it should be completed in approximately 3 weeks. Waterways Ireland has removed 
the ‘kissing gate’ at DCC’s request to help tackle a recent increase of bike theft at that 
location.   
 
Lissadell Maisonettes 
Refurbishment has begun on the vacant maisonettes at Lissadell. Work is being carried out 
in conjunction with the Public Domain Unit and Housing Maintenance to tackle illegal 
dumping and improve the aesthetics of the area.  
 
Cherry Orchard Green 
A fence has been erected around the swale at Elmdale in order to secure it. Landscaping 
works have commenced in order to dissuade illegal dumping and anti-social behavior in the 
area. Consultation is ongoing with residents regarding a collaborative approach to 
maintaining the area.  
 
Skate Park Le Fanu Road 
Parks Services have inspected the playground and have costed the installation of a fence. 
Consideration is being given to the appropriate location of the fence within the Park at 
present. The Skate Park and playground continue to attract a high number of users and the 
youth services have been supportive in running programmes and events.  
 
Kylemore Park 
The contractors have not been able to commence the upgrade of the Park due to Covid 19 
restrictions with travel. The residents have been updated and will be contacted immediately 
when a date is agreed. 
 
Ballyfermot Civic Park 
Good feedback waas received from residents in relation to the proposed People’s Park. 
Costings are being finalised at present. The selection panel has met to discuss the 
applications for the installation of a sculpture in the park. The applications have been 
reduced to four possible candidates and these applications were discussed at a residents 
meeting on 7th October. A further meeting of the selectin panel was due to take place on 14th 
October. Discussions are taking place with Civic Centre manager regarding combined 
monitoring of CCTV from the building.  
  
Community  
The Launch of Ballyfermot Understanding Dementia (BUD) was deferred. The Council with 
Ballyfermot Family Resource Centre, Ballyfermot Civic Centre and The Bungalow are 
initiating Dementia Awareness Training with staff and volunteers from these groups. The 
training will commence on line in early November. The group hope to establish dementia 
friendly spaces in the resource centre, the Bungalow and the Civic centre and to provide 
support for family members and carers. 
 
The National Office for Suicide Prevention (NOSP) report “Rapid Assessment and 
Community response to suicide and suspected suicide in Dublin South” will be launched on 
October 21st . This report makes recommendations for the area based on their examination 
of the cluster of suicides in 2019. A local implementation group to examine and implement 
the recommendations has been established called SPACE (suicide prevention and 
community engagement ). The Council will support Ballyfermot Star and SPACE to deal with 
the recommendations of the report. 
 
 

Page 11Page 55



8 
 

Winter Community Newsletter  
The Council is working on an information brochure to circulate to residents who may be 
house bound or not in a position to be out and about and do not have internet access. The 
brochure will be packed with information on local services, cold weather safety tips and 
ideas to keep them occupied. The Council is working with the Family Resource centres to 
set up local lending hubs for books, jigsaws and even a community knitting project. The 
hope is that local clubs and resident groups will assist with the distribution of books, 
crosswords, jigsaws on a regular basis as they are best placed to identify residents that 
might benefit from the information. The Ballyfermot and Walkinstown Library will include  
information on borrow box and how to sign up as a member of the library.  
 
Environmental Projects 
The Following Environmental Projects have been identified by local groups with funding from 
the 2020 Discretionary Budget. 
 
Tidy Drimnagh supported by Parks Department have identified Mourne Road roundabout as 
a location for a wild flower display. The roundabout will be transformed from spring to 
autumn with an abundance of wild flowers and bulbs. 
 
Chapelizod Tidy Towns plan to repair the plastering on the exterior of Bandroom Community 
Hall and to undertake a redesign of the signage to the Chapelizod Industrial estate, which is 
an eyesore on the main thoroughfare. The committee are also working with Chapelizod 
Anglers to preserve the mill turbine on the millrace at the Island Complex. 
Bluebell Environmental Group have identified a derelict green area and working with Parks 
and the local Youth Service plan to replant and maintain it. 
 
Cherry Orchard Stone Soup Project purchased equipment and plants to enhance their 
garden.  Ballyfermot Environmental Group plan to repair the planters along the Main Road 
and support emerging street Clean up groups with equipment. 
 
Bluebell Allotments 
The Council working with the Bluebell Allotment Committee plan to carry out the following 
works:. to increase light to install roof windows in the storage shed, to install unit dividers in 
the shed so each plot holder has their own designated space and the installation of  an 
additional water tap. There are plans for a beehive, green composter and water 
conservation. The Council has also provided a skip and put a regular waste collecting 
routine in place. 
 
Chapelizod Allotments 
Work on the Chapelizod Allotments is now complete and they will be allocated in the coming 
weeks. The location is beautiful, on the banks of the river, and there is great interest in them. 
Those that held allotments on the Springvale site will be offered a plot first, followed by a 
lottery of local people, those living in apartments and on the waiting list. There are 41 plots 
on the site. The Council will work with the plot holders to set up a committee in the New 
Year. 
 
Halloween 2020 
The City Council would like to acknowledge the great input and creativity of the following 
Youth and Community Groups to plan events for Halloween:  
Ballyfermot Youth Service and Candle Community Trust. 
Familibase and Cherry Orchard Integrated Youth Service 
Drimnagh Residents Community Group and Tidy Drimnagh 
Bluebell Youth Project 
Saint John Bosco Youth Club and Sing Act Dance Group 
 
The Community Development staff contact details for Ballyfermot /Drimnagh area are: 
 
Scott.watson@dublincity.ie     087 1643170  

Page 12Page 56

mailto:Scott.watson@dublincity.ie


9 
 

Victoria.kearney@dublincity.ie    087 6009002 
Miriam.flynn@dublincity.ie     086 8151320 
 
The Orchard Community Centre continues to observe Covd-19 instructions and is adapting to 
current guidelines. Organisations based in the centre have been advised to be Covid-19 
compliant at all times as per national guidelines.  
 
The Sports Hall extension is now completed and official opening of it shall be arranged in 
accordance with protocols at a future date.  
 
The St. Vincent De Paul foodbank continues in the centre and social distancing guidelines 
have been put in place for this.  
 
The Community team in Cherry Orchard have arranged for each child in St. Ultans to receive 
an illuminous school bag tag, branded with DCC logo and a safety message for Halloween.  
 
As we move to a socially distant Halloween 2020, the live firework element for Cherry Orchard 
has been reluctantly cancelled.  
 
Dave O’Donovan and Paul Smyth in Cherry Orchard as part of the wider community team 
continue to monitor the Covid-19 emergency hotline.  
 
Planning for an LED Christmas tree is in final stages for December unveiling.  
 
Public Domain  
The Dog Warden Service has been engaged to Patrol parks and other public areas to address 
Dog fouling and breach of Control of Dogs legislation. Le Fanu Park has been completed with 
other locations to follow over the coming weekends and evenings.  
 
The Anti-Dumping initiative was completed in Cherry Orchard Green and to date Illegal 
dumping has been cleared, the SWALE has been fenced off, landscaping and litter picking 
will continue until Jan 2021. Trees will be planted in November and other landscaping will 
follow. The illegal dumping has greatly reduced.  A clean up along the perimeter of Barnville 
Park development site and along Park West was also completed. A Waste Bye Law 
compliance initiative in response to weekly illegal dumping on Lissadel Road was very 
successful and was followed up with some shrubbery trimming and removal of litter and 
dumped material from the undergrowth in the maisonette gardens greatly improving the area. 
The Housing and Public Domain units are working together on this and a number of initiatives 
that affect the public domain to include Rafters Lane.  
 
The City Neighborhoods’ Competition received applications from 13 groups/individuals in the 
Ballyfermot/Drimnagh Area securing six winning entries. All applicants will receive a 
certificate and a voucher once the results have been posted on social media. See attached 
list. Each Area received funding from the Litter Management Office for €12,000. The 
Ballyfermot Civic Centre hosted a local community free electrical recycling day on Friday 16th 
October. Public Domain are funding a name stone for Camac Park in recognition of the great 
community achievements in Camac Park a subgroup of Bluebell Environmental Group.  
 
Public Domain and Parks Dept. have agreed to share the cost of replacing the Muskerry 
Road name stone that was recently removed as it was beyond repair.  
 
Tidy Drimnagh received planters from Community Development and Public Domain. The 
local community have agreed to maintain these planters. The Halloween Campaign is 
progressing well and all departments and local area offices are working together to provide 
every available resource to remove hoarded bonfire materials from the public spaces.  
 
 
 

Page 13Page 57

mailto:Victoria.kearney@dublincity.ie
mailto:Miriam.flynn@dublincity.ie


10 
 

Report from: - 
 
Kay Noonan,  
Acting Senior Executive Officer 
Ballyfermot/Drimnagh Local Electoral Area. 
 

South Central Area City Neighbourhoods Competition 2020 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Residential 151-300 Maryland Rialto 1st  

   3rd 

    

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Residential 300 plus Chapelizod Tidy  1st  

 The Tenters D8 2nd 

   3rd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Residential Flat/Apt Michael Mallin D8 1st  

 7 Oaks D10 2nd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Senior Citizen 
Complex 

Memorial 
court/Annamore Ct 

Inchicore & 
Ballyfermot 
JOINT 

1st 

 Dolphin House  2nd 

   3rd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Garden 163 Herberton Rd  1st 

 433 Ballyfermot road  2nd 

 161 Herberton Rd  3rd 

 120 Curlew Road   3rd 

  191Cherry orchard 
Green 

 3rd 

 179 Cherry Orchard 
Green 

 3rd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Open Green Space Camac Park 
(bluebell 
Environmental) 

 1st 

 St Laurence’s grove  2nd 

    

 

 

Page 14Page 58



11 
 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Community 
Environment 
Initiative 

Bluebell 
Environmental & 
Inchicore 
Environmental 

JOINT 1st 

 Bridgefoot street 
Youth Group/Robert 
emmet close 

 2nd 

 Cherry orchard 
environmental group 

 3rd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Allotment Ladys Lane Kilmainham 1st 

   2nd 

    

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Community Garden Cherry orchard 
Community Garden 

 1st 

 Cherry Orchard 
Family Resource 
Centre 

 2nd 

    

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Urban Village Rialto Rialto 1st  

 COVA Chapelizod 2nd 

   3rd 

 

Special Categories 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Individual Ken Murphy & Joan 
stapleton (Inchicore) 

Inchicore Env  1st 

   2nd 

   3rd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Best New Entry Clanbrassil close  1st  

 30-45 rialto cottages  2nd 

 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Endeavour Tidy Drimnagh  1st 

   2nd 

   3rd 

 

 

 

Page 15Page 59



12 
 

Business/Social Enterprise Competition 

Category Winner Location Placement 

Business 
environmental 

Stillgarden  1st 

 Frontline Bikes  2nd 

    

 

 
 

Page 16Page 60



13 
 

 

Page 17Page 61



Page 62



  
DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 

SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 
21st October 2020 

 
Q1 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services what steps have been taken by DRHE in relation to 
Carman Hall to begin the process of finding alternative homeless accommodation 
and whether any conversations have begun with the Dioceses in relation to making 
the Hall available again for community use. 
 
Reply 
The Dublin Region Homeless Executive (DRHE) and Dublin City Council (DCC) 
Housing and Community Services has applied for Part 8 planning permission for the 
retention of the existing use of the Carman’s Hall, Dublin 8 as emergency 
accommodation, as necessitated by the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The DRHE are working with the NGO managing this service to relocate from this site 
and we will confirm the closure details when we have an agreement in place with the 
NGO and service users accommodated at these premises. 
 
The Dublin City Council leases Carman’s Hall from the Catholic Archdiocese of 
Dublin and any future use of the building is a decision for the Archdiocese. 

 
Contact: Eileen Gleeson, Director DRHE, Housing Department.  
Tel: 222 5296  
Email: eileen.gleeson@dublincity.ie 

 
Q2 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services that the pavement outside (details supplied) be 
repaired and the overgrown tree roots be addressed as the lifted and broken 
pavement presents a hazard to pedestrians, particularly those with mobility or sight 
limitations. 
 
Reply 
Road Maintenance inspected this location and confirm that the defect has received a 
temporary dressing and is logged on our works list to receive the final permanent 
repair, which will be carried out the next time we have a crew available in the area. 

 
Contact: Carl Ryan-Operations & South Central Area Engineer, Road Maintenance 
Division  

 Tel:  222 8812 
 Email:  roadmaintennace@dublincity.ie  
 
Q3 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services whether (details supplied) is owned by the local 
authority and if so, could we arrange a clean up of the site which has remained 
empty for some time and residents report problems with vermin due to the build up of 
rubbish. If it is not owned by the local authority could the Area Office take steps to 

report it to and follow up with the HSE? 
 
Reply 
(Details supplied) is a private residence.  The Public Domain Officer will investigate 
the ownership of the property and engage with Environmental Health Officers to see 
what steps can be taken to improve the situation. 

Page 63

mailto:eileen.gleeson@dublincity.ie
mailto:roadmaintennace@dublincity.ie


  
Contact: Anna McDermott, Public Domain Officer, South Central Area  

 Tel:  222 5117 
 Email: Anna.mcdermott@dublincity.ie 
 
Q4 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services to ask our Planning Enforcement section for an 
update enforcement procedure initiated on 33-34 Island Street Dublin 8 ref 8194. 
 
Reply 
Planning enforcement do not have a file open on the site in question, however I can 
confirm that Sisk are occupying the site at the corner of Bridgefoot Street and Island 
Street. 

 
Due to Covid-19 Sisk’s were required to provide additional ancillary accommodation 
to assist with the implementation of social distancing i.e. Canteens, Offices, Meeting 
Rooms etc. and to allow for the rearranging of accommodation at the main site 
compound. 

 
Sisk approached Property and Planning Department with a view to occupying the site 
and have entered into a license agreement with the Planning & Property 
Development Department, this license is for 12 months but Sisk are hopeful that they 
can decamp earlier (possibly in 6-9 months’ time). I would note that the period of 
occupation is reliant on the progress on site. 

 
Contact:  Bernie Roe, Senior Executive Officer, City Architects 
Tel:  222 3598 
Email: bernie.roe@dublincity.ie 

 
Q5 Councillor Michael Pidgeon 

To ask the Director of Services for an overview of the public realm and greening 
projects in the South West Inner City, including their current status and whether they 
have funding assigned. 
 
Reply 

South Central Area Office | South West Inner City 
Public Realm, Parks and Greening Projects 2020 - 2023 

 
Capital Projects >€500,000 
Capital projects with a value greater than €500,000 are approved through the CPSO* 
process and hence are often permitted to advance to certain stages (concept, 
preliminary design, part8…etc). Projects may be listed, but waiting necessary 
resources. With the exception of Bridgefoot Street Park (a Parks & Landscaping 
Services project), projects are assigned funding from the Housing & Community 
Capital Projects Budget 2020-2022.   

 
*Corporate Projects Support Office 

Project Value/ Budget Status 

Francis Street 
Environmental Improvement 
Scheme 

3.8m Proceeding to site October 2020 – 10 
month construction time 

Bridgefoot Street Park 1.5m Onsite  - completion January 2021 

Newmarket & Environs 
Public Realm Project 

Prov 4.4m Part 8 approved 2017. Awaiting 
allocation of E&T resources 

Page 64



Meath Street Public Realm 
Project 

Prov 3.7m Currently subject to preliminary 
design with expected Part 8 in Q1 
2021 

Vicar Street Square  Prov 800k Approval to develop a concept 
scheme for tarmac play area and 
environs 

 
Capital Projects >€500,000 (not yet listed with CPSO) 

Project Value/ Budget Status 

Dolphin’s Barn Village 
Enhancement Scheme 

Est 1.8m Part 8 approved in 2018. Subject to 
review with NTA Busconnects 

James Walk Linear Park Est 3m. Masterplan under development. 
Delivery in phases. 

 
Greening Projects c. €100,000 or under (funding assigned) 
These are projects that arise out of The Liberties Greening Strategy and are largely 
being delivered by the Area Office and Parks & Landscaping Service. Projects are 
funded via Housing & Community Capital Projects Budget 2020-2022 or 
Discretionary Fund. 

 
 
 
 

 
Projects under consideration/ Concept stage 
The following are areas where there is considered scope for greening projects or 
small public realm improvements. Projects here are in early stages or aspirational 
and funding is not yet assigned. 
 

Project  Status 

Inchicore Village Small 
Public Realm Interventions 

- Developing a series of ‘quick wins’ to 
enhance public realm and 
connectivity in the village 

Weaver Square Environs - Considering coordinated public realm 
improvements in tandem with Weaver 
Park and new housing developments. 

Reuben Street & Environs - Assessing streets for additional tree 
planting 

Project Value/ Budget Status 

Cork Street Greening 
Strategy 

- Project suspended until clarity on 
Busconnects programme 

Bridgefoot Street Median 
(replacing hard median 
surface with landscaping) 

Est 120k Currently out to tender for completion 
alongside park 

James Street Median 
(repaving and planting 
scheme) 

Est 80k In design. Expected to tender in Q4 
2020 

Cromwell Quarters Steps 
(resurfacing) 

40k In design, to tender for with James 
Street Median 

Reuben Street Treeplanting 1 60k Main works completed, tree planting 
in November 

Basin Lane/ Oisin Kelly Park Est 50k Proposed to remove the existing 
railings, tree surgery and general 
landscaping improvements.  

St Catherine’s Park 40k Conservation work, groundwork and 
landscaping  

Page 65



Carman Hall  
 

- Assessing street for tree planting 

Robert Street  
 

- Assessing street for tree planting and 
buildout public space 

Island Street/ Bonham Street - Longer term plan to revitalise public 
realm in vicinity of new Bridgefoot 
Street Park and housing 
developments 

Blackpitts - Considering opportunities for 
‘depaving’, tree planting and greening  

Turvey Park - Revitalisation of existing park and 
amenity space 
 

 
Contact: Stephen Coyne, Local Enterprise Officer, South Central Area 

 Tel: 01 222 5180 
 Email: stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie 
 
Q6 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services the current status of the development of the Grand 
Canal cycle path from Portobello to Bluebell, and to arrange a meeting with 
Waterways Ireland and Councillors to discuss said development. 
 
Reply 
The Grand Canal Greenway (Portobello to Blackhorse Bridge) is currently on hold. 
Dublin City Council is currently engaged in discussions with the National Transport 
Authority on the possibility of funding the scheme from 2021 onwards.  

 
The scheme will be included in a programme for delivery over the next five years if 
funding is confirmed in principle. This would facilitate reengaging with the various 
stakeholders, including Waterways Ireland and Councillors. The project is also under 
consideration for inclusion in Dublin City Council’s capital programme for 2021 to 
2023. 
 
Contact: Christopher K Manzira, Senior Transportation Officer, Sustainable Mobility 
Projects 

 Tel: 222 2500 
 Email: smp@dublincity.ie  
 
Q7 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services to ask our Roads Maintenance Section whether they 
will resurface the road and repair the footpaths at Donore road in Dublin 8. Residents 
report poor surface and breaks in the footpaths due to overgrown tree roots. 
 
Reply 
Road maintenance has surveyed Donore road and footpaths and have logged all 
defects to our works list for repair. The resurfacing of Donore road will be considered 
for possible inclusion in our 2021 resurfacing contract, which will be dependent upon 
available funding.  

 
Contact: Carl Ryan, South Central Area Engineer, Road Maintenance Division 
Tel: 222 8812. 
Email: carl.ryan@dublincity.ie 
 

Page 66

mailto:smp@dublincity.ie
mailto:carl.ryan@dublincity.ie


 
Q8 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services what steps need to be taken so as to facilitate 
SICCDA to paint the building in which they are located (number 90 Meath street) 
given that it is located between 2 protected structures. (The Meath Street Church and 
Stiner school (Number 92)).  

 
Reply 
SICCDA premises at 90 Meath Street is a private property and it’s not a matter for 
Dublin City Council to oblige its refurbishment. It is noted, that the building currently 
has a render finish, common across the city, which is often left unpainted. Given 90 
Meath Street’s location with the Thomas Street & Environs Architectural 
Conservation Area and adjacent to protected structures, it is recommended that 
SICCDA seek advice from the Conservation Section before embarking on any 
change to the decoration of the building.   
 
The Area Office annually operates a shopfront improvement scheme that is available 
to SICCDA should they wish to undertake refurbishment. The building may also be 
eligible for the Built Heritage Investment Scheme, operated annually by the 
Department of Housing, Heritage & Local Government through Dublin City Council 
Conservation Office. 
 
Contact: Stephen Coyne, Local Enterprise Officer, South Central Area 

 Tel:  2225180 
 Email: stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie 
 
Q9 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services whether the regeneration review of our housing 
estates has been completed, and if so, whether a report on Michael Mallin House 
Dublin 8 is available, and if so, to provide said report to this Councillor. 
 
Reply 
Dublin City Council, building upon its experience of regenerating complexes, is 
seeking to develop a strategy to regenerate its apartment complexes that are over 40 
years old and build more and better homes. Dublin City Council has currently over 
6,000 apartments that are built more than forty years ago.The Housing and 
Community  Services Department has audited all its apartment complexes with 
regards current condition and development potential.  
 
A meeting will be arranged shortly to discuss its findings with the councillors for the 
South West Inner City Electoral Area. Relative to other complexes within the South  
West Inner City Electoral Area, Michael Mallin House does not appear as a priority at 
this time. 

 
Contact: Collette Egan, Administrative Officer, Housing & Community 

 Tel:    222 7996 
 Email: collette.egan@dublincity.ie 
 
Q10 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services whether the adult child of a tenant, already on the 
rent for the tenancy, can become the main tenant so as to avail of the tenant 
purchase scheme for that property or whether the adult child can gift to the parent, 
the main tenant, the monies necessary to avail of the scheme. 
 
 

Page 67



Reply 
Under the Tenant Incremental Purchase Scheme 2016, only the main tenant can 
apply, if eligible, to purchase their home. Other persons who reside in that property 
are not eligible to apply. It is not possible for another person residing in the property 
to become the main tenant simply to purchase the property. Upon the death or 
departure of the main tenant, a family member residing in the property, may, if 
eligible, apply to succeed to the tenancy.  
An adult child can gift money to their parent in order to assist them to purchase as 
long as that parent fulfils all other eligibility criteria under the scheme. However the 
adult child would be strongly advised to seek legal advice before doing so as they will 
not be the purchaser and will not be the owner of the property or named on the 
deeds.  
 
Contact: Teresa Conlon, Administrative Officer, Housing, Community and Emergency 
Services 

 Tel: 222 5138 
Email: teresa.conlon@dublincity.ie 
 

Q11 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the traffic situation on Jamestown 
Road, it was agreed at the last meeting that residents would be consulted with before 
any further restrictions were imposed. 
 
Reply 
The Parking Policy and Enforcement Unit recently organised for the existing double 
yellow lines to be freshly painted on Jamestown Road. Complaints were received 
that delivery vehicles have not been able to deliver material to a business on this 
road as parking on Jamestown Road prohibited the delivery vehicles travelling down 
the road. This situation was due to illegal parking of vehicles on double yellow lines 
and footpaths. The Dublin Street Parking services were instructed to enforce against 
illegal parking of vehicles on this road. Apart from access for delivery vehicles, the 
Parking Policy and Enforcement Unit is concerned about access for an ambulance or 
a fire tender if they needed to access this road.  
 
Contact:  Hugh Fahey, Administrative Officer, Parking Policy and Enforcement. 
Tel: 222 3847 
Email: hugh.fahey@dublincity.ie 
 

Q12 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services that residents welcome DCCs actions to prohibit cars 
parking on the footpath along Tyrconnell Road, but residents have asked that the 
Covid Mobility Team consider moving the traffic barriers off the footpath and on to the 
road? 
 
Reply 
The new bollards on Tyrconnell Road were installed in accordance to DCC best 
practice. DCC require minimum footpath widths to be 1.8m, at its narrowest point the 
width on the footpath at the bollards measured 2.4m. Well exceeding our minimum 
requirements. There are a number of health and safety reasons which were 
considered in the installation of these bollards including Tyrconnell Road being a 
major arterial and bus route with a speed limit of 50km/hr. The installation of bollards 
on the road may provide a false sense of safety to pedestrians, would also mean 
introducing a hazard to cyclists and motorists along with the creation of a water 
hazard in the water channel.  
 

Page 68

mailto:hugh.fahey@dublincity.ie


Contact: Niall O’Neill, Area Engineer, Environment & Transportation   
Tel: 222 6393 
Email:  niall.oneill@dublincity.ie  
 

Q13 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on actions taken by DCC to prevent 
cars parking on footpaths in Drimnagh, as agreed in my motion passed at the 
September SCAC meeting? 
 
Reply 
The Parking Policy and Enforcement Inspector investigated the route of the Ivy 
Gardens Cycle Bus and identified locations where vehicles parked on footpaths 
obstructing this route. The Dublin Street Parking Services clamped a number of 
vehicles on the route a number of times during the month of September. The Dublin 
Street Parking Services have continued to identify illegal parking on footpaths in 
Drimnagh and clamp them for such illegal parking.  
 
Contact:  Hugh Fahey, Administrative Officer, Parking Policy and Enforcement. 
Tel: 222 3847 
Email: hugh.fahey@dublincity.ie 
 

Q14 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for a detailed update on the proposed construction of 
new dressing rooms in Brickfield Park. 
 

Reply 
Subject to planning approval and available funding it is envisaged that this project 
could proceed to construction in 2022. 
 
Contact: Leslie Moore, City Parks Superintendent, Culture, Recreation and Economic 
Services 

 Tel: 2225049 
 Email: leslie.moore@dublincity.ie 

 
Q15 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services, with regard to outstanding maintenance issues at 
(details supplied), can she assure the tenant that these issues will followed up asap? 
The tenant informs me that he has been trying to have the repairs carried out for the 
last 10 years. The windows need to be inspected with view to replacing them. A new 
shower was installed but put in on wrong side and now a new safety rail needs to be 
installed. Needs a new bath. 
 
Reply 
Housing Maintenance have previously inspected the PVC windows and they are in 
good condition and not in need of replacement.  The foreman will call to the tenant to 
inspect the other issues in relation to the bathroom and all necessary works will be 
carried out.  

 
Contact:  Frank d’Arcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance 
Tel: 222 3517 
Email: frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie 
 

Q16 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services to work with the Bluebell Environment Group and 
carry out the following works in Bluebell; 

Page 69

mailto:donals.brennan@dublincity.ie
mailto:hugh.fahey@dublincity.ie
mailto:frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie


a) clear the top layer of weeds off the green area near on Bluebell Road, at the 
entrance off Nass Road to Bernard Curtis House, and replace with thin layer of top 
soil. This will allow the environmental group plant flowers here. 
b) clear the weeds at the green space, on Bluebell Road by the entrance to the 
community centre, prevent grass from growing so as youth club can put in and 
mange flower boxes 
c) cut bushes back in front of shops at Huband Road 
d) cut back trees around community centre and clean the green areas. 
 
Reply 
Parks have met Bluebell Environment Group on site with a representative from the 
Area Office and the community centre and discussed the issues outlined above: 
a) Area Office are to investigate if this area is in DCC ownership or not 
b) Parks have sought prices for installation of bound gravel in this area with support 

from Area Office for funding 
c) Parks will arrange 
d) These trees belong to the community centre. 
 
Contact: Brid Brosnan, Executive Parks Superintendent 

 Tel:  222 3144 
 Email: parks@dublincity.ie 

 
The Public Domain Officer will work with the Area Office, Community Development 
and Parks to address the issues outlined. Any available resources that will be 
employed within budget constraints. 
 
Contact: Anna McDermott, Public Domain Officer 

 Tel: 2225117 
Email anna.mcdermott@dublincity.ie 
 

Q17 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services to confirm if, as part of the contracts to cut grass in 
public parks and green spaces, private companies must prepare the parks by 
cleaning up rubbish first, trim edges and gather grass and rubbish once work is 
competed? 
 
Reply 
As part of the landscape maintenance contract, contractors are required to pick litter 
before mowing the grass. Edge trimming and grass collection is not part of the 
specification. All contractors do bring blowers with them so that following mowing the 
footpaths can be cleaned where necessary. At times blowing excess grass off busy 
roads can prove to be difficult and dangerous, but where it is safe to do so the 
contractors will do this activity.   

 
Contact:  Brid Brosnan, Executive Parks Superintendent 

 Tel: 222 3144 
 Email: parks@dublincity.ie 
 
Q18 Councillor Michael Pidgeon 

To ask the Director of Services if there are plans to resurface Abercorn Terrace. 
Nearby streets were resurfaced roughly ten years ago, but Abercorn Terrace was 
excluded. 
 
 
 

Page 70

mailto:anna.mcdermott@dublincity.ie


Reply 
Road Maintenance recently visited this location and will put Abercorn Terrace 
forward for consideration in our 2021 Resurfacing contract, which is dependent on 
available funding. 

  
Contact: Carl Ryan, Operations & South Central Area Engineer. 
Tel: 222 8812 
E-mail: roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie 
 

Q19 Councillor Hazel De Nortúin 
To ask the Director of Services to ask the Housing Maintenance section review the 
work needed at (details supplied) and to complete the works that was already started 
by Dublin City Council? There are issues with the windows and ceiling.  
 
Reply 
The tenant will need to contact the Rents Section (Charlotte Dunne Tel:  222-3844) in 
the first instance, before any further maintenance can be carried out. 

 
Contact:  Frank d’Arcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance  
Tel: 222 3517 
Email: frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie 
 

Q20 Councillor Hazel De Nortúin 
To ask the Director of Services to ask the Housing Maintenance section to inspect 
the rear windows in (details supplied). 
 
Reply 
Housing Maintenance will arrange for an inspection of the seals on these windows by 
the glazier this week and he will organise repairs/replacements if necessary.  

 
Contact: Frank d’Arcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance 
Tel: 222 3517 
Email: frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie 
 

Q21 Councillor Hazel De Nortúin 
To ask the Director of Services to ask the Housing Maintenance section to inspect 
the front windows in (details supplied). The resident has raised the issues with DCC 
and is still awaiting a response. The windows are in need of repair.  
 
Reply 
Housing Maintenance will arrange for an inspection of the front windows and all 
necessary works will be carried out.  

 
Contact:  Frank d’Arcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance  
Tel: 222 3517 
Email: frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie 
 

Q22 Councillor Hazel De Nortúin 
Can I request an update on the playing field that was promised to the De La Salle 
GAA club by the Brothers and the new developer? Has DCC been approached to 
facilitate this piece of land and is the developer within regulation by including a pitch 
area that is to be allocated to another entity within his 25% of green space within 
their planning application? 
 
 

Page 71

mailto:roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie
mailto:frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie
mailto:frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie
mailto:frankg.darcy@dublincity.ie


Reply 
The De La Salle Brothers sold lands in Ballyfermot that included the former national 
school and the Mount La Salle monastery building.  The lands are zoned Z15, to 
protect and provide for institutional and community uses, and the main section of the 
school building is a protected structure. Residential use is open for consideration in 
Z15 lands. Section 14.8.14 of the CDP states that: 

 
“Where there is an existing institutional and/or community use, any proposed 

development for ‘open for consideration’ uses on part of the landholding, shall be 
required to demonstrate to the planning authority how the proposal is in accordance 
with and assists in securing the aims of the zoning objective; how it secures the 
retention of the main institutional and community uses on the lands, including space 
for any necessary expansion of such uses; how it secures the retention of existing 
functional open space e.g. school playing fields; and the manner in which the nature 
and scale of the proposal integrates with the surrounding lands. 

In considering whether there is no longer a need for the existing institutional 
use, the planning authority shall consult with the owner/ operator of the existing 
institutional and community uses and the relevant statutory provider (e.g. the 
Department of Education and Skills in the case of schools, and the Department of 
Health and the HSE in the case of hospitals). A masterplan is required in these 
circumstances. The masterplan, which may necessitate a variation, shall set out a 
clear vision for the lands zoned Z15, to provide for the identification of 25% of the 
lands for open space and/or community facilities (instead of the 10-20% public open 
space provided for in earlier in this chapter.  The masterplan must incorporate 
landscape features which retain the essential open character of the lands zoned Z15. 
It must also ensure that the space will be provided in a manner designed to facilitate 
potential for future public use and protect existing sporting and recreational facilities 
which are available predominantly for community use.” 

 
The applicant has entered into pre application consultation with An Bord Pleanala.  

 
Contact: Rhona Naughton, Senior Planner 

Tel: 222 6354 

 Email: rhona.naughton@dublincity.ie 

 
Q23  Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services for an update on the following question that I asked 
last month. That Dublin City Council please look at the breach of planning with the 
unauthorised development of a garden shed into a rented dwelling at (details supplied). 
I have had a number of residents in the vicinity onto me in relation to the fact this 
development is now offered on DAFT.ie for €1,400 per month, access is through the 
main house. I am asking this be addressed without delay, with the serving of court 
papers, the ESB. I wish now to ask that the main dwelling is checked out for its 
suitability, with the number of private residents living here and I would ask that a visit 
from DCC take place to check its suitability. I am told by neighbours there are 9 rooms 
let out at €800 per month, with a shared kitchen with 4 chairs. The real concern I have 
is the potential of fires and anti-social behaviour with such a large multi occupancy 
dwelling on a residential road. Bins etc are now a feature in the front garden. I should 
point out to date the people living in the main house are fine, but this could change 
very easy with such a large number living here. 
 
Reply 
The owner of this premises has been instructed by the Planning Enforcement Section 
not to use the shed referred to for habitable purposes in the absence of a proper 

Page 72

mailto:rhona.naughton@dublincity.ie


grant of permission. The Planning Enforcement Section will continue to monitor the 
property concerned in terms of the concerns relating to the shed.  

 
Contact: John Downey, A/Planning Enforcement Manager 

Tel: 222 3465 

Email: john.downey@dublincity.ie 

 
A reference report will be sought to ascertain the ownership details of the property 
and then check and see if the property is rented. If rented, an inspection under the 
Housing (Standards for Rented Houses) Regulations 2019 will be scheduled by the 
Environmental Health Officer. Following this inspection any necessary enforcement 
action will be pursued with the owner of the property. 
 
The unauthorised use of the garden shed is a matter for planning enforcement who 
have been in contact with the owners. 

 
Contact: Bernie Doherty, Senior Executive Officer, Private Rented Dwellings Section 
Tel:  222 5081 
Email:  bernie.doherty@dublincity.ie 

 
This premises will be investigated to determine how it is being operated. 
Further action will be pursued with the person in control of the premises, under the 
Fire Services Act 1981 & 2003 if applicable, and enforcement will be taken as 
necessary.  
 
Contact: Clare Crosbie, Senior Staff Officer, DFB Administration 
Tel:  222 4260 
Email:  clare.crosbie@dublincity.ie 
 

Q24  Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council look at the state of the public 
footpaths along the Crumlin Road, with particular attention on the stretch from the 
corner of Errigal Road and Crumlin Road fronting Our Lady’s Hospital. The footpaths 
are very well used along here however, there is a need for full replacement. Over the 
years, the road surface was replaced, however the footpaths were never touched. I 
should point out a lot of footpaths along the Crumlin need replacing. 
 
Reply 
Road Maintenance inspected the footpath fronting Our Lady’s Hospital and noted a 
large number of defects especially uplifting by tree roots. I will put this stretch of 
footpath between Errigal Road and the Kildare Road junction forward for possible 
inclusion in our 2021 Minor Works Footpath Contract which will be dependent on 
available funding. 
 
Contact: Carl Ryan, Operations & South Central Area Engineer. 
Tel:  222 8812 

 Email:  roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie 
 

Q25  Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services that I be given an update on the ongoing issue of 
addressing the anti-social behaviour at the playground at the new skateboard park at 
the Lawns Park, Le Fanu Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. Part of addressing the 
problem should be the construction of new railings, opening and closing times, 
proper signage and an inter-agency approach. The facility, minus the anti-social 

Page 73

mailto:john.downey@dublincity.ie
mailto:clare.crosbie@dublincity.ie
Tel:01222
mailto:roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie


behaviour offered thousands of children a lifeline after the lifting of Covid-19 
restrictions. The provision of railings is something many facilities offer, like the play 
facility in the Phoenix Park. If we get a 2nd round of lock down we need to be in a 
position where we can close off this facility. I am aware most of the problems happen 
after BYS staff leave the facility after dark. 
 
Reply 
Parks have received quotes for a number of options for fencing the skate and play 
park in Le Fanu. These options need to be assessed to see which offers the best 
solution and value for money. All options provide the possibility of locking the space 
and provide a deterrent to youths entering after closing time.  Signage will follow after 
fencing is placed. 

 
Contact:  Brid Brosnan, Executive Parks Superintendent 

 Tel: 222 3144 
 Email: parks@dublincity.ie 
 
Q26  Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council please give me a full report 
on the ongoing delays on the commencement of the full redevelopment of Labre Park 
Travellers Development on Kylemore Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. I am very worried 
that this project will again be left behind, to the determent of families who have lived 
here in very poor conditions for many years. I would ask that the re-development look 
upon the full redevelopment of all adjoining sites to ensure a positive natural 
environment for all living here including local business and adjoining communities. 
The availability of large tracks of land here have become unmanageable over many 

years creating all sorts of problems in the area. 
 
Reply 
It has been agreed that Senior Management for the Traveller Accommodation Unit will 
be organising a meeting in the coming weeks with Councillor’s to give comprehensive 
report on the redevelopment of Labre Park. 
 
Contact: Patrick Smith, Area Housing Officer, Traveller Accommodation Unit 

 Tel: 222 3353 
 Email: Patrickp.smith@dublincity.ie  
 
Q27  Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council please look upon the 
following complaint. A resident of Ballyfermot Crescent / Avenue has contacted me 
on a number of occasions in relation to the very poor state of the area, with weeds, 
waste needing attending and litter picking. In addition, the complainant tells me there 
is regularly a horse left in the front garden of (details supplied). I would ask we check 
out the matter and advise me of what can be done if it happens again. 
 
Reply 
The Licensing Unit received a complaint about the horse at (details supplied).  The 
complaint was dealt with and the owners are no longer keeping the horse in the front 
garden.  
 
Waste Management Services had Ballyfermot Crescent/Avenue litter picked on the 
5th October 2020 and swept by a sweeping machine on the 6th October 2020. This 
area is cleaned on a weekly basis and has been included on the list for the current 
weed removal programme. 

Page 74



 
Contact:  Patricia Colfer, Administrative Officer, Licensing Unit 

 Tel:  222 6710 
 Email: patricia.colfer@dublincity.ie  
 

Contact:  Mick Boyle, Senior Staff Officer, Waste Management Services 
 Tel: 222 4240 
 Email: mick.boyle@dublincity.ie  
 
Q28  Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council look at following application 
to purchase their home (details supplied). 

 
Reply 
The purchase price of a property under the Incremental Purchase scheme is the 
current market  value of the property at time of application, less a substantial  
discount of either 40%, 50% or 60%, depending on the tenants income.  
An extension was built on to this property (details supplied) for the tenants, by Dublin 
City Council, to enhance the quality of life of a family member, which has increased  
 the market value of the property. When determining a valuation, extensions built  
and paid for privately by the tenants are excluded from the valuation as the tenant  
has already paid for the work, but where an extension was built and paid for by 
Dublin City Council and has added value to the property it is reflected in the  
valuation. The property at (details supplied) has been determined to have a current  
market value of €230,000 and as the tenants are being given a 40% discount on the  
market price, has been offered for sale to them at a price of €138,000. 
 
Contact: Teresa Conlon, Administrative Officer, Loans & Grants 

 Tel:  2225138 
 Email: teresa.conlon@dublincity.ie 

 
Q29 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council look at the following housing 
request for (details supplied) that consideration be given to the housing of this 
applicant. She has lived at the above HAP tenancy for the past few years with her 2 
children. She is hoping to be considered for a new vacancy which arises due to the 
purchase of No 15 Cleggan Road by DCC. I am aware she has current 
accommodation but she would love the permanency a dwelling provided by DCC 
would give her moving forward. 
 
Reply 
The above applicant is on the Transfer HAP Housing List, with an application date of 
01/07/2010, and the applicant holds the following positions on this list: 
 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area E 3 201 

Area J 3 87 

Area K 3 111 

 
The applicants interest in Cleggan Road has been noted on her file, however, based 
on the applicant’s current position for each area of choice, it may be some time before 
the applicant is reached for an offer of housing. She will be considered for offer when 
accommodation to meet her household need becomes available and according to her 
position on the list. 

Page 75

mailto:patricia.colfer@dublincity.ie
mailto:mick.boyle@dublincity.ie


 
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there 
are applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies 
arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. 
The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time 
applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  
 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Executive Manager, Housing Operations  
Tel:   222 2639                 
Email:     mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 

 
Q30 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council look upon the following -  
that the rent sought by DCC to the SOLAS Project for the new property at the 
Coombe, Dublin 8 be reduced from the annual of (detail supplied) a charge similar to 
the charge for another premises this youth organisation has from DCC. Due to the 
large expenditure of €25,000 to €30,000 for the refurbishment of the building, will 
DCC look upon helping out the organisation with some sort of help reflecting that the 
group is working with some of the most marginalised in the South West Inner City. 
Every young person supported here helps build a more sustainable community. 

 
Reply 
Solas After Schools Project CLG currently occupy two premises in The Coombe, 
Dublin 8, details as follows: 

 
80 The Coombe: 
The premises at No. 80 The Coombe, Dublin 8 was advertised for sale in 2014 
seeking an annual rent of €4,500 p.a.  Solas After Schools Project CLG approached 
DCC and indicated their interest in the premises but that they would not be in a 
position to afford the market rent and offered to pay rent in the amount of €2,400 per 
annum which DCC agreed to accept, so long as the property was used for non-profit 
making educational community purposes only.  This agreement was renewed 
annually and the latest agreement expired on 16th November 2017.  Solas agreed 
terms for the renewal of the licence agreement for a further period of 5 years from 
17th November 2017 to 16th November 2022 subject to an annual rent of €2,400 p.a.  
DCC has not increased the rent on these premises in line with the current market 
value which now stands at €8,500 p.a. 

 
82 The Coombe: 
In 2019, due to the expiration of their lease in another premises, Solas After Schools 
Project CLG sought the assistance of DCC to find alternative accommodation in the 
Dublin 8 area.  Solas After Schools Project CLG expressed an interest in the 
premises at 82 The Coombe, Dublin 8.  This premises had been left idle for some 
time and was in need of repair/refurbishment.  Solas After Schools Project CLG 
offered to undertake the refurbishment work themselves estimated to be in the region 
of €30,000.  DCC, in acknowledgement of this, agreed a reduced licence fee in the 
amount of €200 per annum to Solas After School Project CLG for a term of 12 
months from 17th August 2020 so long as the property is used for non-profit making 
educational community purposes only. 

 
Contact: Margaret Mooney, Senior Staff Officer, Planning and Property Development 
Department 
Tel: 222 2852 
Email: margaret.mooney@dublincity.ie 
 

Page 76

mailto:mary.hayes@dublincity.ie
mailto:margaret.mooney@dublincity.ie


Q31 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council please remove the large 
concrete slab left on the public footpath outside the Iceland Shopping Centre car park 
at Le Fanu Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. Can Dublin City Council also please find 
out who is responsible for the lack of cleansing / care of the private car park fronting 
the group of shops here including the Post Office etc. I saw a near accident with this 
concrete slab last week with a child coming off a scooter here. Thank God things 
looked up for the child. A group of local residents including myself, spent 4 hours 
cleaning all the waste and weeds from the road, however the concrete mentioned 

above was above out of our capabilities. 
 
Reply 
The Public Domain Officer has inspected the location. The heavily littered area has 
been cleared as part of an ongoing environmental initiative with the co-operation and 
assistance of the business lease holders in the Shopping Centre. The Concrete 
Blocks have been removed and remedial works on Carpark boundary wall, 
landscaping, littering and illegal dumping will be discussed with all stakeholders with 
a view to working together on a viable solution. 

 
Contact: Anna McDermott, Public Domain Officer 

 Tel:       01 222 5117 
 Email: Anna.mcdermott@dublincity.ie 

 
Q32 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services can Dublin City Council facilitate a small meeting with 
a group of residents I met over the summer in relation to the proposed pocket play-
facility promised for the Elmdale Area of Cherry Orchard. This group display a strong 
community focus and are regularly involved in community clean-ups etc. They have 
mentioned they would be willing to take a lead role in the development of a play facility 
here. 
 
Reply 
A number of meetings have been held with the residents in the new estate in Elmdale 
with the intention of supporting them with the establishment of an environmental 
group and organising some events for the children. DCC staff and the Cherry 
Orchard Integrated Youth Services facilitated outdoor meetings at which issues such 
as environmental improvements, the management of the open spaces and the 
installation of play equipment were discussed. As a result of these meetings, a 
contractor was engaged to clean up and maintain the green areas for a number of 
months until it is taken in charge by Parks Services. Further, the contractor has also 
been engaged to plant wildflowers and mixed bulbs on the berm facing the houses. 
At the request of  the residents, small items of removable play equipment will be 
purchased and stored by them as there are mixed views regarding any permanent 
installation of play equipment. COIYS are working with young people to identify a 
project for them possibly on the environment also. A good working relationship has 
been established which we hope to build on despite the restrictions on gatherings. 
 
Contact: Kay Noonan Cork, Ballyfermot/Drimnagh Local Area Manager 
Tel:       222 4667  
Email:  kay.noonan_cork@dublincity.ie 

 
Q33 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council please have a look at the traffic 
mayhem along Gurteen Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. With children coming and going 

Page 77

mailto:kay.noonan_cork@dublincity.ie


from school in the mornings and afternoons, some of the school community and local 
residents feel a one way system would facilitate the entry / exit of motor vehicles and 
there is serious concern of a potential accident here. With the large number of traffic 
movements, an observation between 2.25pm to 2.55pm will give an indication of the 
problem. 

 
Reply 
DCC has emailed all primary schools in late August/early September asking them to 
express interest in our new School Zones trial.  DCC have not got a response from 
the schools at this location. If they would like this area looked at by the Covid Mobility 
School Zone team we are still accepting applications. 
Ror further information and to apply, please visit 
https://consultation.dublincity.ie/traffic-and-transport/1cf2bdad/ 

 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, Area Engineer. 
Tel:  222 6393 
Email: niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 

 
Q34 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services, to outline the Covid mobility plan for Inchicore, what 
consultation took place and what is the timeframe for its implementation? 
 
Reply 
As part of the Covid Mobility Plan for Inchicore, Bollards were placed along the 
Tyrconnell Road across from Tesco to protect pedestrians using this footpath and aid 
social distancing by preventing illegal parking on the footpath. Our Business Liaison 
Officer consulted with Tesco who did not have an issue with these Bollards. 

 
Contact: Will Mangan, Acting Senior Executive Engineer. 
Tel:     222 5030. 
Email:    william.mangan@dublincity.ie 
 

Q35 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the proposed redevelopment of 
Labre Park, including the Part 8 process? 
 
Reply 
Senior Management is meeting Councillors in the coming weeks to give a 
comprehensive update on the redevelopment of Labre Park, addressing all issues 
relating to the Part 8 process.  

 
Contact: Patrick Smith, Area Housing Officer, Traveller Accommodation Unit 

 Tel: 222 3353 
 Email: patrickp.smith@dublincity.ie  
 
Q36 Councillor Maire Devine 

To ask the Director of services to provide a list ( 2017 -present) of requests for the South 
Central Area by owners of  purpose built student accommodation, hotels and co living for 
a “Change Of Use” detailing what that change would be? 
 

Reply 
A search of the APAS planning system for ‘change of use’ of  purpose built student 
accommodation, hotels and co living in the South Central Area between the 01/01/2017 
and the 9/10/2020 found no planning applications.  

 

Page 78

https://consultation.dublincity.ie/traffic-and-transport/1cf2bdad/
mailto:donals.brennan@dublincity.ie
mailto:william.mangan@dublincity.ie


Contact: Greg Bryan, Administrative Office, Planning Registry. 
Tel: 222 3108 

           Email: greg.bryan@dublincity.ie 

Q37 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services can details be provided as to the reasons why there 
was a decision to give a Social Housing Exemption Cert to the development of 42 
housing units at Lawlor’s Corner- 03/09/20? 
 
Reply 
Section 97 of the Planning and Development Act 2000 provides that a person may 
apply for a certificate stating that Section 96 shall not apply to a grant of permission 
in respect of development for nine houses or fewer or if the housing is on land of 0.1 
hectares or less. In the case of this particular application the Social Housing 
Exemption Certificate was issued as the housing is on land of 0.1 hectares or less. 

 
Contact: Greg Bryan, Administrative Officer, Planning Registry. 
Tel: 222 3108 
Email: greg.bryan@dublincity.ie  

 
Q38 Councillor Maire Devine 

To ask the Director of Services when road and footpath upgrading is scheduled for 
Ceannt Fort with priority given to O Reilly Avenue. The present conditions pose slip/ 
trip hazards. Residents are willing to facilitate access to their area for the planned 
duration of the works. 
 
Reply 
Road maintenance has carried out works in Ceannt Fort to date and checking our 
system we noted three defects on our works list for O’ Reilly Avenue. We will need to 
develop a Traffic Management Plan and apply for a road closure to O’Reilly Avenue. 
There is a lead in time so we would estimate a crew being available around the 23rd 
of November 2020 onwards. 

 
Contact: Carl Ryan, South Central Area Engineer, Road Maintenance 
Tel: 222 8812. 
Email: carl.ryan@dublincity.ie 
 

Q39 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services that significant localised flooding occurs at the Ceannt 
Fort Estate, most recently last July/August with heavy rain. As winter approaches, can a 
systematic cleaning and clearing of the drain network be carried out? 

 
Reply 
The Surface Water Section carries out the maintenance of road gullies and their 
connection to the network only. Defects or capacity issues with the main network 
itself should be directed to Irish Water as the area is served by a combined sewer. 
 
Surface water carries out routine cleaning of the gullies in this area. The whole 
Ceannt Fort area was cleaned on the 11th of June 2020. The latest cleaning 
commenced last week and will continue on this week. Currently 16 of the 40 gullies 
have been cleaned. No defects have yet been found.   
 
Contact: Richard Sheehy, Senior Executive Engineer, Surface Water & Flood 
Management Section 

 Tel:  086 0106363. 

Page 79

mailto:greg.bryan@dublincity.ie
mailto:greg.bryan@dublincity.ie
mailto:carl.ryan@dublincity.ie


 Email:  richard.sheehy@dublincity.ie 
 
Q40 Councillor Maire Devine 

To ask the Director of Services if there is a scheduled pruning in the Tree Strategy 
for Ceannt Fort. 
 
Reply 
The Tree Care programme includes for a number of trees at the above location to be 
pruned. The pruning is expected to be carried out in the coming weeks. 
 
Contact: Brid Brosnan, Executive Parks Superintendent 

 Tel:  012223144 
 Email:  parks@dublincity.ie 

 
Q41 Councillor Maire Devine 

To ask the Director of Services can a ramp be installed alongside the 40 Steps at 
Mount Brown to ensure access for all? 
 
Reply 
The Area Office had previously sought advice from the City Architects and Roads 
Design Division on the potential for a ramp at Cromwell Quarters however the steep 
incline and narrowness of these steps precludes the development of a ramp to 
acceptable safety standards.   
 
The Area Office intends enhancing the appearance of the concrete steps by adding 
stone and other surface treatments and upgrading public lighting. As part of this 
project, the provision of a cycle run alongside the central handrail will be considered 
to allow bicycles to be pushed up and down the steps more easily. 
 
This work had previously been allocated funding under the Discretionary Fund in 
2018 and we are now in a position to commission the work. It is expected that it will 
be done together with refurbishment of the median area at James Street as part of 
our ongoing Public Spaces Programme. 
 
Contact: Stephen Coyne, Public Realm Projects Coordination  
Tel: 222 5180 
Email:  stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie 
 

Q42 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services can the details of requests by the public to the COVID 
Mobility Programme be broken down for the South Central Area? 
Reply 
Due to the high volume of requests, it will take some time to extract the South Central 
Area Requests.  We will revert directly to the Councillor once the information is 
gathered accurately. 
 
Contact:  Antonia Martin, Communication & Promotion Officer, Sustainable Mobility 

Projects Division.  
Tel: 222 6273 
Email: antonia.martin@dublincity.ie 
 

Q43 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services to request that all suitable retail businesses receive 
support and guidance in setting up temporary outdoor spaces (public and private) to 
protect public health as we face several months of winter. 

Page 80

mailto:richard.sheehy@dublincity.ie
mailto:antonia.martin@dublincity.ie


 
Reply 
The Public Spaces Working Group (PSWG) established by the Chief Executive 
comprises a multi-disciplinary team from Director of Services, Street Furniture Unit, 
Dublin Fire Brigade and Covid Mobility Team. The Covid Mobility Team have a 
dedicated Business Liaison Officer to assist businesses. All enquiries should be 
addressed in the first instance to covidmobility@dublincity.ie. The PSWG are 
finalising a document outlining and advising on all aspects in relation to street 
furniture to assist businesses. Free 6 month temporary Covid street furniture permits 
are being issued where sufficient space is available to accommodate street furniture 
while ensuring traffic and pedestrian safety and complying with public health 
directives. On street interventions such as footpath build outs are being carried out to 
assist businesses with street furniture. All existing street furniture licences have been 
extended by 6 months free of charge. PSWG have dealt with over 200 applications to 
date. 
 
Contact: Mary Taylor, Director of Services, South City 
Tel: 222 5112 
Email: mary.taylor@dublincity.ie 
 

Q44 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services what recourse has this Area Committee got in 
supporting neighbours whose homes are negatively impacted upon by neglectful 
house owners resulting in damp, rodent infestation and overgrowth to their property? 
 
Reply 
If the property is confirmed as rented property, an inspection could be arranged by the 
Environmental Health Section to check for compliance with the Housing (Standards for 
Rented Houses) Regulation 2019.   
 
Following this inspection any necessary enforcement action would be pursued with the 
owner(s) of the property. 

 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Executive Manager, Housing & Community Services 

 Tel: 222 2639 
 Email: mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 
 
Q45 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 

To ask the Director of Services to provide an update on the current state of play of 
the public realm plan for Dolphins Barn junction. This follows a previous question to 
the Director in July and the publication in September of the New Dublin Area Bus 
Network by Bus Connects. The junction is in need of major improvement, especially 
at the corner where the Masseys funeral home is, the railing and the narrow turn 
make it impossible for pedestrians to social distance. 
 
Reply 
Approval under Part VIII was given to the Dolphin’s Barn Village Enhancement 
Scheme in 2018. The scheme envisages significant improvements to pedestrian 
facilities in Dolphin’s Barn including changes to the junction with SCR.  
Usually the next step would be proceed to detailed design and construction (subject 
to staffing and budgetary resources). 
However this project is significantly impacted by the National Transport Authority’s 
Busconnects Project (Core Corridor 9 - Greenhills to City Centre includes Dolphin’s 
Barn Road and Cork Street). It is envisaged that the Part VIII might, in large part, be 
delivered by Busconnects. Discussions remain ongoing at corporate level between 

Page 81

mailto:covidmobility@dublincity.ie
mailto:mary.taylor@dublincity.ie


Dublin City Council and NTA on Busconnects and hence no further work has been 
undertaken on this scheme.  
 
Contact: Stephen Coyne, Coordinator Public Realm Improvements SWIC 

 Tel: 222 5180 
Email: Stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie 

 
Q46 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 

To ask the Director of Services for a specific update on DCC’s Covid Mobility Plans 
for the Inchicore/Kilmainham area. DCC has done excellent work across Dublin in 
making public realms more ‘pandemic proof’ but communities outside of the city-
centre, such as Kilmainham/Inchicore have yet to be consulted or improved – 
Inchicore Community Development Group’s ‘To It, Not Through It’ plans for Inchicore 
village offer a good starting point. Can the Director of Services offer a progress report 
on plans for a Covid mobility plan for the Inchicore/Kilmainham area? 
 
Reply 
The report ‘To It, Not Through It’ was assessed by the Area Engineer. Even though 
the report mentions retractable bollards and a “bus gate”, it was felt this would be an 
obstruction to the Bus Connects project. Bus Connects have a proposed route 
through Inchicore called the C Spine Route (C 1, C2, C3, C4) and route numbers 93, 
95. This would indicate that Inchicore is a major part of the Bus Connects plans and 
any such changes as suggested in the report would be obstructive and costly and 
end up being taken out again in the near future. Therefore it was felt that no major 
interventions would be installed in the Inchicore / Kilmainham Area at this time.  
As part of the Covid Mobility Plan for Inchicore, Bollards were placed along the 
Tyrconnell Road across from Tesco to protect pedestrians using this footpath and aid 
social distancing by preventing illegal parking on the footpath.  
 
Contact: Will Mangan, Acting Senior Executive Engineer 
Tel: 222 5030 
Email: william.mangan@dublincity.ie 
 

Q47 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the Part VIII plans for upgrades to 
Meath Street. What is the current timeline for the project? Has the Covid economic 
situation had any impact on the funding for the project? 
 
Reply 
The Area Office commissioned Haslem & Co Architects in 2018 to develop a concept 
public realm scheme for Meath Street and Environs. That process included engaging 
with internal technical department as well as a series of public consultations with 
businesses and local residents at the end of 2018. The concept plan was produced in 
2019.   
 
The Area Office now has corporate approval to advance a more detailed, preliminary 
design for Meath Street with the assistance of our Roads Design Division. Haslem & 
Co Architects have again being engaged for design services. Engagement with 
technical departments is currently ongoing and it is anticipated that a proposal for 
Meath Street will be brought forward for approval under Part VIII in Q1 2021. 
 
Further progress (to detailed design and construction) will be subject to Corporate 
Projects Support Office approval and financial provision. 
 

Page 82

mailto:Stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie
https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=O5npavlUkhFrh-APSUtiV51T0NbtQ-QJglmJO0qUMr3sIU9uyGrYCA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3dn8X933TkRp8C1K3DkcAf6VwQFtLatplPmZE8J9P_rA%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttps%253a%252f%252fd8development%252eorg%252fcovid


An overview of all public realm projects active in the South West Inner City area is 
included for the councillor’s benefit.  
 
Contact: Stephen Coyne, Coordinator Public Realm Improvements SWIC 

 Tel: 222 5180 
Email: stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie 
 

Q48 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services what DCC proposes to do to bring many derelict, 
empty and vacant commercial properties on Emmet Road, Inchicore back into use? 

 
Reply 
In December 2018 Kilmainham Inchicore Network carried out a survey of Inchicore 
Village categorising retail premises into NACE economic activities.  At that stage 16 
of the 64 premises identified were described as vacant.  With information from DCC 
Valuation office ownership of the vacant premises was identified and letters were 
sent to owners to engage in dialogue around what plans were in place for their 
premises.  The Shop Front Improvement Scheme was in operation and owners were 
made aware of this opportunity.   Local estate agent David Brock offered to engage 
with owners and help in reletting/reselling, this was outlined to owners.   
 
In December 2019 the number of vacant premises had decreased to 6.  Since the 
Covid – 19 pandemic began the number of vacant properties has increased.  Over 
the last few months owners of vacant properties have been contacted again by KIN 
asking what their plans are for their premises.  Owners have been informed about a 
new local social Enterprise D8 Development that would like to lease vacant 
premises in their current state; refurbish the premises and sublet them at affordable 
rates.  To date there has been engagement in this process by at least two owners of 
vacant properties.  The process of engagement with vacant and derelict premise 
owners continues on an ongoing basis. 
 
DCC enforcement office have been informed of premises that are deemed 
dangerous and the statutory process of engagement commences. 

 
Contact: Aoife Hannan, Projects for Kilmainham, Inchicore Network 

 Tel:        087 127 3428 
 Email:   aoife.hannan@dublincity.ie 

 
The Derelict Sites Unit will work with the Area Office to compile a list of the commercial 
properties on Emmet Road that are considered to be derelict. The Unit will then 
arrange for inspections of the properties and will take action as appropriate following 
the assessment of their condition. A report on the findings of the inspections will issue 
to the Councillor. 
 
Contact: Nial Dully, Administrative Officer 

Tel: 222 3941 

Email: nial.dully@dublincity.ie 
 
Emmet Road (formerly St. Michael’s Estate) Inchicore, is being developed by Dublin 

City Council (DCC) as pilot cost rental project.  Approximately 420 dwellings are 

proposed for the c.4.9 hectares’ site comprising of a mix of 70% cost rental and 30% 

social housing units, supplemented and supported by retail (including a 2,000 sq. m 

supermarket), café with outdoor seating and community facilities fronting a new civic 

space off Emmet Road. 

Page 83

mailto:nial.dully@dublincity.ie


In May 2020, Bucholz McEvoy were appointed as Architect lead for the design, 

obtaining all statutory consents and delivery on site of a new sustainable 

neighbourhood of the highest quality. 

A planning application in accordance with Part 10, Section 175 of the Planning and 

Development Act 2000 (as amended) will be lodged with An Bord Pleanála in early 

2021. On site development is due to commence in 2022. The development will take a 

number of years to implement. 

The Emmet Road project will act as a catalyst for the regeneration of Inchicore by 

creating the conditions for market recovery and investment in existing privately 

owned vacant and derelict retail properties.  

Contact: Brian Keaney, Senior Planner 

Tel: 222 7933 

Email: brian.keaney@dublincity.ie 
 

Q49 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services to provide an update on the Hybreasal 
Estate/Paddocks parking situation. A local agreement, which had been in place for 
11 years abruptly ended without prior consultation with residents. In email 
correspondence from July of this year, the Director confirmed the matter was being 
dealt with by Traffic. Can an update be provided please? 
 
Reply 
The decision has been taken to change a section of controlled on-street parking on the 
South Circular Road, to a Pay and Display & Residential Permit Parking Area, to 
address the significant issues experienced by residential parking permit holders in the 
area with respect to parking their vehicles.  
 
A Letter has been sent to the residents association of Hybreasal House informing 
them that the controlled parking area outside the development will become pay and 
display parking from 2nd November 2020. Having looked, and made enquiries, I can 
find no evidence of an agreement between Dublin City Council and the residents of 
Hybreasal House or the Paddocks Developments with respect to on-street parking.   
 
If the residents of the private apartment / housing developments referred to above 
require a parking provision, I might suggest that they make representations to the 
relevant management company.  
  
Contact: Hugh Fahey, Administrative Officer, Parking Policy and Enforcement. 
Tel: 222 3847 
Email: hugh.fahey@dublincity.ie 

 
Q50 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 

To ask the Director of Services if it would be possible to resurface the road in 
Abercorn Terrace, Inchicore. Residents say surrounding roads, Inchicore Parade and 
St Patrick's Terrace, were resurfaced ten years ago but that their road has been 
untouched for some time. This has meant that the surface has considerably 
deteriorated by comparison. Residents have actively engaged the Council and been 
told ‘next year’ for some time. Could the Director provide a timeline for when 
resurfacing will be carried out? 
 
 
 

Page 84

mailto:brian.keaney@dublincity.ie
mailto:hugh.fahey@dublincity.ie


Reply 
Road Maintenance recently visited Abercorn Terrace for an inspection and like the 
previous two years, it will be put forward for consideration in our 2021 resurfacing 
contract, which I must stress, is entirely based on available funding and budgetary 
constraints. I will endeavour to have this stretch of carriageway included in our 
upcoming contract works for next year. 

 
Contact: Carl Ryan, Operations & South Central Area Engineer 
Tel: 222 8812 

 Email:  roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie  
 
Q51 Councillor Sophie Nicoullaud 

To ask the Director of services if DCC can offer any clarification as to which body will 
be responsible for cycle lanes from Lucan road, through Chapelizod and into the city 
centre. In a recent Bus Connects document it appears that this route will fall under 
the remit of the NTA, route 6 in their 'Cycle Network Plan' Documentation. If this is 
the case, will DCC have any input into design etc. and would there be a way for 
members of the public to make submissions. Can any other information, such as 
implementation timeframe etc., be offered by DCC? 
 
Reply 
Dublin City Council has proposals for cycling facilities along the Liffey Corridor and 
Chapelizod Road that would link Parkgate Street to the City Boundary, linking with 
the facilities to Palmerstown that have been implemented by South Dublin County 
Council. The development of these facilities are currently on hold. Facilities along 
Route 6 of the Busconnects programme will be the responsibility of the National 
Transport Authority. More information can be obtained on busconnects.ie. 
 
Contact: Christopher K Manzira, Senior Executive Engineer 
Tel: 2225200 
Email: smp@dublincity.ie 

 
Q52 Councillor Sophie Nicoullaud 

To ask the Director of Services if a speed survey has ever been carried out on the 
Lucan road, Chapelizod, of both east and west bound vehicles? If so, when was the 
survey carried out and what were the findings? If a speed survey has not been 
carried out, or was carried out a number of years ago, can a new speed survey be 
undertaken? If so, when will this take place? If the survey shows excessive speeding 
of vehicles, can traffic calming measures be investigated? 
 
Reply 
More information needed about the specific location on the Lucan Road within the 
Dublin City Council area. 
 
DCC will then arrange for an up to date Speed Survey to be carried out at this 
location and report back with the findings and recommendations  
 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control 
Tel:  222 6393 
Email: niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 
 

Q53 Councillor Sophie Nicoullaud 
To ask the Director of Services what is the general plan to make Chapelizod a safer 
village to walk and cycle in the short term, the medium term and the long term? 
 

Page 85

mailto:roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie
mailto:smp@dublincity.ie
mailto:donals.brennan@dublincity.ie


Reply 
Dublin City Council will be in contact with the councillor to discuss specific issues 
regarding the general plan to make Chapelizod a safer village to walk and cycle in 
the short term, the medium term and the long term 

 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control 
Tel:  222 6393 
Email: niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 

Page 86

mailto:donals.brennan@dublincity.ie


  
DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 

SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 
18th November 2020 

 
Q 1 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask that the Director of Services to please look at what financial penalties we can 
impose of certain people who change without planning permission, garden sheds into 
living accommodation, that they then rent on the private market. It appears once 
again we are powerless to do anything to stop this practice. Can letting agents be 
requested to ensure dwelling offered for private rent comply with current planning 
regulations, fire regulations, PRTB registration etc? 

 
Q 2 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask that the Director of Services can Dublin City Council please look at doing a full 
sweep of the footpaths along Kylemore road, from the construction site at Cornamona 
Court to Le Fanu Road junction with Kylemore Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. Kylemore 
College, the largest 2nd level school in Ballyfermot has ongoing problems with dog dirt, 
rubbish and weeds etc along their premises, which they keep to a very high standard. 

 
Q3 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask that the Director of Services to please give me a full breakdown of the number 
and size of new units currently under construction at Cornamona Court, Kylemore 
road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. Can I also have the estimated time for completion and 
proposed management structure of the facility etc? As the Manager is very aware, this 
development is directly opposite a cluster of schools where up to 1600 children, youths 
and adults attend school on a daily basis, hence traffic management must be pencilled 
into proposed allocations etc. 
 

Q4 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask that the Director of Services look into the following. I met a couple who live at 
(details supplied) and love their home and complex. However, they live in a unit which 
whilst is on the ground floor, doesn’t have an additional exit other than the front door. 
The lady living here and her partner have health and mobility problems and they would 
love if one on the large windows could be retro-fitted with an entrance / exit door. This 
would allow an escape route and an opportunity to sit outside in the summer etc,  
During the recent lockdown with the Covid-19 pandemic, they found it difficult to get 
fresh air etc. If possible, I would welcome an onsite meeting to explain their 
predicament. 

 
Q5 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask that the Director of Services to please give me a full update on the legal issues 
with the Springvale Housing Site at Chapelizod, Dublin 20. Can I have the exact 
number of units under construction, size of units, expected date of completion, 
management structure of the new development and parking arrangements due to 
location of the development and lack of on street parking etc? 

 
Q6 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services to please give me a breakdown of the following; 
number tenant’s awaiting transfers on waiting lists and times on the list (details 
supplied) It can be difficult to understand and explain to tenants who are awaiting a 
transfer, when so many houses are allocated in an area they are awaiting for many 
years to new tenants. 

 

Page 87



Q7 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services in relation to infill housing on potential sites such as 
Garryowen Road Depot, Ballyfermot and old OLV Youth Centre Sarsfield Road, 
Ballyfermot, Dublin 10, that at all stages, Dublin City Council ensure that the new 
housing is built sympathetic to existing housing, as all too often elevations are built 
which are hard to maintain, hence blending in with adjoining housing is the best for 
all concerned. 
 

Q8 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services to please give me an update on the housing 
application of (details supplied) who is in urgent need of accommodation having a 
child with serious developmental issues. She had expressed interest in two houses in 
the Rossmore Avenue area of Ballyfermot without success.  I would ask that 
whatever additional medical information is required is outlined, as I am aware a lot of 
reports etc. were submitted over the past 2 years. I regret our failure to re-house this 
young woman is causing severe stress and depression, while she tries to cope with 
issues unimaginable. I would welcome an opportunity to meet with senior housing 
official and this family to hear at first hand their ongoing difficulties trying to support 
their son. 
 

Q9 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services that Dublin City Council help with the Drumfinn 
Avenue Ballyfermot Dublin 10 Tidy Committee, with the removal of the large wild 
area from the Triangle Park facing houses on the road between 106 and 54 Drumfinn 
Avenue. If the area is cleaned and thinned out, we can do a reasonable job 
maintaining the area. Many years ago, we put this area in to stop the lighting of 
bonfire’s etc. and it proved very successful in doing so. 
 

Q10 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services to have the damaged crash barrier outside Mary 
Queen of Angels School, Gurteen Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10 replaced. A truck 
damaged the barrier a few months ago and it now looks very unsightly, and that 
consideration be given for a small barrier outside the pedestrian entrance of St 
Louise’s School Drumfinn Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. Due to Covid-19, this gate is 
now used by many parents dropping and collecting children. The gate faces 
Rosaveal Court next to Glenaulin Park. 
 

Q11 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services in light of the large number of children now using 
cycles for travelling to and from school, can Dublin City Council consider putting 
bicycle stands outside national schools and secondary schools as requested by 
school authorities, in order to promote cycling as an option. I regret one of the 
reasons many don`t use cycling for travelling to school is the lack of any secure 
areas to lock bicycles 

 
Q12 Councillor Maire Devine 

To ask the Director of Services, as agreed by the South Central Area Committee, to 
extend the license for the RHE to use Carman's Hall as an emergency homeless 
facility for another year, but also that a process to take back in charge the hall for 
community use would begin as soon as possible. This hall has been a huge loss to 
the local community and there is a dire need for such a community facility in the area. 
When will discussions/negotiations commence between Dublin City Council and the 
Church to return this to community use? 
 
 

Page 88



Q13 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services why is there a delay in the allocation of 9 vacant units 
at the Oliver Bond Complex? 
 

Q14 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services to give consideration to, the purchase/lease of 
Emmet Hall, Inchicore which is in the heart of the village. This property is of 
significant historical value and could be used for a myriad of purposes that include; a 
base for the Project Team developing Emmet Road site, a Community facility, base 
for the regeneration of Kilmainham/Inchicore, a visitors centre and/or a Council 
satellite office. 
 

Q15 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services to request a report on the “Repair and Lease 
Scheme” for SCA since its inception? 
 

Q16 Councillor Maire Devine 
To request from the Director of Services a list of derogations given to BAM for the 
National Children’s Hospital development at the St. James’ Hospital site in the past 2 
years? 
 

Q17 Councillor Maire Devine 
To ask the Director of Services for a date when the installation of a shower room at 
(details supplied) will commence? 

 
Q18 Councillor Maire Devine 

To ask the Director of Services the amount of people on the Welfare and Medical 
Housing and transfer lists for area J, K and L? 
 

Q19 Councillor Maire Devine 
To welcome the Pimlico residents group who recently provided a superb and well 
thought out redesign of Pimlico Green in a presentation to councillors and South 
Central Area Public Realm. To ask that the Director of Services support them and 
provide funding for some of the protecting ideas that will enable safe community use 
of this leisure pocket park while also deterring antisocial behaviour. 
 

Q20 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services for Dublin City Council to please provide a 

breakdown, for 2018, 2019 and 2020 so far, of the number of residential dwelling 

units that have been granted permission by DCC and ABP, excluding student 

accommodation and co-living developments, compared to the number of hotel and 

aparthotel rooms that have been granted permission during the same period? Could 

this information be broken down by electoral ward across DCC, please? 

 

Q21 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services to outline what efforts DCC can make to ensure 

persistent noise pollution issues do not reoccur Bonham and Watling Street. As 

stated in Diageo's 2019 Annual Environmental Report, released in March of this year, 

"evening and night-time noise level limits were exceeded" at this location which has 

caused ongoing distress for local residents. Local residents have followed this up 

with the EPA and Diageo directly, and after months of engagement, Diageo has 

committed to implement measures to address these specific noise issues. What role 

can DCC play to ensure that similar such issues do not arise in the future? 

 

Page 89

https://webmail/owa/redir.aspx?C=tQxm3r2gpuKwIEcxWhwDQ84ng3_kUg_D0AaDpxmthFbeu-QR4IDYCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3d89ii3-Bem3vXt9WdnItp46iEmexzebrG1_2ePjxecQ%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttp%253a%252f%252fwww%252eepa%252eie%252flicences%252flic%255feDMS%252f090151b28074d91e%252epdf


Q22 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services about the future of the Liberties Local Area Plan 

which lapsed in May 2020. Will an updated plan be introduced? If so, what 

consultation with the local community will take place? 

 

Q23 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services to outline DCC’s plans to upgrade the lighting that is 

provided along the dry canal and the Luas line from Fatima stretching up as far as 

Blackhorse. A particular issue has been raised by local residents regarding the 

provision of quality lighting by BAM on its hoarding near Rialto Bridge and whether 

this could be extended along the whole away on the hoarding as far as Fatima Luas 

Stop. I understand Linear Park Phase 1 is due to begin, but would the provision of 

this lighting on a short-term basis for the duration of this winter period be possible as 

a stopgap? 

 

Q24 Councillor Darragh Moriarty 
To ask the Director of Services if it’s possible for the Area Office to provide monthly 

updates on the roll out of green and brown bins in social housing across the South 

Central Area. I understand that a successful pilot project was completed in South 

East Area in late 2019, and that a plan has been put in place to roll the project out to 

the remaining Areas on a phased basis and that South Central Area was chosen for 

Phase 2 and preliminary work began in March 2020, but was subsequently 

suspended due to the advent of the current pandemic.  

 

Q25 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services, how much money was spent on detection, collection 
and disposal of bonfire material in DSC over the Halloween season? 

 
Q26 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services what was the total weight of bonfire material collected 
in DSC during the Halloween season?  
 

Q27 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services what is the legal update on the challenge to the 
Springvale development Chapelizod and will it have any impact on the completion 
date?  
 

Q28 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services can she confirm when, (details supplied), will have 
her house insulated? 

 
Q29 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services for a report in tabular form on numbers of applicants 
on each of DCC housing and transfer lists for areas J,K & L, to include those on 
bands 1,2 and 3 etc and please include time bands of 1, 2, 3, 4, and over 5 years.  
 

Q30 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services what actions, in 2020, have been taken to target 
illegal dumping on Tyrconnell Road and in the Bluebell area?  
 

Q31 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the Park West-Cherry Orchard LAP? 
 

Page 90



 
Q32 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services for an update on the construction of affordable homes 
in Cherry Orchard, including design, plans, funding and timeframe?  
 

  

Page 91



 

Page 92



Page 1 of 1

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

30/10/2020
South Central Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 18/11/2020)
4 Items

1 7005898 MOURNE ROAD (SC) Dublin 12Disab Park Bay
Residential

Disabled parking bay for this
location.

1Member of
the Public

Recommended SR recommended – After a site visit it was noted that there was a
high demand for parking in the area. For this reason a disabled
parking bay is recommended outside number 93 Mourne Road -
Stat – install a disabled bay parallel to the kerb centred outside
number 93 Mourne Road.

12/11/2018

2 7015192 MARTIN'S ROW (SC) Dublin 20Traffic Calming Concern regarding volume,
speed of traffic on Martins Row.

2Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Martins Row has 3 pinch points which have road markings and
signage put in place at all 3 locations in both directions to warn
motorists of the danger ahead. It is worth noting that a special
speed limit of 30km near the St Patricks School during school
hours.
With all these improvements in place and being closely
monitored, it was felt that there is not a speeding problem, but to
verify this, a speed survey was carried out. The speed survey has
found that the 85th percentile speed on Martins Row is only
29km/hr which is well below the speed limit of 50 km/hr. During
the survey which took place on Wednesday September 23, 2020,
7:00 AM - Thursday, September 24, 2020,7:00 AM, it was noted
that there was only 0.01% speeding violations during the 24 hr
period.
As a result, no further measures are recommended at this stage,
but Dublin City Council will continue to monitor the area closely.
Traffic volumes are an ongoing problem but this is due to limited
capacity of the local road network. Dublin City Council promotes
sustainable transport measures such as walking cycling and
public transport.

08/06/2020

3 7017308 CLARENCE MANGAN
ROAD (SC)

Dublin 8Disab Park Bay
Residential

outside 31. 0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

The address doesn't qualify for a disabled parking bay as there is
a driveway at the side of the house.

12/10/2020

4 90048856 SP_37725 KYLEMORE ROAD
(SC)

Dublin 10Pedestrian
Crossing

Request for pedestrian crossing
on Kylemore Rd south of
Bluebell Avenue.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended SR recommended. After several site inspections the area
engineer would recommend the installation of a  Pedestrian
crossing at this location. This has been put forward for
consideration for the future works programme.

27/04/2017

P
age 93





Traffic Service Requests,  

Status Report at 15/10/2020  

South Central Area Committee Meeting 18/11/2020 
 

 

Traffic Advisory Group (TAG) Service Request Statistics 

 

 

 

 

Breakdown of TAG Requests currently open on Confirm 

 

Stage 1 0 

Stage 2 122 

Stage 3 1 

Stage 4 35 

Stage 5 32 

Appeal 1 

 

General traffic service requests not requiring Statutory Orders. 
 
Total Non Tag requests received since previous 
report 

4 

Total Non Tag requests currently open on 
Confirm. 

128 

 

 

Traffic Advisory Group Status Reports 

Explanation of Stages: 

 Stage 1 -  Set up file, Assignment to Engineer, etc 

 Stage 2 - Assessment, Site surveys, review statutory orders, etc 

 Stage 3 - Consultations, with Garda, Dublin Bus, Luas, NTA, Local residents / businesses, etc 

 Stage 4 - Decision, TAG group, statutory orders, etc 

 Stage 5 - Implementation, signs, lines, construction, signal changes, certifications, etc 

 

No. TAG Requests received since previous report  
4 

Total TAG Requests currently open on Confirm 
191 

Page 95





Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

1 90045579 SP_27667 CHERRY ORCHARD AVENUE
(SC)

Pedestrian Crossing at junction of Blackditch Rd and Cherry
Orchard Ave.

09/11/2015 11:44:202

2 90047618 SP_36472 BASIN STREET LOWER (SC) Cycle Track request for cycle lane on Basin View 09/02/2017 15:53:322

3 90048435 SP_37298 OSCAR SQUARE (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Introduction of Scheme on the road. 03/04/2017 10:47:432

4 90048716 SP_37583 GRATTAN CRESCENT (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing, Inchicore National
School, Grattan Crescent

19/04/2017 13:23:312

5 90048834 SP_37703 CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Cycle Track request for more cycle lanes 26/04/2017 16:17:132

6 90048856 SP_37725 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing No pedestrian on Kylemore Rd south of
Bluebell Avenue, pedestrians have to walk
further up Kylemore Rd in order to cross.

27/04/2017 12:15:112

7 90049050 SP_37921 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing on all legs of the junction. 08/05/2017 20:21:242

8 90049051 SP_37922 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing on the west leg of the junction. 08/05/2017 20:22:502

9 90049155 SP_38028 CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Cycle Track through the village 15/05/2017 16:53:282

10 90049816 SP_38699 GREENVILLE AVENUE (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Extend Area) Request to extend area outside 5 Greenville
Avenue to include two parking spaces.

14/06/2017 11:49:582

11 90050178 SP_39065 MEATH STREET (SC) Pedestrian Zone carry out necessary feasibility study for the
street

06/07/2017 12:50:192

12 90050559 SP_39457 EMERALD SQUARE (SC) Double Yellow Lines outside and adjacent to No. 1. 31/07/2017 15:21:502

13 90051520 SP_40429 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Request for pedestrian crossing at site of
new park

22/09/2017 10:24:382

14 90051548 SP_40457 WORMWOOD GATE (SC) Pedestrian Crossing across Wormwood Gate at junction with
Bridge Street

26/09/2017 00:00:002

15 90051765 SP_40679 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Outside Gael Scoil Inchicore 06/10/2017 00:00:002

16 7001529 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Cycle Track Extend cycle lane towards luas tracks 01/02/2018 10:11:412

17 7001530 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) extned hours of clearway cars constantly
blocking cycle lane

01/02/2018 10:12:562

18 7002451 PIM STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) extend the dyls by 6 meters to the same
length as the continuous white line .

17/04/2018 08:33:112

19 7002903 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction with La Fanu Rd 17/05/2018 09:47:572

20 7002979 BELLEVUE (SC) Coach Parking Change Bus Stop to Coach Bay 21/05/2018 16:29:352

21 7004014 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) extend hours of clearway between above
roads

30/07/2018 11:49:442

22 7004039 WALKINSTOWN AVENUE (SC) ITS Right Turn Filter Light Without the aid of a right turn traffic light,
motorists find turning right at this junction
very unsafe and difficult to gauge

31/07/2018 09:26:092

23 7005071 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Traffic Calming Review of junction 25/09/2018 12:30:052

24 7005226 OLD NAAS ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing for high number of
employees crossing between buildings.

03/10/2018 12:45:362

25 7005898 MOURNE ROAD (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential Disabled parking bay for this location. 12/11/2018 15:11:442

Page 1 of 12

Page 97



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

26 7005967 JAMES'S WALK (SC) Traffic Calming difficult to get from one side of James’ Walk 14/11/2018 11:18:402

27 7006145 SAINT LAURENCE ROAD (SC) Traffic Lights (new) Additional light for visibility purposes for
traffic turning left over bridge towards
Phoenix Park.

21/11/2018 17:55:442

28 7006291 Q 14 21/11/2018RIALTO COTTAGES (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Where Rialto Cottages meet the Luas line 30/11/2018 10:11:022

29 7006296 Q. 36 21/11/2018LE FANU ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming on the road 30/11/2018 11:05:522

30 7006314 CHAPELIZOD BYPASS (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend yellow box to ensure traffic from
Ballyfermot & Chapelizod both have
sufficient space.

30/11/2018 12:52:242

31 7006352 SAINT LAURENCE ROAD (SC) Yellow Box On the road 04/12/2018 11:22:052

32 7006533 FRANCIS STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing at this location. 12/12/2018 13:24:182

33 7006935 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Parking bay between BS 1348 and Spencer
Street South be removed

21/01/2019 09:32:142

34 7007100 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Continuous White Line Place markings to highlight that there are
two lanes.

28/01/2019 12:30:422

35 7007101 SUIR ROAD (SC) Continuous White Line Place markings to highlight that there are
two lanes.

28/01/2019 12:34:042

36 7007182 CORK STREET (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Install more visible lighting, or a filter light at
this junction.

31/01/2019 16:30:212

37 7007246 MOUNTSHANNON ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Measures to deal with speeding and
increased traffic from hospital.

05/02/2019 16:03:002

38 7007247 MAYFIELD ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Measures to deal with speeding and
increased traffic from hospital.

05/02/2019 16:07:062

39 7007294 SUIR ROAD (SC) ITS Right Turn Filter Light where Suir Road meets Bulfin Road 07/02/2019 16:13:012

40 7007597 Q 27 SCAC FEB 19LE FANU ROAD (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit When was ban lifted/removed? 25/02/2019 11:41:512

41 7007843 MEATH PLACE (SC) Traffic Calming On the road 11/03/2019 09:15:542

42 11077011 2432726 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing on the road 19/03/2019 12:23:222

43 7008491 NEWMARKET STREET (SC) Traffic Calming "Children-at-play" signage and speed ramps. 15/04/2019 15:31:172

44 7008492 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this location. 15/04/2019 15:50:002

45 7008552 PIM STREET (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Permit parking scheme for this location. 17/04/2019 16:34:532

46 7008599 LUCAN ROAD (SC) Bus Lane between west of Belgrove Park and
Maryfield Nursing Home. (End of Bus Lane
and measurement required for Stat for this
section of Bus Lane).

23/04/2019 11:10:082

47 7008757 CHAPELIZOD BYPASS (SC) Yield Sign (Rescind) Rescind Yield sign at traffic lights at this
junction.

30/04/2019 16:57:182

48 7008812 VICTORIA QUAY (SC) Cycle Track Cycle lane for this location. 02/05/2019 17:54:252

49 7008880 VAUXHALL AVENUE (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit Restriction for heavy vehicles to safeguard
pedestrians.

07/05/2019 16:14:322

Page 2 of 12

Page 98



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

50 7009006 GREENVILLE AVENUE (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures to prevent vehicles
speeding from Donore Avenue.

13/05/2019 15:29:042

51 7009041 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines Outside 376 South Circular Road 14/05/2019 12:10:032

52 7009098 IRWIN STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing requested, due to
frequency & speed of traffic at this location.

15/05/2019 15:21:062

53 7009116 MEATH STREET (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit Restrict access on roads leading onto Meath
Street, as it is too narrow to accomodate
recent increase in HGV traffic.

16/05/2019 13:22:052

54 7009186 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs for each side of entrance to Annamore
Court, to prevent obstruction by parked cars.

17/05/2019 18:08:342

55 7009232 BUNTING ROAD (SC) No Right Turn (Rescind) Rescind "No Right Turn" to prevent
rat-running through Harty Road, Thomas
Moore Road & Walkinstown Road.

20/05/2019 16:31:472

56 7009399 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) School Warden Outside the Griffith Barracks Multi Denom
School, Carry out in September

28/05/2019 13:21:522

57 7009552 HERBERTON ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Crossing from Rialto into Crumlin. 05/06/2019 16:47:342

58 7009582 RAHEEN PARK (SC) Traffic Calming Speed ramps, speed limit signs &
"children-at-play" signs for the road.

06/06/2019 18:13:012

59 7009646 MILL STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines access and egress issues at the location due
to new developments in the vicinity of
Warrenmount Centre

11/06/2019 19:13:112

60 7009776 HARCOURT LODGE (SC) Parking Restrictions Parking restrictions to preserve access for
bin collection & storage.

18/06/2019 16:53:362

61 7009787 OLIVER BOND STREET (SC) Traffic Calming traffic calming or other measures to prevent
use of Oliver Bond Street as a rat-run.

19/06/2019 13:09:222

62 7009872 HERBERTON ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions 24/06/2019 09:56:012

63 7009879 DONORE AVENUE (SC) Parking Restrictions Donore Avenue junction with Cork Street. 24/06/2019 12:01:592

64 7009988 CLEGGAN AVENUE (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures to prevent
speeding between ramps, along by the
green area.

28/06/2019 15:23:172

65 7010209 ERRIGAL ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions 11/07/2019 09:15:382

66 7010228 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) at junction with R148 12/07/2019 15:22:262

67 7010709 DONORE AVENUE (SC) School Warden outside Dunore Credit Union. Request from
Resident Association.

08/08/2019 10:05:032

68 7010915 Q 44 SCAC 07/19LA TOUCHE ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs to deal with double-parking and
"park-and-ride" commuters from the LUAS
stop.

21/08/2019 09:43:422

69 7010992 BRIDGE STREET UPPER (SC) Cycle Track Cycle lane and advance stop box for
crossing the bridge when traveling from the
top of the hill.

26/08/2019 12:21:422

70 7011010 CON COLBERT ROAD (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend yellow box on inbound lane to
facilitate buses merging into general traffic
from the bus lane.

26/08/2019 15:23:052

71 7011091 GRATTAN CRESCENT (SC) Advance Cycle Stop Line Install advance stop line at traffic lights. 30/08/2019 16:37:462

Page 3 of 12

Page 99



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

72 7011448 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Cycle Track Extend existing cycle lane in Rialto up to
Haroldville Avenue, and install 24hr signage.

20/09/2019 15:34:582

73 7011451 OLD KILMAINHAM (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing or zebra crossing for
this junction, particularly for residents
coming from Brookfield Road.

23/09/2019 12:23:372

74 7011708 Q 20 SCAC 10/19OLD KILMAINHAM (SC) Yellow Box At the junction with Brookfield Road 08/10/2019 11:24:312

75 7011718 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Cycle Track Extend cycle track approximately 100m
alongside Luas track running beside Mary
Aikenhead House.

08/10/2019 12:36:312

76 7011850 NAAS ROAD (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Change hours on inbound and outbound
lanes to 24/7.

16/10/2019 14:50:192

77 7011881 KEVIN STREET UPPER (SC) Left Turn Only Left Turn Only and No Entry signage for this
exit.

17/10/2019 16:07:192

78 7011987 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Bus Lane Can the bus lanes on both sides of this
junction be changed here to extend the
whole way to the stopline with a left turn
except buses road marking.
On both sides private cars travelling straight
ahead use the left lane when there's
congestion which delays buses.

23/10/2019 14:13:452

79 7012368 INCHICORE ROAD (SC) Cycle Track Road markings show that cyclists are
expected to share the motorists lane.
RUS009 is shown. W143 is more
appropriate. It might help if "Cyclists Sharing
the Road" was also included under the sign.

12/11/2019 12:26:312

80 7012406 PARK WEST AVENUE (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing requested due to
increase in commuters at this location.

13/11/2019 16:19:442

81 7012783 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing for crossing east to west
across South Circular Road.

04/12/2019 16:47:142

82 7013012 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines either side of new traffic island outsie St
Andrews community hall.

17/12/2019 12:00:352

83 7013266 FORBES LANE (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Request to widen footpath 14/01/2020 11:59:492

84 7013300 BALFE ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming The speeding of cars going up and down the
lane is dangerous as they are coming out of
the pubs and getting in to their vehicles and
driving at a dangerous speed as a result my
dog was run over and killed recently due to
this.
It appears people are using this lane to avoid
using the main road, the speed and
congestion on this lane needs to be
considered.

16/01/2020 12:30:172

85 7013407 LUCAN ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Various traffic calming measures for this
section of Lucan Road.

23/01/2020 12:05:162

86 7013455 THOMAS COURT (SC) Entry Treatment Entry treatment, ramps, and/or cycling logos
to increase safety for cyclists on Thomas
Court.

24/01/2020 12:49:522

87 7013517 BLUEBELL ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions Alleviate the Traffic congestion around
Bluebell Community Centre when there are
football matches taking place.

28/01/2020 17:06:382

88 7013598 THOMAS STREET (SC) No Left Turn No Left Turns from John's Lane West &
John Street West to Thomas Street from
6am-10am.

31/01/2020 12:08:232

Page 4 of 12

Page 100



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

89 7013599 THOMAS STREET (SC) No Right Turn No right turn from Thomas Street to John's
Lane West.
Signage/lining is not consistent
Currently there is a turn ban in the PM peak
from Thomas st to John Street West.the
road markings here are dashed.
There is no turn ban for traffic turning into
John's Lane west. There is a solid  white line
here.
Can a turn ban be implemented to restrict
vehicles turning into John's Lane west?
Should this ban be a permanent ban to
match up with the road marking?
Can signage/road markings be reviewed

31/01/2020 12:21:552

90 7013724 CLADDAGH GREEN (SC) Disab Park Bay General Assess existing parking space, and dished
footpath, to see if both are fit for purpose.

07/02/2020 16:39:412

91 7013938 LUCAN ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query In accordance with Smarter Travel (2009)
priority to be given to the pedestrian and the
crossing pedestrian over that of the car. This
could include, but is not limited to, shorter
wait times for pedestrians at these crossing
points. A higher visual presence of
pedestrian crossings to highlight their priority
over vehicles. This could include, but is not
limited to, road markings and pavement and
road treatments, reduced corner radii,
all-round pedestrian phase crossing,
pedestrian refuges etc.

20/02/2020 11:14:312

92 7014072 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Loading Bay Loading bay for shops and apartments at
Clancy Quay.

28/02/2020 12:06:412

93 7014083 MEATH STREET (SC) Pedestrian Zone Meath Street is a wonderful street, but I think
it could be made much more accessible to
wheelchair users if on-street parking was to
be prohibited or minimised, and if it was
pedestrianised at least occasionally.
Presently, the footpaths are very narrow and
it is difficult to navigate

02/03/2020 10:11:102

94 7014395 PIMLICO (SC) Traffic Calming Consider zebra crossing and traffic calming. 16/03/2020 15:08:252

95 7014489 REHOBOTH PLACE (SC) Parking Restrictions DYLs, Clearway or other measures to
prevent obstruction of access at laneway for
emergency services.

26/03/2020 10:53:362

96 7014510 CHAPELIZOD BYPASS (SC) TAG General Engineer Query I would like your department to look into the
traffic lights pictures attached on N4 just
before palmerstown bridge is or would cause
a major accident. I use this road on daily
basis and manyy road users are confused
when the lights turn road by slowing down, I
have experienced and seen many drivers
nearly stopping on the N4 most especially
tourist or people that are not familiar using
that road. The lights is always on red when
there are no on coming public bus. Besides
if you look at the lights is actually facing the
highway. I am greatly concerned about this
to prevent any serious accident.

06/04/2020 14:36:382

97 7014634 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) SCR inbound just pass the entrance to
McCanns Builders Providers where the bus
lane ends and the clearways starts is a free
spot outside clearway hours 7am -10am,
vehicles are using this spot for all day
parking after 10am, which is adding to traffic
chaos especially during rush hour

23/04/2020 08:52:092

98 7014720 RAFTERS ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Records relating to when they were installed
and why?

30/04/2020 09:01:262

Page 5 of 12

Page 101



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

99 7014831 BALLYFERMOT DRIVE (SC) Yield Sign At the junction of ballyfermot drive and
ballyfermot avenue. As cars turn right at the
park onto the avenue from the drive

05/05/2020 13:11:252

100 7014842 CHERRY ORCHARD AVENUE
(SC)

TAG General Engineer Query Could we expand the existing speed bumps
on Cherryorchard Avenue. The existing
speed bumps on Clover Hill Road are very
effective. This is a residential area with many
children playing outside. I would ask that this
matter is taken urgently because with Covid
restrictions, more children are playing
outside all day long , and also unfortunately
joyriders are speeding there when kids are
outside.
""The avenue is a large main road with
inverted ramps (for buses) so people drive
up and down at easily 80 to 90k ph...it is only
a matter of time before a child is killed as
there are lots of young children living on this
road."
from a resident

06/05/2020 11:22:142

101 7014942 SUIR ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Zone (Rescind) Suir road, Herberton, dolphin and sallys
bridge are huge barriers to pedestrians
either crossing canal or going along it.
Please make sure pedestrian crossings are
put in ASAP.  If it takes too long to put in
pedestrian crossings, please review light
timing and ensure traffic stops all red 4 ways
for enough time for pedestrians to assert
themselves on the junctions.This spine of
travel is very important to many families
coming from residential areas towards
schools in Griffith, St Clares, St
Catherines,Educate Together, Harolds X etc.
etc.    Please make it safe for children and
their parents to cross the street safely.

11/05/2020 16:05:402

102 7015061 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query I feel the residents have put together a vary
measured,  reasonable and feasible
proposal that should be considered both
short term and long term

22/05/2020 11:07:042

103 7015093 DONARD ROAD (SC) Children Crossing Sign Could TAG please give consideration to the
following request from local residents ? the
placing of a children at play signs for Donard
Road Drimnagh .This is a one way road with
cars parked on both sides,the amount of
families  with children have increased
significantly over the last few years, with
many near accidents. Residents are willing
to erect the signs themselves if the council
supply them and allow them to put them up.

27/05/2020 10:41:132

104 7015098 SANDFORD AVENUE (SC) One-Way System ?Making Sandford Avenue one way by
reducing to single lane access on both
entrances thus deterring needless through
traffic and

ensuring speed awareness
?Installing Speed bumps at intervals to
deter motorists from exceeding the limit.
That they accelerate on this short road is
evidence enough of the inherent danger of
the current configuration
?Place Planters at intervals to create a
chicane on the road to supplement or as an
alternative to the speed bumps suggestion

27/05/2020 12:15:002

105 7015164 DRIMNAGH ROAD (SC) One-Way System one-way traffic trial system for minor roads in
Drimnagh while maintaining the two-way
system on main through fare

05/06/2020 15:01:102

106 7015194 CHERRY ORCHARD GREEN
(SC)

Traffic Calming Request for ramp at entrance to Cherry
Orchard Green

08/06/2020 14:45:432

Page 6 of 12

Page 102



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

107 7015208 USHER STREET (SC) One-Way System Traffic would then simply need to pass the
first left after the petrol station and take the
left at the traffic lights to come around onto
Ushers Street from the other side. While I
know this could be slightly inconvenient for
our  neighbouring flats in Oliver Bond, this
could also reduce the amount of cars cutting
through Oliver Bond as they come from
Oliver Bond Street to Ushers Quay trying to
avoid the traffic build up on Lower Bridge
Street.

09/06/2020 11:05:182

108 7015521 THOMAS STREET (SC) No Left Turn 23/06/2020 10:50:392

109 7015584 MOURNE ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Residents pointing out to me that we need
dished kerb here 248 Mourne Rd. Both sides
of the road, to enable wheelchair users,
strollers, eldeliers etc... to safely cross the
road.  Would DCC be able to start the work
on this?

24/06/2020 09:05:282

110 7015867 Q1 SCAC 07 20CLANBRASSIL CLOSE (SC) Traffic Calming Requesting ramp, yellow box, speed limit
sign and cul-de-sac sign

06/07/2020 09:34:332

111 7015868 Q 12 SCAC 07 20CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Ongoing problems at junction with Mullingar
House

06/07/2020 09:46:482

112 7015888 ARDEE STREET (SC) Traffic Calming See attached Council question. 06/07/2020 15:29:592

113 7015915 ROBERT EMMET WALK (SC) Parking Restrictions issues with Robert Emmet Close and he
suggested talking to yourself.
1.I?ve attached photo of one problem
corner. A number of long wheel base vans
are parking in the corner and encroaching
onto road. Is there a possible solution that
you would recommend? Extension of yellow
lines or plastic bollards.
2.This point is from a residents meeting
prior to me joining the office: ?Yellow Lines
To Be Redone In The Whole Estate &
Continued On Up To The Goshers Yard In
Robert Emmet Close, Letters To Be Sent
Out To The Resident In Number 9 Robert
Emmet Close & The Former Tenant Of
Number 12 Robert Emmet Close, who Both
Park Their Vans Up On The Footpath,
blocking Wheelchair And Disabled Peoples
Access To The Pathways, Of which There
Are A Number Of Wheelchair Users In The
Estate. Goshers Yard To Be Looked At By
An Engineer & Secured. Boulders To Be
Removed, So As To Stop Addicts
Congregating & Injecting Around Young
People?.

09/07/2020 09:23:012

114 7015976 BLUEBELL ROAD (SC) Disab Park Bay General Can this wheelchair spot be extended to
facilitate the raft of wheelchair accessible
Van's using bluebell community facilities. Is
there any other measures that will alleviate
the problems here. Did you get a chance to
look at the donut area at bernard curtis court
further up the road. Ramps were mentioned
by the area office. is this possible?

16/07/2020 09:36:382

Page 7 of 12

Page 103



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

115 7016580 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) This point is from a residents meeting
prior to me joining the office: ?Yellow Lines
To Be Redone In The Whole Estate &
Continued On Up To The Goshers Yard In
Robert Emmet Close, Letters To Be Sent
Out To The Resident In Number 9 Robert
Emmet Close & The Former Tenant Of
Number 12 Robert Emmet Close, who Both
Park Their Vans Up On The Footpath,
blocking Wheelchair And Disabled Peoples
Access To The Pathways, Of which There
Are A Number Of Wheelchair Users In The
Estate. Goshers Yard To Be Looked At By
An Engineer & Secured. Boulders To Be
Removed, So As To Stop Addicts
Congregating & Injecting Around Young
People?.

31/08/2020 09:17:312

116 7016623 THOMAS MOORE ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming traffic speeding up the road at approx. 80
KM per hour they urgently needs Ramps,
Traffic signs

01/09/2020 14:52:202

117 7016626 JAMESTOWN ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Rescind) I am currently a resident at 66 Jamestown
Road Inchicore Dublin 08 and have been for
the past 12 years. In the last two weeks
there has been a substantial increase in the
enforcement of the parking rules by
yourselves, both on the weekend and during
the week. I understand that the parking
restrictions are for trucks delivering to the
industrial estate at the top of our road during
the week.  Is there a way to have the double
yellow lines changed to a single yellow line
which would allow us to park outside our
homes on the weekend and after business
hours?..

02/09/2020 11:16:182

118 7016628 SAINT LAURENCE ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Request for more speed ramps on St.
Lawrence's Road, Chapelizod. There's some
as you go down the hill under bridge but
there are none at the houses so cars are
speeding. Will be lethal during winter nights.
Also need more speed signs

02/09/2020 12:43:062

119 7016648 GALTYMORE ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions The difficulty our customers have getting
parking outside of our shops has
progressively become worse in recent times.
Many cars parked outside the shops don't
move from early morning to late in the
evening which suggests many people are
using these already limited spaces as a park
and ride for the Drimnagh luas stop which is
situated nearby. We currently have no way
of stopping this from happening. We feel that
the parking directly outside of our shops
should be reserved solely for customers who
are using the local shops and businesses.

03/09/2020 12:53:232

120 7016944 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions Convex mirror, or other measures, to
eliminate traffic visibility issues at exit to
Saint James's Wood.

17/09/2020 17:29:192

121 7017116 MAIDEN ROW (SC) Traffic Calming look at putting in place traffic speed
reduction measures on maidens’ row
Chapelizod from St Patricks School to the
base of Knockmaroon Hill Dublin 20

29/09/2020 13:49:312

Page 8 of 12

Page 104



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

122 7017153 ARDEE STREET (SC) No Parking (Rescind) I write to you in relation to a parking matter
on Ardee Street, Dublin 8. See attached
photo.
Residents in the three houses use the space
right outside their front door for parking.
There is no other parking available to these
residents as the space directly across from
their houses has ?no parking signs?.
The residents in question also feel that
parking outside their own property is
responsible and that they have been unfairly
warned and causes no interference to any
pedestrians walking on the footpath.
Additionally the residents also feel safer
parking their cars as it provides them the
opportunity to keep an eye on their vehicles.
Could I please ask that some leniency be
shown to the residents in question and that
they would still be able to park outside their
properties.

01/10/2020 10:08:192

123 7000653 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Parking at Nos. 480-490. partial scheme.Other
residents notified

29/11/2017 10:40:533

124 90044747 SP_12251 JOHN DILLON STREET (SC) School Ahead Sign on Thomas Davis St Sth & John Dillon St. 12/05/2014 10:52:454

125 90044771 SP_12638 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Across Bridgefoot Street at Usher's Quay. 29/05/2014 13:32:154

126 90045183 SP_18499 KYLEMORE WAY (SC) Speed Ramps on the road. 04/06/2015 15:25:454

127 90045603 SP_27824 PARK WEST AVENUE (SC) Traffic Island at the roundabout, towards the Nangor
Road, on the hotel side of the road.

16/11/2015 15:43:364

128 90048110 SP_36969 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Add Pedestrian Phase at the junction of Chapelizod Hill
Road/Kylemore Road/Le Fanu Road.

10/03/2017 15:41:564

129 90048570 SP_37433 BRIDGE STREET LOWER (SC) Add Pedestrian Phase Full wrap-around 07/04/2017 08:51:194

130 90049088 SP_37959 JAMES'S WALK (SC) Double Yellow Lines at the entrance to Nos. 64-74. 10/05/2017 10:16:544

131 7000767 REUBEN STREET (SC) Speed Ramps Speed survey for the increase in traffic
volume.

06/12/2017 11:52:164

132 7001340 LE FANU ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing at St. John's College
Ballyfermot.

22/01/2018 12:35:584

133 7001700 CLADDAGH GREEN (SC) Double Yellow Lines Review parking & traffic situation. 14/02/2018 18:23:504

134 7002016 CONVENT LAWNS (SC) Parking Restrictions in Convent Lawns. 14/03/2018 13:34:034

135 7002021 NEWMARKET (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Request for traffic study to be carried out in
area

15/03/2018 09:23:134

136 7003855 HERBERTON PARK (SC) Roundabout Traffic Calming roundabout 18/07/2018 12:34:354

137 7003919 GREENVILLE PARADE (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLS full way along railing as
emergency vehicles are finding it difficult to
access terrace

23/07/2018 15:26:414

138 7004541 BRIDGE STREET LOWER (SC) Double Yellow Lines between Oliver Bond Street and the Taxi
Rank at the Brazen Head.

28/08/2018 13:20:254

139 7005301 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Add Pedestrian Phase Add pedestrian phase for safety of older
residents of Annamore Court.

08/10/2018 14:42:404

140 7008550 BULFIN COURT (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing to assist wheelchair
users.

17/04/2019 15:30:524

Page 9 of 12

Page 105



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

141 7009187 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing 17/05/2019 18:16:004

142 7009398 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) School Keep Clear School road markings outside the school
entrance. Dyls either side of the School keep
clear markings as well. and school
ahead/children crossing sign

28/05/2019 13:19:414

143 7009777 O'REILLY AVENUE (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs at corner opposite no. 189 to allow
safe exit from driveway on narrow road.

18/06/2019 17:32:174

144 7010100 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Build-Out 05/07/2019 12:44:484

145 7010230 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query extend existing pencil bollards at the slip
road for R148

12/07/2019 16:12:094

146 7010491 MERCHANT'S QUAY (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Change of hours for all bus lanes North and
south quays from Winetavern Street to
Heuston Station to include Sunday 07.00 to
19.00

25/07/2019 13:09:294

147 7010588 Q 33 JULY 2019ROSSMORE DRIVE (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Ramp to access footsteps 30/07/2019 11:56:274

148 7011832 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) School Ahead Sign School Ahead signage for Griffith Barracks
MDS.

15/10/2019 16:33:154

149 7012106 LISLE ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines To facilitate deliveries 29/10/2019 15:50:194

150 7013168 MARROWBONE LANE (SC) Cycle Track Change cycle lane to 24 hour operating, and
realign section of outbound cycle track along
the nose in parking so that cyclists are not
forced to the left.

07/01/2020 13:17:334

151 7014301 USHER'S QUAY (SC) Yellow Box Yellow box for HSE day hospital. 10/03/2020 17:59:104

152 7014819 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Yellow Box requested a yellow box at the entrance to the
Senior Citizens complex on Chapelizod Hill
Road.

05/05/2020 11:10:504

153 7015192 MARTIN'S ROW (SC) Traffic Calming Concern regarding volume, speed of traffic
on Martins Row.

08/06/2020 14:27:114

154 7015340 BONHAM STREET (SC) Traffic Calming Pay & Display parking on both  sides of the
road  is reducing access for heavy
construction traffic to the Bonham Street site
where DCC are constructing Housing.

18/06/2020 15:33:324

155 7015583 MALLIN AVENUE (SC) Disab Park Bay Resid (Rescind) Resident no longer lives there 24/06/2020 08:38:294

156 7015963 RIALTO COTTAGES (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential Disabled parking bay for this location. 14/07/2020 16:47:244

157 7016786 BROOKFIELD STREET (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential Disabled parking bay for 9 Adelaide Terrace. 10/09/2020 16:56:584

158 7017308 CLARENCE MANGAN ROAD
(SC)

Disab Park Bay Residential outside 31. 12/10/2020 14:16:304

159 90045511 SP_20953 ERRIGAL ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing at the junction with Drimnagh road, outside
the Ronald McDonald House

21/10/2015 14:26:205

160 90045521 SP_20998 KILMAINHAM LANE (SC) No U Turn Cars coming of Chapelizod Byepass and
trying to do a U turn at the entrance to the
War Memorial Gardens

22/10/2015 15:52:365

161 90049995 SP_38880 CLARENCE MANGAN ROAD
(SC)

P&D/Permit Parking from 07:00 to 24:00,
in conjunction with a one-way system (see
SR38881).
 
 

26/06/2017 11:37:595

Page 10 of 12

Page 106



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

162 7000683 TURVEY AVENUE (SC) Stop Sign on Turvey Avenue at the junction of Emmet
Road.

30/11/2017 09:14:215

163 7001522 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) Extend Clearway hours on section between
the end of the bus lane and the Luas Tracks.

31/01/2018 14:34:315

164 7001900 WARRENMOUNT PLACE (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

Extension of Pay & display Hours  24/7 06/03/2018 13:17:275

165 7002981 THOMAS COURT (SC) Yield Sign At junction 21/05/2018 16:31:455

166 7003849 THOMAS STREET (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Looking to convert the outbound/inbound
bus lane on Thomas street between
Bridgefoot Street and Watling Street to 7am
to 7pm

18/07/2018 11:50:025

167 7004563 SAINT CATHERINE'S LANE
WEST (SC)

Parking Restrictions Cars parked in laneway making it difficult for
pedestrians to walk through.

29/08/2018 11:16:135

168 7005728 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Parking scheme for this location. Mon-Sat
07.00 to 19.00 approved. MH

01/11/2018 13:30:295

169 7006863 THOMAS COURT (SC) Stop Sign Review of junction as it is very dangerous
and there have been a number of near
accidents.

15/01/2019 11:43:115

170 7007243 GALTYMORE ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Stop sign or Yield sign 05/02/2019 15:35:305

171 7008122 CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Cycle Track Bus Stop recommendations 27/03/2019 15:13:295

172 7008333 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) South Circular Road from the junction with
Donore road to Mason Technology.

09/04/2019 12:37:405

173 7009060 CLOVERHILL DRIVE (SC) Children Crossing Sign "Children-at-play" signage requested due to
speeding on this road.

14/05/2019 16:35:515

174 7009554 CATHERINE STREET (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential outside No. 6. 05/06/2019 17:09:495

175 7009864 BALLYFERMOT ROAD (SC) No Right Turn No Right Turn to prevent vehicles turning
into the industrial estate from creating a
pinch point at this location.

21/06/2019 16:19:585

176 7009878 TYRCONNELL PARK (SC) Children Crossing Sign Request for Children Crossing Sign and also
Cul-de-Sac Sign

24/06/2019 11:25:235

177 7011852 BIGGER ROAD (SC) Yield Sign on the road. 16/10/2019 15:18:315

178 7011991 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:37:035

179 7011992 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:38:465

180 7011993 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:40:445

181 7011994 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:43:165

182 7011995 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:45:265

183 7011996 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:49:535

184 7011997 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Yield sign for this junction. 23/10/2019 15:51:265

185 7012195 WASHINGTON STREET (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Change operational hours to 7.00 – 10.00
and 16.00-19.00

01/11/2019 15:10:565

Page 11 of 12

Page 107



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 28 October 2020
191 Items

Status

186 7012957 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Install additional Yield signage due to new
flashing amber arrow for left turn onto Naas
Road.

13/12/2019 13:50:115

187 7013156 LONG MILE ROAD (SC) No U Turn No U-Turn signage for this junction. 06/01/2020 15:47:165

188 7013401 JAMES'S WALK (SC) Double Yellow Lines Install DYLs beside Basin View & School. 22/01/2020 13:02:215

189 7013710 CLADDAGH GREEN (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend double yellow lines, particularly
towards Claddagh Road junction.

07/02/2020 13:23:305

190 7014501 RAHEEN PARK (SC) Bus Stop/Sign (New) BUS STOP MOVED 27/03/2020 11:06:505

191 7015969 MILL STREET (SC) Loading Bay or DYL or SYL to enable loading &
unloading.

15/07/2020 12:53:52A

Page 12 of 12

Page 108



Estate Renewal

Oliver Bond House

P
age 109



Ballybough House Pilot Project

Designed in 1940s by renowned City Architect, Herbert Simms.

Building is solid, improvements made over 80 years, but flats are below space 
standards for new, expensive to heat and at risk of condensation.

Pilot will amalgamate 2 flats into 1 and deep renovate to demonstrate it is 
possible to improve accommodation while respecting fabric

Renovation measures

 Walls insulated internally with cork-based lime plaster

 PVC windows from 1980s replaced with historically appropriate aluminium 
glazing. 

 Heat pump will replace the gas boiler

 Achieve B1 BER (NZEB for retrofit)

 Cost estimated at about 50% of equivalent new build

Renovation learning 

20 similar complexes. Learning applicable to at least 2,000 flats (Protected 
Structures)

Protected Structures and 
Buildings of Historic Interest
Pilot Project 

P
age 110



 

 

 

 

 

A91           Oliver Bond House, Dublin 8  (by HG Simms) 

Construction Date:  1936 

Number of units:   391  Number of bedsits:   4 

Number of bed spaces:     1292 

Site Area:   2.487 ha  

Density:    157 units/ha  519 bed spaces/ha                                 

Audit Date:   Jan 2019 

Priority:    Group    SP 

Site plan Aerial View 

 
 

 

So
u

th
 C

en
tr

al
 A

re
a 

 
A

9
1

  
P

age 111



Bonham St. and Bridgefoot Street Park

P
age 112



Privatised Spaces Play Areas

Vehicular Circulation Green Areas

P
age 113



Short Term works:
Environmental works- Greening

P
age 114



Short Term works:
Environmental works- Greening

P
age 115



Short Term works:
Environmental works- Greening
Regularising Parking
Provision of Bin Enclosures

P
age 116



Short Term works:
Environmental works- Greening,  Regularising Parking
Provision of Bin Enclosures

P
age 117



Long Term works:  Environmental works- Greening/  Parking / Bin Enclosures /

Re-instating Community Centre/Relocation of Football Pitch

P
age 118



Long Term works:  Environmental works- Greening/  Parking / Bin Enclosures /

Re-instating Community Centre/Relocation of Football Pitch

P
age 119



THIRD FLOOR Apt-349/2B

52.86 sqm

Apt-350/2B

47.18 sqm

Apt-351/1B

38.44 sqm

Apt-352/2B

57.09 sqm

Apt-353/2B

51.73sqm

Apt-354/2B

48.60 sqm

THIRD FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR Apt-249/2B

52.86 sqm

Apt-250/2B

47.18 sqm

Apt-251/1B

38.44 sqm

Apt-252/2B

57.09 sqm

Apt-253/2B

51.73sqm

Apt-254/2B

48.60 sqm

SECOND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR Apt-149/2B

52.86 sqm

Apt-150/2B

47.18 sqm

Apt-151/1B

38.44 sqm

Apt-152/2B

57.09 sqm

Apt-153/2B

51.73sqm

Apt-154/2B

48.60 sqm

FIRST FLOOR

GROUND FLOOR Apt -49/2B

52.86 sqm

Apt-50/2B

47.18 sqm

Apt-51 /1B

38.44 sqm

Apt -52-2B

57.09 sqm

Apt -53/2B

51.73sqm

Apt -54/2B

48.60 sqm

GROUND FLOOR

Nett Area 211.44 sqm 188.72 sqm 153.76 sqm 228.36 sqm 206.92 sqm 194.4 sqm 1183.36 sqm

4 no. 1-beds 8 Bedspaces
20 no. 2-beds 60 Bedspaces
24 no. Apts 68 Bedspaces

Block L- Existing

Block L- Proposed THIRD FLOOR Apt-349

2B

72.4 sqm

Apt-350

2B

63 sqm

Apt-351/352

3B

87.12 sqm

Apt-354/353

2B

69.4 sqm

THIRD FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR Apt-249

2B

72.4 sqm

Apt-250

2B

63 sqm 

Apt-251/252

3B

87.12 sqm

Apt-254/253

2B

69.4 sqm 

SECOND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR Apt-149

2B

72.4 sqm

Apt-1502B

2B

63 sqm

Apt-151/152

3B

87.12 sqm

Apt-154/153

2B

69.4 sqm 

FIRST FLOOR

GROUND FLOOR Apt -49

2B

72.4 sqm

Apt-50

2B

63 sqm

Apt-51 / 52

3B

87.12 sqm

Apt -54/53

2B

69.4 sqm

GROUND FLOOR

Nett Area 289.6 sqm 252 sqm 348.48 sqm 277.6 sqm 1167.68

4 no. 3-beds 20 Bedspaces
12 no. 2-beds 48 Bedspaces
16 no. Apts 68 Bedspaces

Long Term works:  Amalgamation of  Apartments

P
age 120



Amalgamation Proposal- Blocks 
L, M and N

Long Term works:  Amalgamation of  Apartments

P
age 121



Environmental 
Improvements-
Summer 2020

P
age 122



PROPOSALS
TO 

BLOCKS O, P, A & R

OLIVER BOND HOUSE- LONG TERM PROPOSALS
FOR DISCUSSION AND CONSULTATION

P
age 123



OPTION 1 
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS O, P, A & R

CAR PARK
BLOCKS O,P,A&R
16 SPACES

MAIN ENTRANCE

GARDEN WALL-
2M

BIN STORE

DRYING AREA

PLAY AREA

ACCESS TO
SHARED
CAR PARK

ACCESS TO
CHANGING 
ROOMS

GARDEN WALL
2M

NOTE: THIS IS THE IDEAL ORIENTATION OF THE FOOTBALL 
PITCH WHICH ALLOWS EMERGENCY ACCESS TO ALL BLOCKS

DRYING AREA

BIN STORE

P
age 124



OPTION  2
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS O, P, A & R

CAR PARK
BLOCKS 
O,P,A&R
16 SPACES

MAIN ENTRANCE

GARDEN WALL-
2M

BIN STORE

DRYING AREA

PLAY AREA

ACCESS TO
SHARED
CAR PARK

ACCESS TO
CHANGING 
ROOMS

GARDEN WALL
2M

DRYING AREA

BIN STORE

BIN
STOR
E

NOTE: THIS IS THE IDEAL ORIENTATION OF THE FOOTBALL 
PITCH WHICH ALLOWS EMERGENCY ACCESS TO ALL BLOCKS

P
age 125



OPTION 3
PROPOSALS

TO 
BLOCKS O, P, A & R

ACCESS TO
SHARED
CAR PARK

MAIN ENTRANCE

ACCESS TO
CHANGING 
ROOMS

GARDEN WALL
2M

BIN STORE

CAR PARK
BLOCKS 
O,P,A&R
16 SPACES

GARDEN WALL-
2M

BIN STORE

DRYING AREA

PLAY AREA

DRYING AREA
BIN
STOR
E

P
age 126



OPTION 4
PROPOSALS

TO 
BLOCKS O, P, A & RACCESS TO

SHARED
CAR PARK

MAIN ENTRANCE

ACCESS TO
CHANGING 
ROOMS

GARDEN WALL
2M

CAR PARK
BLOCKS 
O,P,A&R
16 SPACES

GARDEN WALL-
2M

BIN STORE

DRYING AREA

PLAY AREA

DRYING AREA

P
age 127



PROPOSAL
TO 

BLOCKS O, P, A & R

ACCESS TO
SHARED
CAR PARK

MAIN
ENTRANCE

ACCESS TO
CHANGING
ROOMS

GARDEN WALL 
2M

FOOTBALL PITCH

CAR PARK
BLOCKS 
O,P,A&R
16 SPACES

GARDEN WALL-
2M

BIN 
STOR
E

DRYIN
G 
AREA

PLAY 
AREA

BIN
STORE

P
age 128



PROPOSALS
TO 

BLOCKS S & T

OLIVER BOND HOUSE- LONG TERM PROPOSALS
FOR DISCUSSION AND CONSULTATION

P
age 129



OPTIONS 1 & 2
PROPOSALS

TO 
BLOCKS S & T

SHARED CAR PARK

MAIN ENTRANCE

GARDEN WALL-2M

BIN STORE

DRYING AREA

PLANTED AREA

S&TCAR PARK-8 SPACES

PLAY AREAP
age 130



OPTION 3
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS S & T

SHARED CAR PARK

MAIN ENTRANCE

GARDEN WALL-
2M

BIN STORE

DRYING AREA

PLAY AREAP
age 131



MAIN ENTRANCE

GARDEN WALL-
2M

DRYING AREA

PLAY AREA

S&TCAR PARK
8 SPACES

OPTION 3
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS S & T

P
age 132



PROPOSALS
TO 

BLOCKS B, G & H

OLIVER BOND HOUSE- LONG TERM PROPOSALS
FOR DISCUSSION AND CONSULTATION

P
age 133



OPTION 1
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS B,G & 

H

ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
H,B&G
Through
SHARED 
CAR 
PARKS

GARDEN WALL-2M

BIN STORES

PLANTED AREA

PLAY AREA

SHARED
CAR
PARK

SHARED CAR PARK

ACCESS THROUGH 
TO BLOCKS B&G

ENTRANCE TO B&G

ENTRANCE TO H
THROUGH STEPS 

COMMUNITY 
CENTRE 
FACING 
BLOCKS B&G

ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
H,B&G
Through
SHARED 
CAR 
PARKS

ESTATE
AREA
OFFICE

P
age 134



OPTION 2
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS B,G & 

H
GARDEN WALL-2M

BIN STORES

PLAY AREA

ACCESS THROUGH 
TO BLOCKS B&G

ENTRANCE TO H
THROUGH STEPS 

COMMUNITY 
CENTRE 
FACING 
BLOCKS B&G

ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
H,B&G
Through
SHARED 
CAR 
PARKS

ENTRANCE TO B&GBIN STORE

ESTATE
AREA
OFFICE

P
age 135



OPTION 3
PROPOSAL

TO 
BLOCKS B,G & 

H

GARDEN WALL-2M

PLAY AREA

SHARED
CAR
PARK

ACCESS THROUGH 
TO BLOCKS B&G

COMMUNITY 
CENTRE 
FACING 
BLOCKS B&G

ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
H,B&G
Through
SHARED 
CAR 
PARKS
ONLY

ENTRANCE TO B&G
FROM SHARED CAR 
PARK

SHARED
CAR
PARK

DRYING AREA

P
age 136



PROPOSAL
TO BLOCKS B,G & H

ENTRANCE to Blocks H,B&G
Through

SHARED CAR PARKS
ONLY

ACCESS THROUGH 
TO BLOCKS B&G

ACCESS TO
BLOCK H

ACCESS TO
BLOCKS B&G

DRYING
AREA

DRYING
AREA

PLAY AREA

P
age 137



PROPOSALS
TO 

BLOCKS C,D, E & F

OLIVER BOND HOUSE- LONG TERM PROPOSALS
FOR DISCUSSION AND CONSULTATION

P
age 138



OPTION 1
PROPOSAL
TO BLOCKS
C,D,E & F

BIN 
STORE PLAY AREA

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

MAIN
ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
C,D,E&F

BIN STORE

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

ENTRANCE TO 
BLOCKS B&G

P
age 139



OPTION 2
PROPOSAL
TO BLOCKS
C,D,E & F

BIN 
STORE PLAY AREA

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

MAIN
ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
C,D,E&F

BIN STORE

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

ENTRANCE TO 
BLOCKS B&G

P
age 140



OPTION 3
PROPOSAL
TO BLOCKS
C,D,E & F

PLAY AREA

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

MAIN
ENTRANC
E to 
Blocks 
C,D,E&F

BIN STORE

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

P
age 141



PROPOSAL
TO BLOCKS
C,D,E & F

B
LO

C
K

 D

BLOCK C

PLAY 
AREA

DRYI
NG
AREA

MAIN ENTRANCE 
to Blocks C,D,E&F

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

ACCESS THROUGH 
SHARED CAR PARK

NO PARKING 
PROPOSED IN 
COURTYARD.
ALL PARKING 
AVAILABLE IN 
SHARED 
PARKING 
SPACES

P
age 142



OLIVER BOND HOUSE- LONG TERM PROPOSALS
FOR DISCUSSION AND CONSULTATION

PROPOSALS
TO 

BLOCKS L,M, & N

P
age 143



PLAY AREA

MAIN ENTRANCE

BIN STORE

DRYING 
AREA

OPTIONS 1&2
PROPOSALS TO BLOCKS

L, M & N

CAR PARK
BLOCKS L,M&N
9 SPACES

P
age 144



CAR PARKING FOR
BLOCKS L,M&N 5 SPACES

BIN STORE

DRYING 
AREA

PLAY 
AREA

COMMENTS REQUESTED IN RELATION TO CONNECTING THE 
UPPER BLOCKS WITH BLOCK H (AS SHOWN IN MODEL)

OPTION 3
PROPOSALS TO BLOCKS

L, M & N

P
age 145



BLOCK L

DRYIN
G
AREA

PLAY
AREA

P
age 146



South Central Area 
Eblana House, 

Marrowbone Lane, 
Dublin 8 

The Chairperson and Members 
South Central Area Committee 
 

Halloween 2020 Report South Central Area 
 

The South Central Area launched our Halloween 2020 campaign in early October. Meetings 
with all relevant stakeholders were conducted from September 2020, both at area and at 
corporate level.  The multidisciplinary approach taken was to deliver a co-ordinated plan to 
(a) reduce the harm caused by bonfires to the environment and (b) facilitate alternative 
online activities for young and old to participate in.  
 
Intelligence based operations and drone technology proved invaluable in monitoring vacant 
sites, open public spaces and green margins.   Tracking the movement of hoarded bonfire 
materials yielded excellent results.  Persistent removal of identified stockpiles from Dublin 
City Council housing complexes, namely Oliver Bond and Basin Street Flats, Dolphin House 
and nearby vacant /private sites had a major impact on reducing the movement of pallets 
and tyres into public open spaces. 
 
Public Domain planned and organised operations across the South Central Area in co-
operation with South East Area Housing, Waste Management and Parks Department. The 
Gardaí played a pivotal role in halting the movement of hoarded stockpiles.  A Breffni cage 
truck was made available to the Gardaí in Kevin Street to this end, resulting in 22 Tonnes of  
bonfire materials, mainly pallets and tyres, being removed from the public domain.  There 
was great cooperation and resource sharing between South East and South Central in 
Dublin 8 and Dublin 12, with a noticeable reduction in bonfire damage across both areas.  
 
The main tranche of the 2020 Halloween Campaign began on 19th October with three 
significant finds on the 19th 21st and 22nd at Walkinstown Green, the NCAD Garden and 
Oliver Bond Street and ended on 31st October at 3.00 pm. A team of 19 people worked over 
the preceding Bank Holiday weekend to identify and track bonfire material movement. The 
locations included The Liberties, Pimlico, Kilmainham, Inchicore, Ballyfermot, Bluebell, 
Drimnagh, Crumlin, Kimmage and Walkinstown.  Two hundred and fifty nine bonfire 
material service requests were raised and responded to.  A huge volume of work that 
resulted in the removal of approximately 165 ton of mixed bonfire materials from the 
public domain.  
 
There were a number of key stockpiles as listed below:- 
 

SWIC Quantity Quantity Ballyfermot 
/Drimnagh 

Quantity 

Oliver Bond 
Flats  
4 visits 

 200 Pallets 
removed- 

Truck 
load junk 

Kylemore Pk. 
/JFK Ind. Est.) 

4 
Truckloads 
Pallets & 
Tyres 

NCAD 
Garden 

2 Truck 
loads 
Pallets & 
Tyres 

Truck 
Load 

Longmile/Naas 
Rd. Bus. 
Park/Industrial 
estates 

4 Truck 
Loads 
pallets 

Page 147



Goldenbridge  
Ind. Est. 
canal lands  

2 Truck 
load Pallets 

 Park West 6 Truck 
Loads 
Pallets 

Basin St 
Flats vacant 
flat 

200 pallets  Bluebell  Ind Est Truck load 
Pallets 

St James 
Hospital  

3 truck 
loads 
Pallets 

 Cherry Orchard 
Ind. Est. - 4 visits 

2 truck loads 
Pallets 
Tyres and 
Household 
Junk 

Dolphin 
House  
vacant flat 

2 Truckload 
Pallets and 
Tyres 

 Killeen Rd 
Bridge/ Le Fanu 
Drive 

2 Truck 
loads pallets 

 
The Bonfires were fewer and decidedly smaller than previous years due to a number of 
factors:  

 Team effort in spotting and retrieving pallets and tyres 

 Garda Liaison 
 

Cost Halloween Campaign 2020 

Halloween 2020 Costs 
 

Truck Hire & Labour € 25,370.00 ex 

VAT13.5% 

Drone Surveillance €   605.00 

Protective Fencing €2,720.69 

Thornton’s  Disposal of Bonfire Materials €8700.00 

Overtime  €28,160.21 

Total €65,555.90 

 
 
The Clean-up operation began on November 2nd Waste Management and Parks have 
responded very quickly to remove bonfire residues from green spaces and adjacent roads 
and footpaths. The clean-up operation is now complete. 
 
Positive outcomes 
Bonfires greatly reduced in number and burn time.  No out of control /large bonfires.  There 
were three incidents where the Public Order Unit was called to Bridgefoot Street, St. 
Michael’s Estate and Cherry Orchard Gardens.  However, this was quelled quickly and there 
was very positive feedback from members of the community and An Garda Síochana 
regarding the overall success of the Halloween Campaign. 
 
Bonfire Sites reported 1st November at following locations:   

 Ballyfermot /Bluebell/ /Drimnagh/Walkinstown       SWIC 

 Spiddal Green                  Cherry Orchard Green                         Basin St Flats  

Croftwood Park                            Cherry Orchard pk                               St Michaels Est. 

Cherry Orchard Ave                     Oranmore Rd                                       Dolphin House 

Cherry Orchard Cres        Le Fanu Pk                                          Devoy Rd 

Carrow Road                    Bluebell Rd                    

 Croftwood Grove        California Hills 

Barnville Pk                        

Cleggan Rd            

Page 148



Croftwood Gardens              

Clifden Green 

Benmadigan  

 Cherry Orchard new Park                          

Walkinstown Green 

 
410 Ton Bonfire Material disposed of across the entire city, a reduction of almost 200 Ton 
across the city.  
 
HALLOWEEN COMMUNITY REPORT – SOUTH WEST INNER CITY 
 
THE LIBERTIES HAUNT FESTIVAL 2020 was a huge departure from the regular large-
scale festival event which took place in several locations across the Liberties last year.  
The process throughout was particularly challenging as the city entered several different 
lockdown phases over the past 7 months,  
However we did our best under difficult circumstances for everyone concerned. 
The proposed plans shifted from virtual to physical and then back to virtual again. However, 
it was felt amongst the organising group and community that some form of festival 
entertainment should be provided to support those within the community who made the 
decision to Stay Home and Stay Safe this Halloween. 
 
The members of the Halloween Organising Group led by the South West Inner City 
Community Development Team and Joined Up & Happenings Events,  in collaboration with 
local  youth services, local schools, residents and community organisations, were on hand 
once again (virtually from their homes and cars while working remotely) to plan and  manage 
workshops, distribute materials and link in with the local community and schools in the area.  
Residents, schools and youth services across the Liberties area were given the opportunity 
to submit their entries for 

 the best dressed balcony / window competition,  

 their fancy dress and  

 local schools were delighted to embrace  the Mask Challenge  which involved more 
than 400 young people to decorate their own mask and have their photos uploaded  
www.thelibertieshaunt   
 

The Liberties Haunt website is a brand new addition this year and will be of great service 
to the festival in future years. 
THE LIBERTIES HAUNT online show is now an asset for Dublin City Council and the 
community and stands as a great example of how a quality show can be produced featuring 
mostly young local talent.  
Whilst we were aware that we were never going to be able to have the social impact of the 
previous year, we have received very positive feedback so far regarding the activities and 
entertainment which we were able to provide.  
We hope this project inspired others to follow a path in the arts and to promote positive 
expression during a time that is particularly isolating for young people. 

  
As Halloween was the first major celebratory occasion since lockdown in March, it was felt 
that an attempt to provide them with some form of entertainment and activity was of 
particular importance at this time. 
Whilst a physical event was the preferred option by all, we had to prepare for the worst case 
scenario and not have to cancel a planned physical event that a lot of work and resources 
would have already been committed towards. 
We are happy with what we managed to achieve under the circumstances and time 
constraints upon us. We hope that in an immediate future, which is quite uncertain, it can 

Page 149

http://www.thelibertieshaunt/


stand as a model of the quality output and engagement that can be produced on a local 
community level. 
 
Although our capacity and the possibility of physical interaction was greatly reduced, we still 
managed to meet with residents, (while adhering to Covid 19 safety measures) in some of 
the target areas with whom we wanted to engage with and were able to get their support in 
spreading the overarching message of  Stay Home and Stay Safe for Halloween 2020, 
Whilst encouraging them to partake in the online activities provided some of which are 
detailed below.  

 Activity packs  (for download and a small number of hardcopies) 

 Monster mash dance  

 Best dressed balcony / window  

 The liberties haunt virtual festival  

 Creative and performance workshops  

 The mask challenge  
 

Promotion 

 A social media campaign was launched with regular daily updates on both Facebook 
and Instagram. 

 A press release was prepared and distributed to a number of media outlets and 
online platforms. 

 The event was featured on a number of Dublin City Council platforms including 
Dublin City Radio. 

 Posters and flyers were distributed in various locations around the Liberties area. 

 The website was regularly updated. 

 A trailer video was widely shared 

 Promotional videos from a number of the main acts were shot and shared on multiple 
platforms 

 The event was featured by the libertiesdublin.ie, Dublin.ie, exploreindublin.com, 
dublinpeople.com, dublincityfm.ie, dublincity.ie, dublineventguide.com amongst 
others…. 

 We adopted 2 streaming services for the live-streaming. One private streaming 
service which was featured on the website and also YouTube. This was 
recommended in case the stream went down on YouTube for any reason. 

 
This technology allowed for the live stream to be broadcast to YouTube and the website 
concurrently. Between the two services we clocked up approximately 1,000 individual 
viewings.   
 
HALLOWEEN COMMUNITY REPORT BALLYFERMOT / DRIMNAGH AREA 
 
There were 3 elements to the Halloween activities in Ballyfermot and Drimnagh this year. 
Virtual initiatives  
Outdoor Events 
Publicity / Safety Campaign 
 
Virtual Events 
Saint John Bosco Youth Centre organized a virtual family Bingo on Halloween night that 60 
participates took part in. 
Familibase organised a virtual Live Mic Music Night on Halloween night that 100 watched 
live and 300 viewed over the weekend. 
“Sing Act Dance” Drama group created a flash dance performance in Brickfield Park to share 
a happy Halloween message from the Drimnagh community which  was shared through 

Page 150



social media over the Halloween Weekend (about 600 Hits ) see attached 
link  https://vimeo.com/470909551/be245119f0 
Spooky House competitions were held in Ballyfermot and Drimnagh. With the entrants 
uploaded on Facebook, prizes were awarded for the best spooky house and  for the best 
use of recycled materials.  
 
Outdoor Events  
The Youth Organisations wanted to hold outdoor events in Brickfield Park and Le Fanu Park 
to have a visible presence in the area on the day. Youth Leaders had a strong presence on 
the streets throughout the day and early evening in both areas, which discouraged young 
people from congregating. 
The Ballyfermot Youth Service organised 3 Fancy Dress cycle trips throughout the day 
involving over 45 young people 
Coaching events that included skateboard and BMX for beginners were held in the 
skateboard Skate Park on the day that catered for 50 young people. An outdoor Barbeque 
took place in the Skateboard Park. Youth Service staff monitored the park on Halloween 
evening too. 
2 Street Murals and an outdoor photography project were worked on throughout the week 
and completed on Saturday 31st.   
 
Publicity / Poster Campaign 
The 8ft  x  3ft  Halloween “Think and be aware”  Boards that were displayed prominently 
throughout the area were very successful and received a lot of positive comments.  
 
Summary 
This year our activities targeted young people and small outdoor events rather than big 
family friendly activities. 
While numbers attending the outdoor events were restricted, they were a distraction and 
deterrent for young people from more dangerous activities.  
Street Youth work engagement this year was very important in deterring young people from 
anti-social behaviour. Great credit is due to the Youth Workers that were out and about most 
of the Saturday evening. 
 
 
 
Mary Taylor_________   
Director of Services             
 

Page 151

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=osiY34NSu0yJXsBLm9F7GcHImTfvwxFDRUWlSLTOIQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fvimeo%2ecom%2f470909551%2fbe245119f0




Page 153





P
age 155





1 
 

SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE  

DUBLIN CITY SPORT & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP REPORT NOVEMBER 

2020 

 

  

 
  
Following the introduction of COVID 19 Level 5 restrictions on Wednesday 21st October, the 
delivery of a number of Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership’s programmes have been 
temporarily affected. 
 
However despite these restrictions DCSWP services continue to adapt and evolve in order to 
provide opportunities for people in our communities to remain active and healthy regardless 
of age or ability. In addition many programmes for the end of 2020 and into 2021 are in the 
the planning stages.  
 
 Online, outdoor, community and school programmes will be delivered by our dedicated DCC 
and Co-funded Sport officers over the next few weeks in line with Central Government/ HSE 
guidelines and recommendations.  
 
 Grant supports are also being progressed by DCSWP to support local sports clubs to continue 
the very important work they carry out in the community (more details below).  
 
 
Online/Social Media Supports: 
 

 Twitter: @dccsportsrec   

 Facebook: DublinCitySportandWellbeing 
 

 Instagram: @dublincitysportandwellbeing 

 
Advisory Booklets: 

These booklets provide critical advice for Older Adults in our communities on how to maintain 
physical activity and exercise if at home (Stay Home, Stay Healthy, Stay Active) and/or advice 
on how to return safely to exercise outside the home (Let’s Get Moving Again).  The booklets 
are produced by DCSWP in partnership with Age Friendly Ireland, HSE, Irish Society for 
Chartered Physiotherapists and Local Sports Partnerships.  
 

 Stay Home, Stay Healthy,Stay Active: 
https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/content/Housing/Documents/OlderAdultsB
ooklet.pdf 

 Let’s Get Moving Again: https://www.iscp.ie/news/Lets-Get-Moving-Again-Booklet-
Launch 

Page 157

https://twitter.com/dccsportsrec
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/content/Housing/Documents/OlderAdultsBooklet.pdf
https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/content/Housing/Documents/OlderAdultsBooklet.pdf
https://www.iscp.ie/news/Lets-Get-Moving-Again-Booklet-Launch
https://www.iscp.ie/news/Lets-Get-Moving-Again-Booklet-Launch


2 
 

 

 
DCSWP GENERAL NEWS NOVEMBER 2020 

 

Marathon Kids 2020 

This is the second year of DCSWP’s collaboration with Marathon Kids, South Dublin County 
Council and Fingal County Council.   Last year over 1500 students at 5th and 6th class level 
participated in the 8-week initiative with children running their final mile in Morton Stadium at 
the conclusion of the programme in November. A similar number of schools have signed up 
this year across the city including schools based in the South Central Area. Approximately 
3000 school children in the Dublin city area will be taking up the challenge this year.  
 
This year the programme has also encouraged students at 3rd and 4th year level to get 
involved.  Each school will run their own final mile event due to COVID 19 restrictions.  T-
shirts, medals and booklets will be supplied to all schools to ensure the incredible 
achievement of our young participants is acknowledged. An on-line version of the 
information booklet and a weekly link to the Marathon Kids interactive page/site is also being 
provided to support delivery of the programme.   
 
 
 
Women in Sport 2020 
 
GAGA is DCSWP‘s core programme aimed at increasing opportunities for women of all ages 

and abilities to participate in sport and physical activity. The initiative is ongoing throughout 

the year but takes on a strategic focus during the Winter months in schools and communities 

across the city:  

 In the South Central area DCSWP Officers are working closely with TUI Dublin via 

the Developing Women in Sport Training programme.   

Orienteering For Young People Programme 

DCSWP is collaborating with Orienteering Ireland to facilitate orienteering programmes 

aimed at children & teenagers. Orienteering provides great opportunities for young people to 

develop skills such as problem-solving and teamwork while enjoying themselves as they 

navigate courses in the great outdoors.  

 In October, training workshops delivered by Orienteering Ireland provided DCSWP Sport 

Officers with the knowledge and practical understanding of teaching the basic skills of 

orienteering to young people.  Programmes led by Sport Officers  in Dublin City Council’s 

parks are in the planning stages. 

 
Sport For Young People Small Grant Scheme 

The Sport for Young People Small Grant Scheme is available annually to sports clubs 
operating within the administrative area of Dublin City Council affiliated to a National 
Governing Body of Sport.  The purpose of the scheme is to provide opportunities for young 
people aged 4 – 21 years to participate in sport and physical activity.  The grant scheme is 
funded by Sport Ireland and administered by Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership.   

Page 158



3 
 

 

 Applications for the grant opened at the end of June 2020 via the DCSWP social media 
channels as above. 151 sports clubs across  the city have been approved for funding under 
the grant scheme for 2020. DCSWP is currently in the process of informing clubs and 
processing payments.   
 
 
Sport Ireland COVID 19 Club Small Grant Scheme 
 
The COVID-19 club small grant scheme is part of an overall programme from the 
Government of Ireland, implemented through Sport Ireland and the Local Sports 
Partnerships to support the sports sector during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

This scheme is designed to support clubs that do not have the finances to implement COVID-
19 related hygiene and social distancing protocols.  Once approved the grant will cover costs 
associated with the reopening of clubs.  The club grant scheme is designed and intended to 
support the return to sporting activities only.  
 
Under the scheme Local Sports Partnerships have responsibility for advertising the scheme, 

collating club information via the Sport Ireland template and making recommendations on 

funding to Sport Ireland based on the information submitted.115 applications were received, 

assessed and recommendations were issued by DCSWP  on 14th September. 

Decisions on recommendations issued were finalised at the November Sport Ireland and 

official correspondence will be circulated to clubs regarding those decisions in due course 

Get Physically Active’ Sport Inclusion Programme 

DCSWP Sport Inclusion and Integration Officers continue to host weekly zoom exercise 

sessions for individuals aged between 19 and 65 years with intellectual, physical and sensory 

disabilities.  As part of the programme, each session has a different fitness theme covering 

topics such as the benefits of exercising every day, strength training, making healthy food 

choices, getting fresh air etc.Get Physically Active’ is currently being delivered on an ongoing 

basis, to groups with between 10 and 40 participants, in conjunction with the following service 

providers:  

 

Day Time Service 

Monday 2pm National Learning Network (Ballyfermot) 

Tuesday 12:30pm St. John of Gods Liffey Services (Dublin 6, 8,10,12 & 24) 

Wednesday 11am Central Remedial Clinic (Raheny, Killester, Clontarf) 

 

Participants in the Central Remedial Clinic and National Learning Network programmes 

include those residing in the South Central area of the city.   

 

Disability & Inclusion Training 

 

DCC/DCSWP is proud to have signed the National Sport Inclusion and Disability CARA 

charter which sets out five key areas people with disabilities are seeking in order to lead a 

healthy and active lifestyle.  

Page 159



4 
 

 

DCSWP has two Sport Inclusion & Integration Officers dedicated to deliver on this goal as 

well as focussing on integrating minority groups in the community via core programmes.   

 

 In partnership with CARA, the online Disability & Inclusion Training programme was recently 

launched.  This is part of a series of online Disability in Sport training programmes already in 

operation.  Training commenced from 6th October. 

 

 
DUBLIN CITY SPORT & WELLBEING SOUTH CENTRAL PROGRAMME HIGHLIGHTS 
NOVEMBER 2020 
 

Training & Development  

 Online Safeguarding training and pitch/centre COVID compliance training (in 

partnership with Ballyfermot United FC) has resumed for coaches and players in the 

area.  

Community Fitness Classes  

Online Fatima and Beyond Zoom exercise online classes will continue to support South 

Central Area communities to maintain fitness/physical activity levels: 

 Boxercise and zoom online classes continue every Monday, Tuesday and Thursday 

from 10am  every Tuesday from 13th September  

 Area exercise classes outlined in the October report will resume following the lifting 

of restrictions on December 1st. 

Local DCSWP Support 

DCSWP Sport Officers in the South Central Area continue to support local communities 

in the following areas; 

 Ongoing delivery of ‘Let’s Get Moving Again’ booklets for Older Adults (developed in 
partnership with the HSE as a follow up to the ‘Stay Home, Stay Active,  Stay 
Healthy’ lockdown response initiative. 

 Providing support and information for various community groups in the area. 

 Ongoing monitoring and support to GAISCE President Award applicants 

 Ongoing contact with range of community groups, identifying their needs subject to 
direction by Government Guidelines and Management direction. 

 

 

DCSWP CO-FUNDED TEAM  PROGRAMMES & INITIATIVES NOVEMBER  2020 

Athletics in the Community 

  DCSWP Athletics Officers continue to liaise with athletics clubs across the city on a 
weekly basis weekly providing event specific support and advice regarding protocols 
in areas such as coaching documents, videos tutorials and sample sessions.  

 

Page 160



5 
 

  DCSWP Officers  continue to engage with schools in the South Central area to 
provide support in relation to athletics initiatives including the Marathon Kids. 
Programme. 

 

Boxing in the Community 

IABA covid protocols are now in place, allowing DCSWP Co-funded officers to re-

engage safely with schools in the South Central area in relation to the delivery of 

non-contact boxing programmes: 

 This year the Startbox school programme has been condensed to 5 weeks as part of 

the Covid-19 adherence policy and guidelines.  Despite current restrictions his 

programme continues to offer young people in the area  the opportunity to engage 

with amateur boxing and enjoy the many benefits Ireland’s most successful Olympic 

sport can offer. The first phase of the 2020 programme took place following the back 

to school period and was a massive success in the South Central area with over 300 

school students at primary and secondary level taking part.  The programme is now 

entering its third phase rollout in schools across the area.   

Cricket in the Community 

 Cricket sessions aimed at players across the city at U11 level continue every Friday 

from 5.30 -9pm.  

 

 Primary school cricket sessions will be delivered in the following  South Central Areas 

schools: 

 

 Canal Way Educate Together every Tuesday from 1pm -2.30pm (mixed students) 

 Drimnagh Castle CBS every Thursday from 10.30am – 12.30pm (males) 

 

Football in the Community 
 

 FAI Officers continue to promote and encourage people to keep active and healthy 

via social media, providing football skill challenges and tutorials.  Local Co-funded 

officers are also engaging with schools and youth groups in the South Central area. 

Women In Football Development 

 As part of Football People Fare (Football Against Racism in Europe) Action Week 
this online initiative will be delivered by FAI officers in schools across the city aiming 
to educate young people on the issues of racism in sport.   

 
 The FAI Emerging talent programme continues in schools and clubs in the area 

aimed at females age 10-15 years. 
 

 Other ongoing women in football development initiatives during the next period 

include After-School programmes, Girls In Green, Future Stars, Female Leadership 

and Kickstart Coaching PDP 1.    

Page 161



6 
 

 

Health Promotion in the Community 

The DCSWP HSE Health Promotion and Improvement Officer delivers and promotes health 

and physical activity programmes across the City  with actions that are consistent with those 

outlined in the National Physical Activity Plan & Healthy Ireland.   

 

The Health Promotion programmes outlined below  have been temporarily suspended 

due to Level 5 COVID restrictions but plans are in place for their resumption after 

December 1st.  

 

 Men on the Move  is  a free physical activity programme that is aimed at adult men 

who have been inactive for a while and are looking  to get back to exercising and 

improving their fitness levels.  It involves twice weekly exercise sessions made up of 

a combination of aerobic, strength & flexibility components. In the South Central the 

Men on the Move programme will be delivered in Chapelizod every Wednesday at 

2pm in Lionsville Hostel.  

 Women’s Mental Health & Wellbeing Programme is a 10-week lifestyle change 

programme providing physical assessments and chair aerobics classes.  The 

programme is aimed at women with mental health difficulties in the Cherry Orchard 

area who have been referred by the Rehabilitation Mental Health Services.  

 Fatima Fit is an active community exercise initiative aimed at adults of all age groups 

and fitness levels.  This class is scheduled to take place in the F2 Centre, Rialto 

every Wednesday from 12pm and aims to help participants to improve their core 

strength and flexibility regardless of current fitness levels. 

 

Rowing in the community - Get Going Get Rowing 

 

 The Get Going…Get Rowing programme delivers rowing classes and coaching 

courses to secondary school students. Under Level 5 restrictions, school age 

children are able to continue participating in non-contact rowing programmes with 

slight adjustments for distancing and sanitising processes. Approximately 600 

students will take part in classes across the city. 

 Rowing Ireland is also working on establishing a virtual All-Ireland inter-schools 

rowing league. This will begin on a regional basis and progress to national level.  The 

aim is to  include all programme participants across Ireland including rowing students 

in the Central area. 

 

 

Rugby in the Community 

Page 162



7 
 

 Leinster Rugby Officers continue to support local clubs and schools to return to play 

safely by liaising with club safety officers and preparing guideline documents. These 

documents are available to download on the updated Leinster |rugby website shortly.  

This work was undertaken to ensure the website is fully accessible and visible to all 

relevant stakeholders. 

CONTACT DETAILS: 
 

Name Role Contact Information 

Shauna Mc Intyre General Manager, 

DCSWP 

shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie 

Aideen O’Connor Programmes & 

Services Manager, 

DCSWP 

aideen.oconnor@dublincity.e 

Colin Sharkey Office Manager, 

DCSWP 

Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie 

Catherine Flood Sport Officer, DCSWP Catherine.flood@dublincity.ie 

Gareth Herbert Sport Officer, DCSWP Gareth.herbert@dublincity.ie 

Sharon Kelly Sport Officer, DCSWP Sharon.kelly@dublincity.ie 

Igor Khmil Sport Officer, DCSWP Igor.khmil@dublincity.ie 

Will Morris Sport Officer, DCSWP William.morris@dublincity.ie 

Lisa Kelly Sport Inclusion & 

Integration Officer, 

DCSWP 

Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie 

Nuala O’Donovan Sport Inclusion & 

Integration Officer, 

DCSWP 

Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie 

David Phelan Health Promotion & 

Improvement Officer 

David.phelan6@mail.dcu.ie 

Colette Quinn Development Officer, 

Athletics 

colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie 

Gerard O’Donnell Development Officer, 

Athletics 

gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie 

Marc Kenny Development Officer, 

F.A.I. 

Marc.kenny@dublincity.ie 

Jonathon Tormey Development Officer, 

F.A.I. 

Jonathon.tormey@fai.ie 

David Rake Development Officer David.rake@fai.ie 

Pearl Slattery Women’s 

Development Officer, 

FAI 

Pearl.slattery@fai.ie 

Gareth Murray Development Officer, 

Rugby 

Gareth.murray@leinsterrugby.ie 

Fintan Mc Allister Development Officer, 

Cricket 

Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie 

Ed Griffin Development Officer, 

Boxing 

shandygriffin@hotmail.com 

Page 163

mailto:shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie
mailto:aideen.oconnor@dublincity.e
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Catherine.flood@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Gareth.herbert@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Sharon.kelly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Igor.khmil@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/William.morris@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/David.phelan6@mail.dcu.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Marc.kenny@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Jonathon.tormey@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/David.rake@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Pearl.slattery@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Gareth.murray@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/shandygriffin@hotmail.com


8 
 

Aoife Byrne Development Officer, 

Rowing 

Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie 

 
 

 
REPORT BY: 

 
 
 
REPORT BY: 

Dee O’Boyle  

Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing  

dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie 

 

 

Page 164

file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/3UDIAA9R/Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202020/Reporting%20Post%20March%202020/Central%20Area%20Reports/dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie


Conservation Section, Planning & Development Department 

Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8  

 

An Rannóg Caomhantais,  An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbairt Maoine 

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8 

T. 01 222 3927  F. 01 222 2830   

 

04th November 2020 
 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the South Central Area Committee 
 

Initiation of the Statutory Process for the Proposed Addition of No. 31 Old 
Kilmainham, Dublin 8 in accordance with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and 
Development Act, 2000 (as amended), to Dublin City Council’s Record of 
Protected Structures.  

 
 
PHOTOGRAPH OF STRUCTURE 
 

 
 
Introduction 
It is proposed to initiate procedures under Section 54 and Section 55 of the Planning 
& Development Act 2000 (as amended) to add ‘No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8’ to 
Dublin City Council’s Record of Protected Structures.  
 
Proposal for Addition 

 Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht on the 9th August 2017. 
 
Summary of Applicants Reasons for Seeking Addition  

 Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht: List of recommendations for 
inclusion on the RPS of structures deemed as being of ‘Regional’ significance 
or higher identified during Stage 2 of the Dublin Survey carried out by the 
National Inventory of Architectural Heritage. No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8 
has been assigned a Regional rating. The Stage 2 recommendations were 
issued to Dublin City Council on the 9th August 2017. 

 

Page 165



Methodology for Assessing Early Buildings 
In November 2019, the Planning & Property Development SPC agreed a 
methodology to expedite the proposed additions/deletions to the RPS in a systematic 
manner, based on the Architectural Heritage Protection Guidelines 2011 and 
NIAH/Ministerial Recommendations under Section 53(1) of the Planning and 
Development Act, 2000 (as amended).  The methodology agreed to prioritise 
industrial, twentieth century and early buildings and underrepresented typologies.  
On foot of this the Conservation Section carried out a screening process for Early 
Buildings. No. 31 Old Kilmainham was identified as a potential Early Building (with a 
building appearing on the site on John Roque’s map of 1756). 
 
Site Location & Zoning Map 
No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8 is located on the north side of Old Kilmainham at its 
junction with Kearns Place, west of Dublin city centre. It is located to the south of the 
River Camac and to the southwest of the Royal Hospital Kilmainham. 
 

 
Fig. 1: Site location and zoning map of No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8. 

 
Zoning: Zoned Z1 - To protect, provide and improve residential amenities. 
 
The property is located to the south of a red hatch Conservation Area which covers 
the Royal Hospital Kilmainham, parts of Kilmainham village and the River Camac. 
 
Recent Planning History 
 
Planning Ref. Description Decision 

0046/91 Retain existing use as offices on 3 floors and 1 floor 
residential. 

No decision on 
file. 

 
Recent Planning Enforcement History 
There is no recorded planning enforcement history for the subject property. 

 
Site Access 
The owner facilitated a site visit of the interior and exterior of the property on the 26th 
February 2020. 
 

Page 166



Summary Description (taken from NIAH inventory) 
Exterior: 
End-of-terrace, corner-sited, three-bay three-storey over basement former tannery-
owner’s house, built c.1780, now in use as offices. Full-height return flanked by 
projecting chimneybreasts to the rear (north) elevation. Full-height canted bay to east 
elevation which may represent a later extension of late eighteenth or early nineteenth 
century date. Enclosed yard to rear.  
 
Hipped artificial slate roof hidden behind brick parapet with granite coping to front 
(south) and side (east) elevations and hipped natural slate roof with terracotta ridge 
tiles to return. Constructed of yellow brick, laid in Flemish bond, to front and east 
elevations; roughcast rendered wall to west and rear elevations, and rendered walls 
to basement level, east elevation.  
 
Square-headed window openings with painted masonry sills and replacement uPVC 
casement windows. Round-headed stair window with raised rendered reveals, 
painted masonry sill and six-over-six timber sash window to rear elevation. Central 
round-headed opening with painted masonry block-and-start doorcase and timber 
panelled door. Granite platform and steps flanked by wrought-iron railings with cast-
iron corner posts and integral bootscrapes on carved masonry plinth. 
 
Interior: 
The interior plan form comprises a centrally-placed entrance and stair hall with rooms 
to either side, typical of the second half of the eighteenth century. Some subdivision 
has taken place of the rooms to the south and west of the stair hall. It appears that 
the house may have been extended to the east and the full-height canted bay added 
in the late eighteenth or early nineteenth century. The principal rooms, located to the 
east of the stair hall, are lit by windows in the front (south) and east elevations and 
have infilled chimneybreasts to the north wall. 
 
Heavily overpainted Neo-classical plasterwork cornice and centrally placed 
plasterwork ceiling rose, to entrance hall comprising urns with swagged floral 
garlands. Replacement timber staircase of early twentieth century date lit by a round-
headed stair window to first half-landing.  
 
The ground floor room to the east of the entrance hall is ornamented with a 
decorative Neo-classical plasterwork cornice comprising urns with swagged floral 
garlands. The room has a plasterwork ceiling rose with foliate work to the centre and 
floral swags in a beaded oval. The first floor room to the east of the stairs has an 
overpainted reeded plasterwork cornice and a flat plaster ceiling.  
 
The second floor room to the east of the stairs has a coved ceiling, possibly a later 
replacement, with no surviving decorative plasterwork. The second floor room to the 
west of the stairs has a square-headed window opening with a moulded timber 
architrave in the west wall. The timber floor boards are exposed in this room. 
 
Historical Background 
A mid-seventeenth century cartographic depiction survives of Kilmainham by Robert 
Girdler, a land surveyor for the Down Survey. The map is accompanied by a written 
description of the settlement. Girdler describes ‘a street of good habitable house…on 
Kilmainham’ which indicates the existence of houses at Old Kilmainham by the mid-
seventeenth century. His map shows the ruins of Kilmainham Priory between the 
Camac and Liffey. Further south is ‘Kilmainham Towne’ which contains a group of 
large gabled houses between what is now Old Kilmainham and the Camac.  

 

Page 167



A laneway, now named Kearns Place, leads from the settlement north towards the 
‘Town Bridge’ and mills on the River Camac (Kilmainham Mill on the north bank and 
possibly Mountbrown on the south). A number of houses are located around the 
junction of Old Kilmainham and Kearns Place. Two buildings are depicted 
immediately to the west of the junction, one at the approximate location of No. 31, the 
subject of this report. The house is gabled to the east and west ends with two large 
chimneystacks. The cartographic evidence is corroborated by lease records held in 
the Registry of Deeds. These leases indicate that Richard Parsons, Viscount Rosse, 
held a number of plots on Old Kilmainham including one to the west of the junction 
leading to the town bridge (Keenahan 2017). 
 
From the medieval period the area around Kilmainham was a centre of industry with 
the Liffey and Camac providing a power source for cloth and grain mills and a water 
source for use in the tanning industry. Despite the industrial development of the area, 
it appears that the land to the south of the Liffey remained relatively rural in character 
as reflected on eighteenth century map sources such as John Rocque’s ‘Map of the 
city of Dublin and environs, 1757’. Rocque’s map depicts ‘Kilmainham Road’ (now 
Old Kilmainham) which runs west from the city through enclosed fields in pasture. A 
line of structures is depicted on the north side of the street at its junction with Kearns 
Place, including the site of what is now No. 31 Old Kilmainham. A house fronts onto 
the street with a return or ancillary building on Kearns Place. The rear plot appears to 
stretch as far as the south bank of the Camac. 
 
From the eighteenth century onwards, a number of the wealthier citizens of Dublin 
began to construct houses in Kilmainham, at nearby Islandbridge and Inchicore (Ball 
1906, 160). The house that now stands at No. 31 Old Kilmainham is mid- to late-
eighteenth century in date. It is one of the larger houses surviving on this stretch of 
the street, which is more typically characterised by two- and three-bay two-storey 
buildings. The canted bay at the east end of the building is more typical of a late-
eighteenth or early nineteenth century date and it is possible that the house was 
extended or partially rebuilt at this time to include an additional bay at the east end.  
 
The industrialisation of the Kilmainham area continued into the nineteenth century. In 
1849 Fraser describes the Camac ‘propelling various mills along its course’ and 
‘watering numerous tan yards, it falls into the Liffey under the Royal Hospital of 
Kilmainham’. The mills and tanyards provided local employment and terraces of 
worker’s houses grew up in association with them. Kilmainham was a significant 
tannery district with street directories of the 1840s and 1850s listing five separate 
tannery businesses on Old Kilmainham alone. Pettigrew and Oulten’s Street 
Directory of 1845 indicates that No. 31 Old Kilmainham (then numbered as 27) was 
occupied by ‘Andrews, Anne and Son, Tanners’. The Post Office Directory of 1858 
and Griffiths Valuation of 1853-64 indicate that Thomas Andrews was the occupier, 
the property was valued at £30.0.0 and described as a ‘house, offices, sheds and 
tan-yard’.  
 
The large scale Ordnance Survey maps provide a more accurate ground plan for the 
house and associated tannery business in the mid-nineteenth century. The 1847 
Ordnance Survey map depicts the site, fronted by No. 31 on the north side of Old 
Kilmainham with associated buildings stretching north to the Camac and west along 
its bank. The outline of the canted bay is evident to the east elevation and the house 
has a small enclosed garden to the east end.  
 
The layout of the house had not changed significantly on the Ordnance Survey 1864 
map though the area to the rear of the house is now indicated as a ‘Tan Yard’. It has 
a typical tannery layout consisting of a courtyard, enclosed by buildings on three 

Page 168



sides and a boundary wall to the west, with a series of pits to the centre. The 
buildings to the north and east were used for storage of materials and processing. 
The lane which ran to the east of the site to the bridge crossing on the Camac was 
named Spout Lane at this time for the public fountain located at the south end of the 
lane.  
 
An entry in Griffith’s Valuation dated 1874-82 notes the subject property, now listed 
as No. 31 Old Kilmainham as a ‘House in bad repair and offices in very dilapidated 
state’ and the annual valuation of the property had dropped significantly from £30.0.0 
to £20.0.0. This may signify that the tannery business may have ceased operation by 
this time. The valuation indicates that the house was occupied by lodgers who leased 
rooms from John Kearns. By 1884 the valuation of Nos. 29-33 Old Kilmainham had 
reduced further to £9.0.0 each and that the houses were in use as tenements 
(Thom’s Directory 1884). 
 
While upwards of 900 tanneries were in operation throughout Ireland in the period 
between c. 1750-1900, few survive save for the boundary walls and individual 
storage or processing buildings (Rynne 2006, 306). The buildings along the west side 
of Kearns Place were demolished in the late nineteenth or early twentieth century 
and were replaced with a terrace of two-bay, two-storey cottages. Griffith’s Valuation 
and contemporary street directories indicates that No. 31 was used as tenement 
lodgings throughout much of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century and was 
used as a business premises in the latter part of the twentieth century.  
 
The current owners, the Academy of Clinical Science and Laboratory Medicine, 
began leasing the property in the late twentieth century and subsequently purchased 
it for use as offices. 
 
References 

 Ball, E. E. (1906) A History of the County Dublin, Part IV. 

 Brady, J. and Simms, A. (2001) Dublin through Space and Time. 

 Fraser, J. (1849) A Handbook for Travellers in Ireland. 

 Dublin City Street Directories including Thom’s, Pettigrew and Oulten’s and 
the Post Office Directory and Calendar (Various Dates) 

 Irish Architectural Archive (Unpublished) Press Cuttings File Kilmainham 
(RW.D.513) 

 Irish Architectural Archive (Unpublished) Archive Photo, c. 1964, of No. 31 
Old Kilmainham (2001/051-PH 202). 

 Keenahan, Peter (2017) Architectural Heritage Assessment of 23 Old 
Kilmainham. 

 Kenny, C. (1995) Kilmainham: The history of a settlement older than Dublin. 

 Massey, E. (2003) Kilmainham, Co. Dublin 1536-1610 in Holton, K., Clare, L. 
and Ó Dálaigh, B. (eds.) 'Irish Villages. Studies in Local History', pp.166-192. 

 O’Keeffe, T. and Virtuani, P. (2020) Reconstructing Kilmainham: the 
topography and architecture of the chief priory of the Knights Hospitaller in 
Ireland, c.1170-1349 in Journal of Medieval History 2020, Vol. 46, No. 4, pp. 
449-477. 

 Rynne, C. (2006) Industrial Ireland 1750-1900. 
 

Page 169



NIAH Rating: 
The National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH) has been carried out for this 
area under Stage 2 of the Dublin City survey programme (see Appendix 3).  
 
The NIAH uses eight categories of special interest (architectural, historical, 
archaeological, artistic, cultural, scientific, technical & social) and identifies five 
categories of rating in seeking to rank buildings. The NIAH rating values are 
International, National, Regional, Local and Record Only (I, N, R, L, O). Structures 
which are considered of International, National, and Regional significance are 
deemed worthy of inclusion on the RPS.  
 
The National Inventory of Architectural Heritage assigned this building 
ARCHITECTURAL and ARTISTIC interest and has assigned the building a ‘Regional’ 
rating. These are structures or sites that make a significant contribution to the 
architectural heritage within the region or area. 
 
Assessment of Special Interest under the Planning & Development Act 2000 
No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8, is considered by the Conservation Section of 
Dublin City Council to be of special interest under the following headings: 
 

 ARCHITECTURAL:  
- No. 31 Old Kilmainham is a relatively intact Georgian house, its regular 

fenestration and block-and-start doorcase typical of the mid to late 
eighteenth century. While some alterations are evident, including its 
possible eastward extension and some internal subdivision, it retains a 
clearly legible late eighteenth century plan form with rooms opening off a 
central entrance and stair hall. 
 

- The canted bay to the east is of interest, representing an evolution of 
building form in response to changing architectural tastes. It addresses 
the buildings prominent corner site providing views eastwards along Old 
Kilmainham. 

 
- It is one of the more substantial houses surviving in Kilmainham whose 

housing stock is more typically characterised by two- and three-bay two-
storey buildings. 
 

- While upwards of 900 tanneries were in operation throughout Ireland in 
the period between c. 1750-1900, few survive save for the boundary walls 
or individual storage or processing buildings. This tannery owner’s 
residence, once part of a large industrial complex on the bank of the 
Camac, is a significant architectural survival and reminder of the former 
industrial character of the Kilmainham area. 

 
- The building retains a well-crafted block-and-start doorcase which 

provides a strong central focal point on the restrained brick façade. The 
survival of the raised-and-fielded panelled door is also notable.  

 

 ARTISTIC:  
- The house retains Neo-classical decorative plasterwork of late eighteenth 

date to the entrance hall and ground and first floor east rooms. The 
plasterwork comprises restrained classical motifs of garlands and central 
urns, while the ceiling rose in the ground floor eastern room exhibits a 
more naturalistic style combining foliage and flowers. 

Page 170



 
- The fanlight to the front entrance door retains its simple spoked division 

and the scar of a round-headed lantern to the centre. Few original fanlight 
lanterns, which are indicative of the period before the introduction of 
electric lighting, survive in the city. The interior of the fanlight is coved in 
section with delicate fluted detailing. 

 
- The wrought iron railings, enhanced by cast urns to the corner posts and 

integral boot scrapers, provide a sense of enclosure to the front of the 
building. The use of railings is not common in Kilmainham where most of 
the building front directly onto the street. 

 

 ARCHAEOLOGICAL:  
- No. 31 Old Kilmainham is built on a site formerly occupied by a large 

gabled house indicated on Robert Girdler’s map of Kilmainham from the 
mid-seventeenth century. The terrier of the Down Survey Parish map 
indicates that there was a ‘street of good habitable houses’ at Kilmainham 
at this time and the Record of Monuments and Places records this group 
of sixteenth/seventeenth century houses along Old Kilmainham. Buildings 
in the vicinity, including No. 23 Old Kilmainham to the east, are known to 
contain pre-Georgian fabric. While the interior walls of the basement of 
No. 31 Old Kilmainham are plastered, it is possible that they conceal 
fabric from an earlier building. 

 
 
Conclusion  
Dublin City Council Conservation Section has reviewed the applicants’ reason for 
seeking addition. 
 
No. 31 Old Kilmainham is a good exemplar of a mid- to late eighteenth century house 
retaining its well-built block-and-start doorcase and internal decorative plasterwork 
schemes. As a former tannery owner’s house it is a significant architectural survivor 
and reminder of the former industrial character of the Kilmainham area. The house is 
built on a site occupied by a large gabled house in the mid-seventeenth century and 
it is possible that the structure conceals fabric from an earlier building. 
 
Having assessed the site Dublin City Council recommends that No. 31 Old 
Kilmainham, Dublin 8 be proposed for addition to the City’s Record of Protected 
Structures.  
 
The extent of the proposed Protected Structure status and curtilage is outlined in Fig. 
2 of this document (below).  
 
The purpose of this report is to seek the approval of the South Central Area 
Committee of Dublin City Council for the initiation of the statutory process for the 
proposed addition of this structure to the Record of Protected Structures. This 
includes undertaking a statutory public consultation process in accordance with 
Section 55 of the Act. Following the statutory consultation process, a further report 
will be prepared taking any submissions and observations received into 
consideration, with a recommendation to the City Council to proceed or not with the 
proposed addition, or with a recommendation including amendments to the proposed 
addition.  
 

Page 171



Recommendation 
It is recommended that the statutory process is initiated for the proposed addition of 
No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8, to the Record of Protected Structures, in 
accordance with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as 
amended).  
 

Recommendation 

Address Description 

31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8  Business Premises 

 
 

 
________________________ 
Deirdre Scully 
Deputy City Planner 
 

Page 172



Extent of Protected Structure Status 
The extent of protected structure status & curtilage is shown on the map below in 
red. 

 
Fig. 2: No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8, extent of Protected Structure status and curtilage 

outlined in red. 

 

Page 173



Appendix 1: Short Photographic Record 
 

 
Fig. 3: Front (south) elevation. 

 

 
Fig. 4: Site context from southeast. 

 

 
Fig. 5: Archive photograph of No. 31 Old Kilmainham (source Irish Architectural Archive, ref. 

2001/051-PH 202). 

Page 174



  

Fig. 6: Site context from north showing two-
storey early twentieth houses to Kearns 
Place 

Fig. 7: Block-and-start doorcase to front 
elevation. 

  
Fig. 8: Ceiling rose to ground floor, east 
room. 

Fig. 9: Stair window to first half-landing. 

 
 

Page 175



Appendix 2: Historic Maps 
 

 
Fig. 10: Kilmainham Down Survey Map c.1655-56 by Robert Girdler, location of subject 

structure outlined in red. 
 

 
Fig. 11: Extract from Rocque’s Map of the city of Dublin and environs, 1757, location of 

subject structure outlined in red. 

Page 176



 

 
Fig. 12: Extract from Ordnance Survey Dublin Map Sheet 18, 1864, No. 31 Old Kilmainham 

outlined in red. 

 

Page 177



Appendix 3: NIAH Record 
 
NIAH Assessment for No. 31 Old Kilmainham, Dublin 8 
 

 

Reg. 50080167 

Date 1760 - 1780 

Previous Name  N/A 

Townland N/A 

County Dublin City 

Coordinates 312975, 233606 

Categories of Special 
Interest  

ARCHITECTURAL, 
ARTISTIC 

Rating Regional 

Original Use House 

In Use As School 
 

Description: Attached three-bay three-storey over basement former house, built c.1780, 
having full-height canted bay to east elevation, central full-height extension and 
chimneybreasts to rear (north) elevation. Now in use as academy. Hipped slate roof with 
terracotta ridge tiles and ridge cresting, red brick chimneystacks and cast-iron rainwater 
goods. Raised brick parapet having granite coping to front (south) and east elevations. Red 
brick, laid in Flemish bond, to front and east elevations, roughcast render to west and rear 
elevations, rendered wall to basement level, east elevation. Square-headed window 
openings with red brick voussoirs, painted masonry sills and replacement uPVC windows. 
Round-headed door opening to front, painted carved Gibbsian surround and cornice lintel 
forming base for fanlight, timber panelled door opening onto granite platform and three 
granite steps to footpath. Basement area to each side of door to front filled in, enclosed by 
wrought-iron railings having cast-iron corner columns on carved painted plinth walls, integral 
bootscrapes to railings flanking steps. 
 

Appraisal: This substantial house retains many of its principal exterior features, including an 
attractive doorcase to the front which provides a strong sense of symmetry to the façade. 
Cast- and wrought-iron railings enhance its appearance and would originally have protected 
the basement area. It is a notable addition to the streetscape due to its scale and form, with 
the canted bay to the east enhancing the appearance of the building and providing additional 
light to the rooms within. 

 

Page 178


	Agenda
	1 To it, Not Through It:  An Inchicore Mobility Plan Presentation by Lauren Tuite
	2 Minutes of Meeting held on 21st October 2020
	Minutes
	4 South Central Area Matters
	Q & A October 2020

	3 Questions to the Director of Services South City
	4 Environment and Transportation Matters
	South Central Traffic Service Requests
	South Central Status B Oct 2020

	5 South Central Area Matters
	Halloween 2020 Report
	Naming & Numbering Proposal 110-111 Cork Street
	Naming & Numbering Proposal 110-111 Cork Street MAP

	6 Culture, Recreation & Economic Matters
	7 Planning & Property Development Matters

